
 DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

 
 

Community Services Center 
2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, MI  48842 

(517) 694-2137 
 
 

Tuesday 
April 5, 2016 

 
 

 
6:30 p.m. 

Agenda 
 
 
 
 

A. Introduction to Performance Contracting – Honeywell Energy 
Services 

 
B. Resolution No. 2016-002 – Holt Road Improvement Project 

Resolution of Support 
 

C. Proposal for Analysis of Groundwater Quality – United States 
Geological Services 

 
D. Creation of Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee 

 
 

 
  Public Comment 



1 

April 5, 2016 

ENERGY SAVING 
PERFORMANCE CONTRACT 

To Demonstrate:  

 We Have Done our Homework 

 Our Solution Will Work 

 Our Solution is Fiscally 
Responsible 



2 

Agenda 

Honeywell at a Glance 

What is Performance Contracting 

Delhi Township’s Project Team 

Track Record and Qualifications 

Homework 

Potential Scope of Work 

Potential Financial Analysis 

Open Discussion 

 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



3 

Honeywell at a Glance 

Financial Stability 

 131 Years 

 $36 Billion Company 

Dedicated Business Unit 

 Vendor Independent 

Over 5,000 Performance Contracts with over $700 Million in 

Outstanding Guarantees 

Over 100 Performance Contracting References in the Public 

Sector Market throughout Michigan 

Local & Stable Team 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



RE-DIRECT EXCESS UTILITY AND REPAIR COSTS 

What is Performance Contracting 

SAVINGS 

4 
Proven Track Record and Local 

Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Design/Build Project Implementation with Energy Savings Guarantee 



5 

Delhi Township 

 
Central Area  
Director of Sales 
Scott Maynard 
 

Account Rep.  
Dick Williams 
 

Vice President /General Manager  
Honeywell Energy Services Group 
Kevin Madden 

Project Manager 
Joel Reb 

Project Administrator  
Sylvia Pettigrew 
 

Honeywell Global Finance 
Dan Harsh – VP 
 

Engineers 
Nelson Brikho P.E.– Mechanical 
Tom Bokeno. – Mechanical/WWTP 
John Wallace  - Electrical 
Jeff Schram - Controls Service & Support 

Jim Gabler 

Measurement & 
Verification Specialist 
Mike Krolczyk 

Project Commissioning 
Greg Arkwright P.E. 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



6 

Power of the Honeywell Team 

324 years of combined experience 
140+ performance contracts implemented in Michigan 
since 1989 
Licensed Professional Engineers in Michigan 
LEED Accredited Professionals 
PMI Certified Project Managers 
C.E.M. Certified Energy Managers 
Technical Competencies 
 Central Plant Modernizations / Wastewater/Water 

Process  
 Alternative Energy Design & Implementation 
 Rebuild Michigan Certified 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



7 

Recent Municipal Projects 
Completed in Michigan 

City of Grand Rapids $6M 

Jackson County $2.4M 

Lenawee County $7.1M 

Calhoun County $9.1M 

Hillsdale County $1.0M 

City of Battle Creek $4.1M 

City of Lincoln Park $3.6M 

Kennedy Ice Arena $1.6M 

City of Clawson $2.7M 

City of Sturgis $1.2M 

City of Lansing $6.4M 

Alger County $1.5M 

Muskegon County $7.6M 

Ypsilanti Township $2.5M 

 
 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



8 

Track Record & Qualifications 
“Throughout the entire project, the specialty teams sent in by Mr. Williams were 

efficient, professional and worked in a timely manner.  Customer satisfaction 
appears to be a priority for Mr. Williams and the entire Honeywell Team.” Mr. Carl 
Brooks, Director of Public Works City of Romulus, MI 

“Honeywell and its subcontractors actively prosecuted the work of the project, 
whether major or minor in nature, and continuously strived to satisfy the College, 
even when we changed our minds midstream.  We would not hesitate to contract 
with Honeywell for further services and recommend them highly.”  Mr. Scott 
Jenkins, Vice President Administration- Mott Community College 

“As budgets are being stretched tighter than ever, our goal was to save money 
through conserving energy and improving the environment.  The Honeywell 
project allowed us to do just that not to mention repairing problems with some 
systems that had been malfunctioning for many years.  The project has saved us 
over $252,000 in the first year which was $106,000 more than you guaranteed 
us.”  Mr. Bob Rosenberger, Director of Facilities –City of Flint, MI 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



9 
9 

Exceeding  
Expectations 



10 

We Understand Municipal Facilities 
– Town and City Halls 
– Fire Stations 
– Police /Jails/Detention 
– Community Centers 
– Aquatic/Natatoriums 
– Recreation Centers 
– Community Centers 
– Museums 
– Theatres/Performing Arts 
– Landfills/Compost 
– Ice Arenas 
– Water/Wastewater 
– DPW Facilities 
– Street / Traffic Lighting 
– Courts 
– Libraries 
– Park Facilities 

 
 
 

Michigan Experience 
– 280 Government Facilities 
– Over 50 Contracts 
– 21 Contracts Expired 
– 30 Contracts Active 
Common Requirements 
– Minimal Disruption 
– Daily Clean Up 
– No Change Orders 
– Deferred Maintenance 
– Occupant Comfort/Safety 
– Guarantee Performance 
– Daily Communication 
– Financial Assistance 
– Vendor Neutrality 
– Support After Sale 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



11 

Homework 
• 1 Licensed Professional Engineer 
• 2 Certified Energy Managers 
• Technical Surveys of Buildings - 60 Hours 
• Technical Survey of WWTP – 40 Hours 
• Energy Analysis – 20 Hours 
• Review of Mechanical and Electrical Drawings - 10 

Hours 
• Financial Analysis - 10 Hours 
• Feasibility Study - 30 Hours 
• In-Depth Engineering - 20 Hours  
• Total Homework Hours - 190 Hours 

 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



12 

Utility Analysis 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

      UTILITIES (May 2014 Through April 2015) 

      ELECTRIC GAS TOTAL   
 B U I L D I N G GROSS AREA Charges Consumed Ave Rate 

KBTU/Ft2 

Charges Consumed Ave Rate 

KBTU/Ft2 

ENERGY   

No.  NAME Ft2 $ KWH $/KWH ($) CCF $/CCF $ $/Ft2 KBTU / Sq. Ft 
                            

1 Community Service Center 43,125  $74,487  590,720 $0.13 46.75 $16,440 22,450 $0.73 53.62 $90,927 $2.11  100.37 

2 DDA Office 2,698  $1,540  9,502 $0.16 12.02 $0 0   0.00 $1,540 $0.57  12.02 

3 Ingham County Sheriff 5,010  $14,498  101,564 $0.14 69.19 $2,555 3,253 $0.79 43.47 $17,053 $3.40  112.66 

4 DPS 12,330  $30,596  271,271 $0.11 75.09 $10,780 12,795 $0.84 106.89 $41,376 $3.36  181.98 

5 DPS Pole Barn 5,228  $1,147  6,565 $0.17 4.29 $1,886 2,359 $0.80 46.48 $3,033 $0.58  50.77 

6 Farmers Market 5,636  $2,394  14,975 $0.16 9.07 $2,209 2,634 $0.84 48.14 $4,603 $0.82  57.21 

7 Fire Station #2 2,200  $790  3,903 $0.20 6.05 $2,051 2,615 $0.78 122.43 $2,841 $1.29  128.48 

8 Memorial Park 0  $17,090  119,800 $0.14   $0 0     $17,090     

9 Parks and Recreation 0  $2,212  13,945 $0.16   $1,710 2,113 $0.81   $3,923     

10 Senior Center 7,850  $12,439  85,304 $0.15 37.09 $476 445 $1.07 5.84 $12,915 $1.65  42.93 

11 Delhi POTW 0  $237,438  2,497,174 $0.10   $0 0     $237,438     

12 POTW Admin_Lab_Pole Barn 12,973  $0  0   0.00 $23,270 32,109 $0.72 254.93 $23,270 $1.79  254.93 

13 Delhi POTW Digester 0  $0  0     $12,914 17,577 $0.73   $12,914     

14 Delhi POTW RBC 6,456  $0  0   0.00 $1,983 2,497 $0.79 39.84 $1,983 $0.31  39.84 

15 Delhi POTW Tertiary 0  $0  0     $390 335 $1.16   $390     

16 Delhi POTW Ponds 0  $7,962  58,480 $0.14   $0 0     $7,962     

17 Valhalla Park 0  $1,251  7,202 $0.17   $0 0     $1,251     

18 DDA Streetlights 0  $11,616  77,515 $0.15   $0 0     $11,616     

19 Streetlights 0  $250,609  1     $0 0     $250,609     

20 Lansing Board Streetlights 0  $90,183  1     $0 0     $90,183     

                            

  TOTAL 103,505  $756,253 3,857,922 $0.20 127.21 $76,664 101,182 $0.76 100.69 $832,917  $8.05  115.37 



13 

Existing Conditions – Community 
Service Center 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Original Boiler Cooling Tower Sump and Pump 

Radiant Floor Heat Exchanger 
Heat Pump Condenser Pumps 



14 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Existing Conditions – Community 
Service Center 



15 

Existing Conditions – POTW 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Admin Building Roof Top Unit Lab Building Roof Top Unit 

Hot Water Unit Heater Typical for Lab and Pole 
barn Hot Water Heating Boiler Serving Lab and Pole 

Barn 



16 

Existing Conditions – Senior Center  

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



17 

Existing Conditions – Senior Center  

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



18 

Existing Conditions – Street Lights 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Existing 
Wattage

Existing Fixture 
Type Quantity

175 W Mercury Vapor 268
250 W Mercury Vapor 13
400 W Mercury Vapor 6
100 W HPS 1084
150 W HPS 62
250 W HPS 23
400 W HPS 23

Existing 
Wattage

Existing Fixture 
Type Quantity

70 W HPS 244
100 W HPS 34
150 W HPS 51
250 W HPS 55

Consumers Energy Owned Street Lights

Lansing BWL Owned Street Lights



19 

•               Potential Scope of Work  

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

PRELIMINARY SCOPE OF WORK Co
m

m
un

ity
 S

er
vi

ce
 C

en
te

r

DD
A 

O
ffi

ce

In
gh

am
 C

ou
nt

y 
Sh

er
iff

DP
S

DP
S 

Po
le

 B
ar

n

Fa
rm

er
s M

ar
ke

t

Fi
re

 S
ta

tio
n 

#2

M
em

or
ia

l P
ar

k

Pa
rk

s a
nd

 R
ec

re
at

io
n

Se
ni

or
 C

en
te

r

De
lh

i P
O

TW

Va
lh

al
la

 P
ar

k

DD
A 

St
re

et
lig

ht
s

Ut
ili

ty
 O

w
ne

d 
St

re
et

lig
ht

s

Lighting Upgrades              
- Fluorescent/ Incandescent/ HID Retrofits            
- Lighting Controls         
- Exterior LED Retrofit              

Reprogram/Install Programmable Thermostats     
Existing System Re-Commissioning 
HVAC System Upgrade  
Temperature Controls Upgrade & Integration  
Turbo Blower/DO Controls Installation 
Nitrification Tower Bypass 
Food Waste Grinder / Add Recipricating Generator 
Install Gas Storage 
Lift Station Pump Evaluation / Life Cycle Analysis 
Solar / PV 
BLACK check marks indicate items that are self funded through energy and operational savings

RED check marks indicates items that will be evaluated in future phases
GREEN check marks indicate items that require capital contributions but are at or near the end of their useful life 



20 

Life Cycle Analysis 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

HVAC SYSTEM REPLACEMENT SUMMARY
Delhi Township
 B U I L D I N G

NOTES
No. NAME YEAR GROSS AREA DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SERVICE LIFE  *** REMAINING LIFE

BUILT ( Sq.Ft. ) ( # ) CAPACITY ( years) ( years) 

1 Community Service Center 1996 43,125
1996 Heat Pump 1 1 5,010 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 2 1 3,300 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump-2B 1 3,300 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 3 1 2,900 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 3A 1 2,900 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 4 1 3,800 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 5 1 5,800 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 6 1 7,815 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 7 1 4,910 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 7A 1 4,910 CFM 19 0
1996 Heat Pump 8 1 4,240 CFM 19 0
1996 Energy Recovery Unit 1 1 3,710 CFM 20 0
1996 Energy Recovery Unit 2 1 900 CFM 20 0
1996 Energy Recovery Unit 3 1 3,580 CFM 20 0
1996 Energy Recovery Unit 4 1 1,560 CFM 20 0
1996 Hot Water/Heat Pump/Boiler Pumps 6 Vary HP 20 0
1996 Cooling Tower 1 7.5 Ton 20 0
1996 Hot Water Boiler 1 775.0 mbh 24 4
2003 Hot Water Boiler 1 250.0 mbh 24 11
1996 Heat Exchanger 1 52.0 GPM 24 4
1996 Heat Exchanger 1 47.0 GPM 24 4

2 POTW 12,973
1994 Admin Building RTU 1 400 MBH 15 0
1994 Pole Barn Hot Water Heaters 4 Varies MBH 20 0
1994 Raw Building Boiler 2 120 Gal 20 0
1994 RBC Unit Heaters 2 200 MBH 13 0
1994 Lab Building Make up Air Units 1 150 MBH 20 0
1994 Lab Building Make up Air Units 1 166 MBH 20 0
1994 Lab Building Make up Air Units 1 216 MBH 20 0
1994 Lab Building Make up Air Units 1 388 MBH 20 0
2006 Chiller 1 30 Ton 20 10
1994 Misc Fan Coil Units 4 Vary MBH 20 0
2010 Hot Water Boiler 1 1,000 MBH 20 14

TOTAL 56,098 45 19.8 1.5

MAJOR HVAC EQUIPMENT



21 

Life Cycle Analysis 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Building Name Means Classification Building Sq. 
Footage

Mech. & Elec. 
Cost Per 

Square Foot

Total Mech. and 
Elec. Sys. Value

Community Service Center Town Hall,Municipal 
Buildings

43,125 $45.00 $1,940,625 

POTW Offices Low Rise 12,973 $27.50 $356,758 

Totals 56,098 $40.95 $2,297,383 

*Above Analysis based upon Means Mechanical Cost Data 2009

Delhi Township
Deferred Maintenance

Life Cycle Analysis

Annualized Replacement Cost over 20 Years $114,869 



22 

Funding Model (General Fund) 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

GENERAL FUND BUDGET ITEMS

CURRENT 
EXPENDITURES

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURES 

WITH HONEYWELL 
PROGRAM

FUNDING 
STREAM 

(SAVINGS FROM 
PROJECT)

Deferred Maintenance System Replacement
A) Cost avoided for future expenditures on HVAC Life Cycle costs of existing Mechanical & 
Electrical systems for annualized funding of replacement of systems per the 2009 RSMeans 
Square Foot Cost Data: Cost of replacement = $1,940,625 Total Systems Value / 20 years = 
$97,031
Energy Costs
B) Savings are attributed directly from program implementation and represent costs 
otherwise paid to utility providers. The savings also includes the retrofit of the decorative 
street fixtures.
Building Repairs and Maintenance
C) Estimated cost and savings due to a reduced need for heating & cooling and electrical, 
repairs by assorted contractors. 

Electrical & Lighting Supplies
D) Estimated Cost savings due to a reduced need for inventoried maintenance materials.

Totals $321,819 $185,830 $135,989

Available Annual Operational Funds $135,989

$7,500 $3,750

$97,031 $29,109 $67,922

$208,167 $148,410 $59,757

$3,750

$9,120 $4,560 $4,560



23 

Funding Model (POTW Fund) 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

POTW FUND BUDGET ITEMS

CURRENT 
EXPENDITURES

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURES 

WITH HONEYWELL 
PROGRAM

FUNDING 
STREAM 

(SAVINGS FROM 
PROJECT)

Deferred Maintenance System Replacement
A) Cost avoided for future expenditures on HVAC Life Cycle costs of existing Mechanical & 
Electrical systems for annualized funding of replacement of systems per the 2009 RSMeans 
Square Foot Cost Data: Cost of replacement = $356,758 Total Systems Value / 20 years = 
$17,838
Energy Costs
B) Savings are attributed directly from program implementation and represent costs 
otherwise paid to utility providers. 
Building Repairs and Maintenance
C) Estimated cost and savings due to a reduced need for heating & cooling and electrical, 
repairs by assorted contractors. 

Electrical & Lighting Supplies
D) Estimated Cost savings due to a reduced need for inventoried maintenance materials.

POTW Operational Savings
E) Annual Cost avoidance of blower replacement over a 15 year period

Totals $325,962 $262,909 $63,053

Available Annual Operational Funds $63,053

$17,838 $1,784 $16,054

$283,958 $257,375 $26,583

$5,000 $2,500 $2,500

$2,500 $1,250 $1,250

$16,667 $0 $16,667



24 

Funding Model (Utility Owned Street Lights) 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

Consumers/BWL Streetlight Fund Budget

CURRENT 
EXPENDITURES

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURES 

WITH HONEYWELL 
PROGRAM

FUNDING 
STREAM 

(SAVINGS FROM 
PROJECT)

Consumers Energy/Lansing BWL Street Lighting
A) Cost savings due to working with Consumers Energy and LWP to retrofit the existing 
street lights to LED. Savings is for Consumers Energy as they have an LED tariff published. 
Potential savings for BWL is TBD.

Totals $340,792 $255,188 $85,604

Available Annual Operational Funds $85,604

$340,792 $255,188 $85,604



25 

Project Cash Flow 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 

General Fund Project Estimate
POTW Project Estimate $1,186,994
Utility Owned Street Light Project Estimate $856,038
Estimated Total Project Cost $4,452,493
Estimated Rebates $55,000
Net Project Cost $4,397,493
Estimated Energy Savings
Estimated Operational Savings
Estimated Support Services
Estimated Lease Rate
Payments per Year
Inflation Rate

Installment Purchase
Payment Support Services Total Annual Costs Energy Savings Operational Savings Total Annual Savings Net Annual Cashflow Net Cashflow

0 $113,859 $113,859 $113,859
1 ($366,216) ($15,000) ($381,216) $171,944 $112,703 $284,646 ($96,570) $17,289
2 ($366,216) ($15,600) ($381,816) $178,822 $117,211 $296,032 ($85,784) ($68,495)
3 ($366,216) ($16,224) ($382,440) $185,974 $121,899 $307,874 ($74,567) ($143,061)
4 ($366,216) ($16,873) ($383,089) $193,413 $126,775 $320,189 ($62,901) ($205,962)
5 ($366,216) ($17,548) ($383,764) $201,150 $131,846 $332,996 ($50,768) ($256,730)
6 ($366,216) ($18,250) ($384,466) $209,196 $137,120 $346,316 ($38,150) ($294,880)
7 ($366,216) ($18,980) ($385,196) $217,564 $142,605 $360,169 ($25,027) ($319,907)
8 ($366,216) ($19,739) ($385,955) $226,266 $148,309 $374,575 ($11,380) ($331,287)
9 ($366,216) ($20,529) ($386,745) $235,317 $154,241 $389,558 $2,814 ($328,473)
10 ($366,216) ($21,350) ($387,566) $244,730 $160,411 $405,141 $17,575 ($310,899)
11 ($366,216) ($22,204) ($388,420) $254,519 $166,827 $421,346 $32,926 ($277,972)
12 ($366,216) ($23,092) ($389,308) $264,700 $173,501 $438,200 $48,892 ($229,080)
13 ($366,216) ($24,015) ($390,232) $275,288 $180,441 $455,728 $65,497 ($163,583)
14 ($366,216) ($24,976) ($391,192) $286,299 $187,658 $473,957 $82,765 ($80,818)
15 ($366,216) ($25,975) ($392,191) $297,751 $195,164 $492,915 $100,724 $19,906

Totals ($5,493,241) ($300,354) ($5,793,595) $3,442,932 $2,256,711 $5,813,501 $19,906 $19,906

$2,409,461

$171,944
$112,703

$15,000
3.00%

This budgetary proposal is provided for information and planning purposes only, is non-b inding, and does not constitute an offer for sale. 

2                                                                   
4.00%

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Year
ANNUAL INVESTMENT ANNUAL SAVINGS CASHFLOW



26 

Project Management Process 
 

• Pre-Contract Award Responsibilities 
• Mobilization 
• Project Planning and Scheduling 
• Contract Administration 
• Execution 
• Reporting and Reviewing 
• Project Checkout 
• Commissioning 
• Project Acceptance 
• Close Out 
• Follow Up 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



27 

Support Services  
• Measurement & Verification Services 
• IPMVP-FEMP Audits 
• Rate Based Audit with Post Measurements 
• Annual Audit Reports  
• Annual Reconciliations  
• Preventative Maintenance Services  
• One Day per week on site  
• Training Services Phase  
• Emergency Support   

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



28 

BENEFITS 
• Improved Comfort and Safety in Buildings 
• Proactive Management of Township Assets 
• Savings Guarantee Funds Improvements 
• Energy Efficiency in Township Buildings 
• 24 Hour Monitoring of Township Assets 
• Staff Training to Better Utilize Systems 
• Fiscally & Environmentally Responsible 
• Green Township with Potential Energy Star Rating 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



29 

Next Steps 
• Approving Letter of Authorization for Full Design and 

Engineering (June 2016) 

• Solicit Bids from Contractors on Design Specifications (June – 
August 2016) 

• Evaluate Bids and Develop Final Contract Scope (August 2016) 

• Develop Contract Documents for Approval (September 2016) 

• Receive Contract and Financing Approval (September 2016) 

• Project Start Up Meeting (October 2016) 

• Project Implementation (October 2016 – September 2017) 

• Project Acceptance (October 2017) 

• Annual Report Meeting (January 2019) 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



30 

Open Discussion 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



31 

Existing Conditions – POTW 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



32 

Existing Conditions – DPW 

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



33 

Existing Conditions – DDA  

Proven Track Record and Local 
Performance Contracting References 
With 100% Accountability for Results 



Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 25, 2016 
 
RE:  Holt Road Improvement Project – Request for Support 
 
As you are aware, the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) is in the process of finalizing the 
design and bidding process for improvements to Holt Road between Heatherton and 
Grovenburg Roads.  This project will occur this summer and will result in a more efficient and 
safer roadway.  Improvements will also include upgrading the intersections so that they 
function better for both drivers and pedestrians.   
 
The improvement will include the conversion of road sections that are currently 4-lanes wide to 
a 3-lane profile.  The 3-lane profile will include a center lane that is available exclusively for 
traffic that is turning left from either the east bound or west bound directions.  This also 
provides separation between the travel lanes and the shoulder of the road, sidewalks or 
pathways, which further increases safety.  There are existing examples in Delhi Township of the 
3-lane profile.  The most notable is probably Aurelius Road between Holt and Willoughby 
Roads. 
 
The use of the 3-lane profiles on roads like Holt Road is very common throughout the nation 
and State of Michigan.  Where these conversations have occurred there has been a 
documented increase in safety and very little adverse impact to traffic flow.  In fact, reported 
crash reductions between 10% and 50% per corridor are the norm.  The injury rate for older 
drivers and pedestrians is also reduced by 37%, with drivers in other age groups realizing a 
reduction in the injury rate of 26% (source: MDOT, Operations Manual, 7-30-09).   This is 
important when one considers the land uses along Holt Road which include the schools, a large 
senior population and many walkers. 
 
The 3-lane profile also provides an opportunity for the construction of bike lanes and/or the 
offset of pedestrian facilities from travel lanes.  This separation results in greater safety for 
drivers and pedestrians.  This is particularly important on Holt Road since it is used to access the 
school campus at Holt and Kahres Roads.  Also, the Holt Road improvement project will include 
the construction of sidewalk on the north side of the road between Eifert and Heatherton 
Roads, an improvement that has been a community priority for some time. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

The Holt Road improvement project has been discussed several times at past Board meetings. 
The community appears to be looking forward to the improvements and the school district’s 
superintendant is eager for the intersection upgrade at Holt and Kahres Roads.  However, the 
ICRD requires that the Township Board pass a resolution supporting the project and the 
conversion to 3-lanes before the project can begin.  I have attached a draft resolution that can 
be used for this purpose.   
 
Please forward the attached, along with your concurrence, to the Township Board for their 
action at the April 5th meeting.  If you have any questions, or need additional information, 
please do not hesitate to ask.  Thank you! 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To adopt Resolution No. 2016-002 which supports the Ingham County Road 
Department’s plan for road improvements on Holt Road. 
 
 
 



Resolution No. 2016-002 
April 5, 2016 

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-002 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CONVERSION OF SECTIONS OF HOLT ROAD TO 3-LANES BY 
THE INGHAM COUNTY ROAD DEPARTMENT AS PART OF PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS TO HOLT 

ROAD IN 2016 
 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of Trustees of the Charter township of Delhi, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
Michigan 48842 on Tuesday, the 5th day of April, 2016, at 7:30 p.m. 
  
 PRESENT: 
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 The following resolution was offered by ___________: 
 
WHEREAS, the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) plans to undertake improvements to 
Holt Road; and 
 
WHEREAS, the improvement plan includes the conversation of sections of Holt Road which 
currently have 4-lanes to a 3-lane profile; and 
 
WHEREAS, the improvements will also include enhancements to intersections, signals, 
pedestrian and other road facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the conversation to 3-lanes is anticipated to result in significantly safer driving 
conditions and better traffic circulation; and 
 
WHEREAS, Delhi Township has adopted a Complete Streets Ordinance that requires the 
incorporation of non-motorized improvements when they are feasible as a part of all road 
improvement projects, and 
 
WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the 3-lane profile will also result in better facilities for 
pedestrians and cyclists; and 
 



Resolution No. 2016-002 
April 5, 2016 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has been asked to provide its support for the planned 3-lane 
profile along Holt Road within the limits of the ICRD’s project area. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Delhi Charter Township Board hereby supports the 
conversation of sections of Holt Road from a 4-lane to a 3-lane profile for the reasons stated 
herein and urges the Ingham County Road Department to move forward with the same during 
their upcoming road improvement project. 
 
Ayes: 
Nays: 
Absent: 
 
This Resolution declared adopted this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 

___________________________ 
Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
Charter Township of Delhi 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN  } 
   } ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM } 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified Clerk for the Charter Township of Delhi, Ingham 
County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the 
proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on the 5th day of April, 
2016.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signatures this ____ day of 
April, 2016. 
 

___________________________ 
Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
Charter Township of Delhi 



Tracy
Text Box
Note: Holt Rd. has less than 15,000 ADT, some info included in this memo is relevant only to projects on roads more traffic.













Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 25, 2016 
 
RE:  USGS Proposal for Well Re-Sampling Project 
 
Many homes in Delhi Township get drinking and household water from a private well.  Private 
wells in this area of the State are commonly driven into the Saginaw Aquifer, which provides 
nearly all of the drinking water for the area, including the public water supply. Due to the 
regions dependence on this resource it is very important that this water supply be monitored 
and protected from contamination or degradation.   
 
In the mid-1980’s a well sampling study was completed by the Ingham County Health 
Department (ICHD).  The purpose of this study was to establish a baseline for well water 
quality.  The study sampled the water from private wells all over Ingham County.  Twenty of 
those wells were located in Delhi Township. 
 
It was the original intent of the 80’s study that wells would be re-sampled every 10 to 20 years.  
This would permit changes in water quality to be detected and monitored over time.  However, 
the re-sampling plan was not implemented.   
 
There has recently been renewed interest in this project and focus has been directed towards 
restarting the long-term sampling plan. It is extremely important to monitor changes to the 
groundwater supply since infrastructure planning, growth/future development decisions and 
health impacts are all dependant on the viability of water supplies.   
 
Staff has been meeting with Gary Rowe, who is retired from the ICHD and working on this 
project as a volunteer, and a representative from the United States Geological Services (USGS) 
to discuss the current project.  The county-wide plan is to resample the original 1983 wells 
within the County and identify any changes to water quality which may have occurred.  The first 
phase of this project was implemented last summer/fall in Aurelius Township.  I’m told that the 
Aurelius project was very successful and residents were excited to participate.  Mr. Gary Rowe 
will be present at our upcoming April 5th meeting and can provide additional details about this 
pilot and the proposed Delhi phase of the project. 
 
Delhi Township has been asked to be the next community to receive follow-up well sampling.  If 
approved, data collection (well sampling) would occur this spring/summer.  Results of the water 



Page 2 of 2 
 

quality analysis would be provided to well owners, residents and the Township Board this 
coming fall.  Should any negative results be identified the ICHD will provide follow up support. 
 
Attached is a proposal from USGS for this project.  The total cost is $33,500.  However, the 
USGS will provide $10,500 towards the project.  The remaining $23,000 would be divided 
between the Township and the Ingham County Drain Commissioner’s office (ICDC).  As you 
know, the ICDC is very interested in how surface water interacts with ground water.  They are 
interested in partnering with Delhi on this project because the results of the study may be 
useful to them in this regard.  The ICDC is willing to provide $10,000. The cost to Delhi Township 
for this project would be $13,000.   
 
If the Board is interested in participating in this project, it will need to take action to authorize 
the expenditure at the upcoming April 5th meeting.  Assuming this occurs, the next step will be 
to begin contacting property owners and setting up testing.  If you have any questions, or need 
additional information, please don’t hesitate to ask.  Thank you! 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the proposal for Analysis of Groundwater Quality in Delhi Township 
from United States Geological Services (USGS) in the amount of $33,500 to be 
split between Delhi Township, USGS and the Ingham County Drain 
Commissioner with Delhi Township’s portion being $13,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Analysis of Groundwater Quality in Delhi Township, 

Ingham County, Michigan 

Problem Statement 

The majority of people in Ingham County, Michigan obtain their water from wells which 

are completed in the Pennsylvanian-age Saginaw Aquifer. The Ingham County Health 

Department (ICHD) has maintained a database (Ingham County Health Department, 2015) of 

water quality information since 1981 in order to better understand the processes affecting this 

natural resource and to inform water management decisions. Water quality information is 

routinely collected by ICHD through Type 2 water quality inspections, site investigations of 

known and potential groundwater contamination, mortgage evaluations for property sales, and a 

survey of potential recharge areas. In 1983, Ingham County initiated a study to collect additional 

groundwater quality information as a part of the Southwest Michigan Groundwater Survey and 

Monitoring Program (Brown, Donald J., 2015). Selected wells in the county were sampled by 

ICHD personnel to better understand the county’s groundwater system by monitoring this water 

resource, investigating water quality in recharge areas, and establishing a baseline to determine 

potential changes over time (Rowe, 1986). As part of the 1983 project, a total of 20 wells were 

sampled in Delhi Township. 



The Southwest Michigan Groundwater Survey and Monitoring Program sample results 

indicated some local problems associated with activities such as road salting, some constituents 

above current drinking water standards, and objectionable levels of hardness, iron, and 

manganese. The identification of these issues has been useful for the county water-resource 

managers to initiate programs to help protect the area groundwater resources. In addition, the 

ICHD groundwater database has proven useful in the county for review of proposed industrial 

and public-supply wells. At the time the Michigan Groundwater Survey was conducted, the plan 

was to survey groundwater quality every 10 to 20 years to monitor any general changes; 

however, wells have not been sampled as part of the Michigan Groundwater Survey program 

since the 1986 study. Recently, there has been interest in resampling these wells to compare 

current results with past analyses, to investigate groundwater quality with respect to arsenic, 

boron, nitrate, fluoride, chloride, and sulfate values, and to continue monitoring water quality in 

the county.  

Objective 

The objective of this study is to sample wells in Delhi Township, Ingham County, Michigan 

originally sampled in the 1986 study to investigate current water quality.  

Scope 

The study will be conducted in Delhi Township with township assistance to contact homeowners 

of the original project wells to request permission for sampling. Analyses will include sample collection 

from 20 wells for custom NWQL schedule 2635 (which includes major ions, trace metals, and nutrients) 

for comparison of results with the 1986 study. 



Relevance and Benefits 

The proposed work fits into USGS goals at several levels. At the Bureau level, the 

proposed study fits into the Water Census science direction.  It will assess the status of 

groundwater quality and whether that status has changed in response to new land use practices 

since 1986. It also will address whether water of adequate quality is available for human and 

environmental uses. At the Water Science Center level, this study directly addresses our mission 

to collect, analyze, and disseminate impartial hydrologic data to help guide water management 

decisions and to help ensure a water supply of adequate quality and quantity for the people of the 

State of Michigan. 

   

Approach  

The approach will consist of the following tasks. 

• Task 1 – In cooperation with Delhi Township, locate homeowners of wells that 

were sampled in 1986 and contact them to obtain permission to collect samples 

for this study. Additionally, alternate wells will be located near the previously 

sampled wells in cooperation with the township in the case that homeowners with 

wells sampled during the 1986 study do not wish to participate in the current 

study or that have since connected to a public water-supply system. 

• Task 2 – Collect samples before any household treatment systems from outdoor 

taps from 20 wells in the township following USGS procedures (USGS, 2006). 

Samples from these wells, along with an additional 4 quality control samples, 

including blanks and replicates, will be analyzed for custom schedule 2635 by the 

USGS National Water Quality Laboratory (NWQL). This schedule includes the 



following analytes: alkalinity, arsenic, barium, boron, bromide, calcium, chloride, 

chromium, copper, fluoride, iron, magnesium, manganese, mercury, nitrate, 

potassium, silica, sodium, sulfate, and zinc.  

• Task 3 – Prepare summary tables showing test results. Provide each homeowner 

with a copy of their individual test results and hold a public meeting in the 

township to share the results with the community. 

  

Budget  

Approximate cost for the study including, collection of samples for analysis by the 

National Water Quality Laboratory, review of results, and preparation of a presentation for the 

township and homeowners is $33,500. To help support the project, USGS will contribute 

$10,500 for FY16 using USGS Cooperative Matching funds, so project cost for Delhi Township 

and the Ingham County Drain Commission would be $23,000. A report describing current 

sampling results and comparisons with the 1986 results would require an additional cost of 

$9,500 (of which USGS could contribute $2,500 in Cooperative Matching funds). 

Products  

Data results will be summarized in a presentation to the township and ICHD personnel 

and other interested community members. All data collected as part of this study will be 

available through the USGS on-line database at http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis. A report of the 

water quality results would be developed contingent on township funding. 

 

 



References 

Brown, Donald J., 1987, Computerized data bases for ground water management: the southwest 
Michigan ground water program, in Proceedings of the NWWA FOCUS Conference on 
Midwestern Ground Water Issues: Accessed August 6, 2015 at 
http://info.ngwa.org/GWOL/pdf/870143383.pdf 

Ingham County Health Department, 2015, Ingham County Health Department (ICHD) 
Environmental Health Viewer website, Accessed August 6, 2015 at 
http://hdgis.ingham.org/ICHD/Map.aspx 

Rowe, Garry, 1986, Report on the Aquifers of Ingham County, Ingham County Health 
Department, variously paged. 

USGS, 2006, National field manual for the collection of water-quality data, Chapter A4. 
Collection of water samples, 231 p. 

 

 

 

Job Hazard Analysis “CHECKLIST” For Monitoring Sites 
  Potential Unsafe Conditions 

1.  Office ergonomics and carpal tunnel syndrome 
2.  Skin protection in sunlight 
3.   Eye protection in sunlight 
4.  Gasoline transport, storage, and use 
5.  Contacting water or samples with sanitary, biological, or chemical concerns 
6.  Confronted by a hostile individual 
7.  Tick and mosquito borne diseases 
8.  Rodent borne diseases 
9.  Confined spaces 
10 Working in remote locations and office call in procedures 
11 Lifting of heavy equipment 
12 Fall or trip hazards 
13 Site access and traffic control 
14 Field vehicles appropriate for the tasks - Safety screens, equipment restraints. 
15 Boating safety 
16 Warm-weather conditions, heat exhaustion, and heat stroke 
17 Working near thunder (electrical) storms 
18 Cold-weather conditions, cold-water immersion, and hypothermia 
19 Working on ice-covered streams or lakes 
20 Wading, bridge, or boat measurements or sampling 
21 Measuring or sampling during floods 



22 Preserving samples 
23 Well drilling 
24 Electrofishing 
25 Safety training 
26 Fall Protection 

27 Poisonous plants 
28 Insect bites / stings and snakes 
29 Lockout/Tagout 

 

  



 

 

 

 

Box 

no. 

For each numbered box checked on the previous page, briefly: 
 
A. Describe the safety concern as it relates to this project.  
B. Describe how this safety concern will be addressed. Include training, 
safety equipment, and other actions that will be required.  
C. Estimate costs. 

1. Attention will be given to office ergonomics. Keyboard, mouse, monitor, and chair 
settings are adjustable and should fit the user. Office lighting should be made 
adequate for computer operations as well as desk and map work. When working in 
the office, all personnel should identify and correct any slip, trip, or fall hazards. 
Ergonomic exercises have been presented to staff.  Personnel are encouraged to 
use those exercises and take periodic breaks from their work stations during 
intensive office sessions. 

2. Skin can be protected from over exposure to the sun by wearing light-colored loose 
cotton clothing that may include long pants, a long-sleeved shirt, and a broad-
brimmed hat. Sun screen is recommended and will be supplied for skin that is 
exposed to the sun. 

3. Safety sun glasses that wrap to the sides or with side shields will be supplied and 
should be worn to protect eyes from damaging ultraviolet radiation. 

4. Gas cans must be removed from a field vehicle before they are filled. Do not fill gas 
cans in a pickup truck with a plastic bed liner. Static electricity may cause a fire or 
explosion. Avoid breathing gas fumes and allowing gas to contact with skin. 
Transport gasoline in an approved container (DOT approved metal gas can) with a 
flash arrestor vent. Do not store gasoline overnight in field vehicles. Let engines 
cool before refueling. 

5. Alcohol-based waterless hand-sanitizer will be provided to workers so they can 
clean their hands after contact with environmental samples or stream water. In the 
event of accidental full-body immersion, a thorough shower and clean clothes are 
recommended as soon as possible. 

6. In the event that you are approached by a hostile individual, stay calm and listen 
attentively. Be courteous, patient, and respectful. Do not become angry and argue 
with or threaten the person. Maintain eye contact. Try to calm the individual by 
using a soothing voice and non-threatening body language. Keep the situation in 
your control. If they ask you to leave, do so. Contact your supervisor and/or the 
local authorities and report the incident. 



7. Deer ticks, brown ticks, and mosquitoes may be present. Deer ticks may transmit 
Lyme’s disease to humans by attachment to the human body. Much of Indiana is 
considered to hold at least a medium risk for the contraction of Lyme’s disease. 
Brown ticks can transmit a variety of diseases to humans by attachment to the 
human body. Mosquitoes are known to spread West Nile virus in Indiana. Personal 
insect repellant that contains DEET is an effective deterrent/repellant for ticks and 
mosquitoes and will be supplied to field personnel. Long pants may be tucked into 
boot-tops for a more efficient barrier to ticks. 

12. When working in the office, identify and remove any potential slip, trip, or fall 
hazards. When conducting field activities, it is expected that some traversing of 
steep and slippery slopes will be required. Footwear with lugged soles and ankle 
support is recommended for crossing uneven ground.  If handling heavy 
equipment/materials steel/composite toed work boots are required. 

13. Site access should be gained at public locations if possible. Every effort will be 
made to identify owners of private land and gain written permission for access to 
that private land if access is beneficial to meeting the goals of the project. Proper 
site access will include consideration of safe and secure parking of vehicles left 
unattended during field work. 

If traffic control required (working along the road/shoulder:  approved traffic control 
vests or high visibility clothing will be worn.  A traffic control plan will be developed 
and implemented.  Vehicles and equipment will use warning lights and equipment 
(advance warning signage and cones) as required by the traffic control plan. 

14. All vehicles will be properly equipped with safety equipment and if used to pull 
trailers, equipped with towing gear. Trailers will be maintained with all required 
lights and safety chains. 

16. When conducting field work in warm-weather conditions, precautions against heat-
related injuries must be taken. An ample supply of water for each worker will be 
carried each day in the field. Breaks in the shade will be taken when daytime air 
temperatures warrant. 

17. If conducting field work when there is a potential for thunder storms, employees 
should monitor the weather conditions and local media sources for weather 
updates. When thunderstorms are approaching or nearby, field activities should be 
suspended and employees should seek shelter until the threat passes.  

22. Wear appropriate PPE (wear eye and, hand protection, and cover skin (this 
includes feet and legs) 

25. All employees conducting field work must be up to date with first-aid, CPR, 
defensive driving, and over-the-water training. 



27. The sap of poisonous plants can be transferred to you by direct or indirect contact. 
Learn how to identify poisonous plants such as poison ivy, poison oak, poison 
sumac, and other poisonous plants. Avoid all contact if possible. Wear appropriate 
clothing when working around poisonous plants. If contact is made, remove clothing 
as soon as possible and wash clothes. Wash affected skin with abundant soap and 
water as soon as possible. Also, when clearing weeds or brush from an area, avoid 
smoke or spray that may contain the oil or sap of poisonous plants. 

28. Insect bites or stings can be dangerous depending on the type of insect and your 
reaction to their bite or sting. Be observant of wasp nests, hornet and bee hives, ant 
hills, spider webs, and other insect homes. Avoid if at all possible. Wear appropriate 
clothing that makes access to the skin difficult. Use appropriate repellants on skin 
and clothing. Avoid walking in heavy vegetation. If bitten or stung, some of the 
signs of an allergic reaction can be severe pain at the site of the bite or sting, 
muscle cramps, headache, fever, vomiting, breathing problems, and the swelling of 
the face and tongue. Seek immediate medical attention, and call your supervisor. If 
allergic to insect stings or bites, carry the appropriate medications and inform your 
coworkers of your condition. 

Be familiar with the description and habit of all snakes in the work area, especially 
poisonous snakes (IN has four poisonous snakes). Try to avoid all snakes. Do not 
reach under rocks, logs, or into crevices. Do not step over logs (step on, then past). 
Use a walking stick to clear the path ahead of you while walking. If bitten, and you 
experience progressive pain at the bite area, swelling of the bite area, nausea, 
vomiting, sweating, or weakness, call for help, seek immediate medical attention, 
and call your supervisor. 

 

 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: C.J. Davis, Township Supervisor 
 
DATE: March 31, 2016 
 
RE: Creation of Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee 
 
 
We have been informed by LEAP that Delhi Township has been awarded one of 
the $10,000 grants for public art and that this art must be in place by October 31, 
2016.  In order to ensure the art is complete by the deadline we must form an Ad-
Hoc Public Art Committee and develop a Request for Proposals which the Board 
will then need to approve at the April 19th Board meeting prior to disbursing.     
 
The ad-hoc public arts committee needs to be formed in order to review the 
Request for Proposals prepared by staff, review the proposals that are received, 
select the art to be constructed and provide a recommendation to the Board for 
final approval.  Because this particular art piece will be located at the Delhi 
Township Community Services Center I am recommending the Board approve 
the appointments of Tracy Miller, Mark Jenks, Evan Hope, Melanie Harris (Holt 
Community Arts Council) and a member of the Township Board to be determined 
at the April 5th meeting.  
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To appoint Tracy Miller, Mark Jenks, Evan Hope, Melanie Harris 
and    (Board Member)    to an ad-hoc Public Art Committee. 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD MEETING 
2074 Aurelius Road, Holt 48842   (517) 694-2137 

Tuesday, April 5, 2016 
7:30 p.m. 

Agenda 
 
Call the Meeting to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call 
Comments from the Public – FOR COMPLETE GUIDELINES FOR ADDRESSING THE BOARD, PLEASE SEE “PROCEDURES 
FOR ADDRESSING THE BOARD” LOCATED AT THE BACK TABLE.  ANYONE WISHING TO COMMENT ON ANY MATTER UNOT U ON THE AGENDA 
MAY DO SO AT THIS TIME.  UALL COMMENTS WILL BE DIRECTED ONLY TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD MEMBERSU AND PERSONS ADDRESSING 
THE BOARD MUST STATE THEIR NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE RECORD AND WILL BE GIVEN TWO (2) MINUTES.  ANY COMMENTS 
LONGER THAN 2 MINUTES SHOULD BE REDUCED TO WRITING AND SUBMITTED TO THE CLERK AND WILL BE MADE A PART OF THE 
RECORD. 
USet/Adjust Agenda 
 
 
 
 
Unfinished Business 
 
 
Consent Agenda 
1. a)   Approval of Minutes – Committee Meeting of March 1, 2016 

b)  Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of March 1, 2016 
c)  Approval of Claims – March 1, 2016 
d) Approval of Claims – March 15, 2016 
e) Approval of Claims – March 29, 2016 
f) Approval of Payroll – March 10, 2016 
g) Approval of Payroll – March 24, 2016 
h) Reschedule May 3, 2016 Board Meetings Due to Election 
i) Resolution No. 2016-002 – Holt Road Improvement Project Resolution of Support 

 
 

Zoning and Development 
2. Special Use Permit No. 16-279 – Laux Construction, LLC – 1018 Hogsback Road – Tax Parcel  

#33-25-05-25-453-004, Contractor’s Office 
 

 
New Business 
3. Contract for Delhi Township Reroofing and Exterior Improvements Project – Laux Construction,  

LLC 
4. Proposal for Analysis of Groundwater Quality – United States Geological Services 
5. Proposal for Delhi Charter Township Non-Motorized Transportation Plan Update – Landscape  

Architects and Planners, Inc. 
6. Sycamore Trail DNR Trust Fund Grant Declaration and Notice 
7. Public Art Community Grant Program Contract Agreement – Lansing Economic Area  

Partnership (LEAP) 



8. Creation of Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee 
9. FY 2016 Lansing Economic Area Partnership, Inc. (LEAP) Dues 
10. Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) Annual Laboratory Supply and Equipment Order 

 
 
 

Items Removed From Consent Agenda For Discussion 
 
 
 
 
Late Agenda Items 
11.  
12.  
13.  
 
 
 
Reports 
14. Supervisor:  
15. Treasurer: 
16. Clerk:    
17. Trustees:  
18. Manager:    

 
 

 
Limited Comments 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS THE BOARD REGARDING ANY ITEM ON THE AGENDA AT 
THE TIME SUCH ITEM IS OPEN FOR DISCUSSION BY THE BOARD.  ANYONE WISHING TO COMMENT ON ANY MATTER NOT ON THE AGENDA 
MAY DO SO AT THIS TIME. 
 
Adjournment 
The Township will provide reasonable auxiliary aids and services, such as interpreters for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of 
printed materials considered at the meeting for the visually impaired, for individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon five (5) working 
days notice to the Township.  Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact Delhi Charter Township, 
Evan Hope, Township Clerk, 694-2135. 
 
ALL PAGERS, CELL PHONES, RADIOS AND SIMILAR DEVICES ARE TO BE TURNED OFF OR TO SILENT MODE DURING ALL 
BOARD MEETINGS. 



 

 

Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
 
 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING HELD ON MARCH 1, 2016 

 

 1

S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L 

The members of the Delhi Charter Township Committee of the Whole met on Tuesday, March 
1, 2016 in the Multipurpose Room at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
MI.  Supervisor Davis called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  
  
Members Present:  Supervisor C.J. Davis, Clerk Evan Hope, Treasurer Roy Sweet, Trustees 

Jon Harmon, John Hayhoe, Megan Ketchum, DiAnne Warfield 
 

Members Absent: None 
 

 
SET/ADJUST THE AGENDA 
 

Hope moved at add Late Agenda Item No. C - Transfer of Property from Delhi 
Township to the Ingham County Drain Commissioner and Item No. D - DDA Tax 
Sharing Agreement Extension Update. 

 
A Voice Poll was recorded as follows: 
All Ayes 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

 
BUSINESS 
 
CONSUMERS ENERGY TREE TRIMMING PROGRAM 
 
Charlie Clingerman, Consumers Energy Utility Forester, reported that the Consumers Energy 
Tree Trimming Program will begin line clearance work in Delhi Charter Township in an effort to 
reduce possible power outages associated with overhanging trees on power lines. 
Approximately 800 trees will be trimmed or removed during this line clearance. Every customer, 
renter and/or property owner that this will affect has been contacted.  
 
 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES – FEBRUARY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
The Board reviewed the February Department of Public Services Activity Report 
(ATTACHMENT I).  
 
 
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY FROM DELHI TOWNSHIP TO THE INGHAM COUNTY DRAIN 
COMMISSIONER 
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga distributed maps outlining various Township owned properties 
(ATTACHMENT II). 
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga stated that the Township has acquired various properties for one 
reason or another with the thought that the areas would be left undeveloped for natural 
purposes to include trees, wetlands, flood plains, etc. 
 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING HELD ON MARCH 1, 2016 

 

 2

S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L 

Twp. Mgr. Elsinga stated that the Township has from time to time received calls from 
neighbors regarding the maintenance of these properties. Twp. Mgr. Elsinga further 
stated that these properties would fit better under the control of the Ingham County 
Drain Commissioner (ICDC) as they have the ability to take care of the upkeep on these 
properties as a part of the drain district. The ICDC was contacted and has agreed to the 
transfer of the properties.  
 
The Sycamore Creek parcel will require a permanent easement to the Township for 
their interceptor sewer, a future pump station and a possible non-motorized trail. 
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga stated that from time to time the Township may present more 
properties like these to the ICDC to preserve and/or utilize for flood plains and wetlands. 
 
 
DDA TAX SHARING AGREEMENT EXTENSION UPDATE 
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga distributed a letter dated March 1, 2016 to the Capital Area District 
Library Board of Trustees (ATTACHMENT III). 
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga gave an update on the DDA Tax Sharing Agreement Extension. In 
the past month Twp. Mgr. Elsinga has met with the Finance Committee of the Ingham 
County Board of Commissioners and the Economic Development Corporation in regard 
to the Tax Sharing Agreement Extension. Ingham County and Delhi Township are in 
support of the extension. The Capital Area District Library (CADL) will be discussing the 
extension at their meeting on March 2, 2016.  
 
Twp. Mgr. Elsinga and Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development, will be in 
attendance at this meeting to speak and present the letter dated March 1, 2016 to the 
CADL Board of Directors from the Board of Trustees.  
 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – None 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:00 p.m. 
 
 
Date:      March 15, 2016        
  Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
 
Date:  March 15, 2016       
   C.J. Davis, Supervisor 
/af 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MARCH 1, 2016 

 

 9881 
 

S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L 

Delhi Charter Township Board of Trustees met in a regular meeting on Tuesday, March 1, 2016 
in the Multipurpose Room at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
Michigan.  Supervisor Davis called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Members Present: Supervisor C.J. Davis, Clerk Evan Hope, Treasurer Roy Sweet, Trustees 

Jon Harmon, John Hayhoe, Megan Ketchum, DiAnne Warfield 
 
Members Absent: None 
 
 
DART PRESENTATION 
 
Dart Container Corporation presented the Delhi Charter Township Fire Department with 
two thermal imaging cameras. Dart Container donated the cameras for their appreciation 
and support of the services that the Fire Department provides the community. 
 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC - None 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  

 
A. Approval of Minutes – Committee Meeting of February 16, 2016 
 
B. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of February 16, 2016 
 
C. Approval of Claims –  February 16, 2016 (ATTACHMENT I) 
 
D. Approval of Payroll –  February 25, 2016 (ATTACHMENT II) 

 
Warfield moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
 

A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope  
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
RESTORATION OF CONCRETE IN VETERANS MEMORIAL GARDENS 
 
The Board reviewed memorandums dated February 26, 2016 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga and 
February 23, 2016 from Mark Jenks, Director of Parks and Recreation (ATTACHMENT III). 
 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MARCH 1, 2016 

 

 9882 
 

S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L 

Sweet moved to accept the estimate from Alta Decorative Concrete, Inc. for the 
restoration of concrete in Veterans Memorial Gardens in the estimated amount of 
$19,800. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO RESOLUTION NO. 2015-019 – FY 2016 GENERAL FUND BUDGET 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated February 23, 2016 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT IV). 
 

Hayhoe moved to adopt Amendment No. 1 to Resolution No. 2015-019 for the 
Fiscal Year 2016 General Fund Budget. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet 
MOTION CARRIED  
 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO RESOLUTION NO. 2015-020 – FY 2016 SEWER FUND BUDGET 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated February 26, 2016 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT V). 
 

Harmon moved to adopt Amendment No. 1 to Resolution No. 2015-020 for the 
Fiscal Year 2016 Sewer Fund Budget. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO RESOLUTION NO. 2015-022 – FY 2016 FIRE EQUIPMENT, 
TRAINING AND APPARATUS FUND BUDGET 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated February 23, 2016 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT VI). 
 

Ketchum  moved to adopt Amendment No. 1 to Resolution No. 2015-022 for the 
Fiscal Year 2016 Fire Equipment, Training and Apparatus Fund Budget. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING HELD ON MARCH 1, 2016 

 

 9883 
 

S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO RESOLUTION NO. 2015-025 – FY 2016 DOWNTOWN 
DEVELOPMENT FUND BUDGET 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated February 23, 2016 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT VII). 
 

Harmon moved to adopt Amendment No. 1 to Resolution No. 2015-025 for the 
Fiscal Year 2016 Downtown Development Authority Fund Budget. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
REPORTS 
 
TREASURER 
 
Treasurer Sweet stated that the Township collected 96.25% of the winter tax roll. 
 
Treasurer Sweet reported that his office received State Revenue sharing for the 
November/December 2015 period in the amount of $338,396; of that $11,414 is from the City, 
Village and Township Revenue Sharing (CVTRS). The Constitutional Revenue Sharing was 
$326,982 which is a decrease of approximately $18,000 over the September/October 2015 
period and a decrease from the November/December 2014 period of slightly under $10,000.  
 
CLERK 
 
Clerk Hope reminded the Board of the upcoming March 8, 2016 Presidential Primary. 
 
 
LIMITED PUBLIC COMMENTS – None 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Date:   March 15, 2016           
        Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
Date:   March 15, 2016           
        C.J. Davis, Supervisor 
/af 



U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form3-1
CC: Central File

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
March 1, 2016

Dated:  March 1, 2016
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 93,304.52$            
Fire Fund 23,904.94              
Police Fund 213,942.75            
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 3,139.76                
Downtown Development Fund 16,067.49              
Sewer Fund 128,189.53            
Local Site Remediation Fund 2,327.35                
Trust & Agency Fund 4,920.34                
Current Tax Fund 5,176.15                

Grand Total 490,972.83$          

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:

Employee Flexible Spending Acct 817.84$                 
Current Tax Fund 5,176.15$              
Farmer's Market Account 2,766.00$              

Dated:  March 1, 2016           
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

 
Dated:  March 1, 2016 `

John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV Board Audit and Approval:  At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on March 15, 2016 a motion was
made by _______________________and passed by ____yes votes and ____no votes (______absent) that the
list of claims dated March 1, 2016, was reviewed, audited and approved

                         
Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated March 1, 2016 numbered 90901 thru 90971  & ACH 4060 thru 4083.   Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated March 1, 2016 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  
invoices over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board.  ($30,110.07 Hubbell, Roth & 
Clark for SAW Grant Administration, 10/30/14, $16,520.70 Hubbell, Roth & Clark for SAW Grant Administration, 10/30/14, 
$13,035.00 McKenna Associates for Cedar St. Revisioning, 10/6/15) 



INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 02/17/2016 - 03/01/2016

Vendor Invoice Line Desc Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 127.66
CITY OF MASON ALAIEDON STANDBY FEE JANUARY 513.85
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE ALAIEDON STANDBY FEE JANUARY 1,000.00
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE ALAIEDON INCIDENTS JANUARY 1,200.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,841.51

Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO TRUSTEES LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 25.50

Total For Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE 25.50

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 2,250.76
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 295.46
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 96.90
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 144.53
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 128.80

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 2,916.45

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 416.81
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 43.07
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 23.80
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 35.33

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 519.01

Dept 215.00 CLERK
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 6,418.83
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 391.81
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 85.85
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 101.87
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 50.00

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 7,048.36

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
DELL MARKETING L.P. DVD DRIVE FOR IT LAPTOP 36.59
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE & BACKUP 3,377.00
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 49.98
DELL MARKETING L.P. DELL 9020 PC-CSC 1,027.60
DELL MARKETING L.P. DELL PC/IT 999.31

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 5,490.48



Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 1,250.42
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 214.73
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 45.89
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 68.16
BRINK'S INCORPORATED FEBRUARY SERVICES 597.81

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 2,177.01

Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 348.73
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 65.02
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 72.63
VERTALKA & VERTALKA, INC. MTT APPRAISAL SERVICES 1,125.00

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 1,611.38

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
ELECTION SOURCE AV SIGN 89.65

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 89.65

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 4,751.62
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 209.94
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 60.34
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 38.98
D & M SILKSCREENING JACKET EMBROIDERY/D WALKER 12.00
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE -2/1 THRU 2/15 14.35
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORMS/ B & G 11.69
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORMS/ B & G 11.69
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 2 CLOROX/13 TRASH BAGS/CSC 241.97
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 76.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 812.50
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 49.98
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2074 AURELIUS JANUARY 295.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 4149 WILLOUGHBY 92.27
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2004 AURELIUS 96.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2074 AURELIUS 5,688.35
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2074 AURELIUS 1,860.37
ACE HARDWARE KEY/CLERK STORAGE/BASEMENT CSC 1.99
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH CARPET REPAIR/LIBRARY 31.48
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS 156.00

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 14,513.32

Dept 281.00 STORMWATER
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW ANALYZE WATER DATA 3,533.07
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW-LAND USE PERCENTS 313.80
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW-SW SYSTEM COMPONENTS 963.30
THE PARTS PLACE HYDRAULIC FLUID, MISC PARTS/SWEEP 153.58

Total For Dept 281.00 STORMWATER 4,963.75



Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 2116 CEDAR 324.95
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 2228 AURELIUS 167.28
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 3970 HOLT 344.84
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 4115 HOLT 285.77
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC ENGINEERING RAM TRAIL PHASE 2 180.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RAM TRAIL CONST ENGIN SERVICES 3,527.16

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 4,830.00

Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 5,585.22
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 606.54
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 147.03
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 218.71
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE - 2/1 THRU 2/15 41.83
ASSOCIATED GOVERNMENT AGS PAYROLL 1/16 THRU 2/15/16 3,523.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SPR/O'REILLY AUTO PARTS 151.95
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SPR/LANSING GAS STA & CONV STORE 582.72
MC KENNA ASSOCIATES, INC CEDAR ST REVISIONING PLAN AGREE 13,035.00
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 280.82
COMPLI-CHEK ENVIRONMENTAL ASBESTOS INSPECTION/4556 GROVE 494.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4556 GROVE AVE. 15.15

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 24,681.97

Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 6,252.15
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 477.95
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 112.20
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 109.17
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 100.52

Total For Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION 7,051.99

Dept 771.00 PARKS
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE -2/1 THRU 2/15 134.02
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORMS/PARKS 14.48
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORMS/PARKS 14.48
ACE HARDWARE BATTERIES 17.98
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CLEANING SUPPLIES/BATTERIES 166.78
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SAMSUNG T.V. 1,478.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 4 YEAR TV PROTECTION 99.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SAMSUNG BLUE RAY 69.88
AMERICAN RENTALS, INC. PORTABLE TOILET/DEADMAN'S HILL 70.00
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 150.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SRS 260.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC REPAIR KEY PAD - SR CENTER 196.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1750 MAPLE JANUARY 15.15
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2108 CEDAR JANUARY 121.20
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2287 PINE TREE JANUARY 48.48
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4030 KELLER JANUARY 37.88
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1750 MAPLE 12.36
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2177 WEST BLVD 22.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 4080 KELLER 66.55



CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 2939 34.98
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 3200 209.52
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2074 AURELIUS #PARK 934.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2108 CEDAR 1,087.37
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2108 CEDAR 39.94
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2287 PINE TREE 2939 307.33
ACE HARDWARE WALLBOARD/SR CENTER WALL REPAIR 16.48
ACE HARDWARE CONDUIT, SCREWS 7.14
ACE HARDWARE LIGHT SWITCH/PARKS MAINT BARN 7.78
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH SWITCHPLATE, STUDS & HANGERS 39.97
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH PARKS BUILDING SUPPLIES 150.02
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH RAFTER HANGERS 11.88
THE PARTS PLACE REPAIR SUPPLIES/SNOW PLOW TRUCK 33.68
THE PARTS PLACE PARTS LEFT FRONT SUSP TRUCK # 45 16.39

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 5,891.84

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
LIDS TEAM SPORTS ADULT SOFTBALLS 450.00
DANIEL A. DUMENEY BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 225.00
GERARD T. HOWLEY BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 225.00
ANDREW MURRAY BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 100.00
STEVEN E. ROGERS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 100.00
TIMOTHY O TILMA BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 175.00
ZACH VANLIEW BASKETBALL OFFICIAL    150.00
NATHANIEL WEBBER BASKETBALL OFFICIAL 75.00

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 1,500.00

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 32.40
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 6,669.90
HOLT POSTMASTER ANNUAL PERMIT FEE/PI 615 & BR 2001 450.00

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 7,152.30

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 93,304.52

Fund 206 FIRE FUND
Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 4.05
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 945.94
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 9,920.01
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 1,615.08
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 251.76
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 555.67
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM CLEANING FOR FIREFIGHTERS 170.45
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE - 2/1 THRU 2/15 492.54
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 16.50
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 919.04
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 72.95
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC CREDIT  MEDICAL SUPPLIES (72.95)
MOORE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 291.44
FIRE ENGINEERING SUBSCRIPTION RENEWAL/BALL 21.00



APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE 1,475.00
SKYWATCH SERVICES LLC 2016 ANNUAL RENEWAL/FIRST 2 WARN 200.00
TRITECH SOFTWARE SYSTEMS CAD SYSTEM SUPPORT 4/16 THRU 4/17 1,422.71
XEROX BUSINESS SERVICES FIRE HOUSE CONTRACT 3/1/16 - 3/1/17 4,585.00
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 613.92
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 6139 BISHOP JANUARY 43.18
OVERHEAD DOOR CO REPAIR CENTER EAST DOOR/FIRE BAY 221.50
ACE HARDWARE MOUNTING TAPE 6.99
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CLEANING SUPPLIES 133.16

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 23,904.94

Total For Fund 206 FIRE FUND 23,904.94

Fund 207 POLICE FUND
Dept 301.00 POLICE
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER POLICE CONTRACT FEBRUARY 213,942.75

Total For Dept 301.00 POLICE 213,942.75

Total For Fund 207 POLICE FUND 213,942.75

Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
FIRE SERVICE MANAGEMENT TURNOUT GEAR CLEANING & REPAIR 390.50
FIRE SERVICE MANAGEMENT TURNOUT GEAR CLEANING & REPAIR 63.00
FIRE SERVICE MANAGEMENT TURNOUT GEAR CLEANING & REPAIR 550.50
FIRST DUE FIRE SUPPLY CO. HOOD LINERS & GLOVES 261.97
DELL MARKETING L.P. DELL LATITUDE NB E3570-FIRE 999.31
FIRST DUE FIRE SUPPLY CO. FLASHLIGHT 59.99
WEST SHORE FIRE INC SCBA REPAIR 336.50
CATHEY COMPANY MISC HARDWARE FOR TURCK 21 #698 11.99
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF & ROTATE TIRES #211 35.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF & ROTATE TIRES #383 431.00

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 3,139.76

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 3,139.76

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 000.00 
CRISP COUNTRY ACRES FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 209.00
GLUTEN FREE ROX FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 36.00
KOLACHE KITCHEN FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 13.00
LONESOME PINES BEEF FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 181.00
RED'S SMOKEHOUSE BBQ FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 182.00
WILLOW BLOSSOM FARMS, LLC FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 120.00
NEVA AUSTIN FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 19.00
OFILIA DIAZ FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 108.00
OTTO'S POULTRY, INC FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 1,449.00
SHAYNA QUILLIN FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 141.00
JENNIFER ROTIER FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 40.00
MAI KOU VANG FEBRUARY VENDOR PAYMENT 84.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,582.00



Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE 118.00

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 118.00

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS JANUARY OUR TOWN 9,050.00
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS JANUARY OUR TOWN VIDEO 650.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT NAPKINS, CUTLERY, COFFEE 30.30
CRISP COUNTRY ACRES FEBRUARY DOUBLE UP BUCKS 184.00
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS JANUARY WEB HOST/MAINTENANCE 771.25

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 10,685.55

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 131.30
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES 2/8 THRU 2/19/16 355.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2045 CEDAR JANUARY 52.25
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2150 CEDAR JANUARY 27.33
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2150 CEDAR 235.94
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #A 1,189.69
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #B 164.08
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2045 CEDAR 311.84
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2150 CEDAR 214.51

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 2,681.94

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 16,067.49

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES Basic Service Charge 10.90
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES Sewer Usage 10.50
B & B PROPERTIES OF MICHIGAN L Basic Service Charge 15.90
BERENDS, DICK Basic Service Charge 35.76
DUBEY, MICHELE Basic Service Charge 38.50
EARLE, ROBERT Basic Service Charge 55.98
HARTSUFF, SALLY Basic Service Charge 52.95
KM-AG LLC Basic Service Charge 77.06
PINE GREWAL HOLDINGS LLC Basic Service Charge 19.09
RUSSELL HOLDINGS Basic Service Charge 29.20
SB LLC Basic Service Charge 5.30
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 102.13
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW-CONDITION ASSESSMENT 30,110.07
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RELOCATE FORCE MAIN-STOLIKER 3,898.80
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SS REVIEW-PRESTWICK VILLAGE 804.78
STATE OF MICHIGAN 2015 SALES TAX DUE PER ANNUAL 7.58

Total For Dept 000.00 35,274.50

Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 16.20
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 2,439.70

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 2,455.90



Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE MARCH 10,586.93
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MARCH 1,513.95
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MARCH 361.66
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE MARCH 539.54
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 10 COPY PAPER & SALES TAX 298.23
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CREDIT SALES TAX (18.43)
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 2 LEGAL PADS 13.28
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE - 2/1 THRU 2/15 281.04
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MTC 52.19
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 67.54
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MTC 45.11
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 102.54
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM DRY CLEANING 34.95
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE & BACKUP 2,613.00
RS TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. R & R ROUTER - POND CAMERA 515.00
DELL MARKETING L.P. DELL9020 PC-LENON@DPS 999.31
AIRGAS USA, LLC CYLINDER RENTAL 145.80
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES SHOP VAC FOR UNIT # 4 33.24
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 4 SHELVING UNITS 319.92
THE PARTS PLACE TIRE GAUGE & LOCKTITE 35.15
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 10 PK BATTERIES/LAB METERS 14.98
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP TREATMENT CHEMICALS/HYPOCHLORITE 688.20
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. INFLUENT MERCURY ANALYSIS 225.00
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. EFFLUENT MERCURY ANALYSIS 225.00
ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES WET TESTING (QUARTERLY) 850.00
ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES DMRQA TESTING 165.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SEWER LEAD INSPECTIONS 1,747.98
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW-CONDITION ASSESSMENT 16,520.70
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC DIGESTER COMPLEX HVAC 1,444.50
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC DIGESTION MIXING IMPROVEMENTS 379.50
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC CAPACITY REVIEW-PINETREE LS 534.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC 2313 CEDAR-LEAD LINING 282.60
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SS REVIEW-O'REILLY AUTO PARTS 231.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SS REVIEW-GAS STATION 173.25
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC MTC BLDG REVIEW 1,192.80
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING CHARGES 60.44
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 202.91
VERIZON WIRELESS FEBRUARY CELLULAR 607.93
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1490 AURELIUS JANUARY 174.20
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1494 AURELIUS 70.43
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1490 AURELIUS 1,773.06
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4828 HOLT 193.14
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4280 DELL 505.75
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2870 PINE TREE 563.03
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3505 HOLT 148.09
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1390 WAVERLY 392.50
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2358 EIFERT 392.50
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2509 16,257.57
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5999 HOLT 107.86
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-6055 MC CUE 776.21
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-3505 HOLT 44.62



CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2481 DELHI COMM 36.43
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-4280 DELL 146.79
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 1494 AURELIUS 354.05
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1490 AURELIUS 603.93
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUS 472.56
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 5961 MC CUE #4 1,283.51
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2 56.89
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #3 212.17
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2319 2,916.69
ACE HARDWARE PAINT SUPPLIES/MTC 88.55
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 4 DEGREASER 27.36
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT TRASH BAGS/TIDE/DOWNY/SIMPLE 530.58
J.G.M. VALVE CORPORATION VAUGHN SIDE STREAM PUMP REBUILD 5,363.00
J.G.M. VALVE CORPORATION SHIPPING VAUGHN PUMP REPAIR PARTS 92.25
JACK DOHENY SUPPLIES, INC VACTOR REPAIR PARTS/ AUTO WINDER 445.18
JACK DOHENY SUPPLIES, INC SHIPPING FOR VACTOR PARTS 12.20
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES NOZZLE & SOCKET/HYPOCHLORITE 66.46
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES DUCT TAPE & SWIVEL HOOKS 24.26
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES TELESCOPING WAND FOR AERATION 132.05
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES MTC 260.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES POTW 260.00
JACK DOHENY SUPPLIES, INC HYDROLIC SYSTEM REPAIR/VACTOR/# 5 7,158.06
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. INSPECT & REPAIR GAS ANALYZER 1,215.00
GOOD YEAR COMMERCIAL TIRE R & R TIRE/SKYSTRAK 1,037.62
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC CONTRACT ADMIN-LAGOON BLDGS 483.00

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 88,763.29

Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RELOCATE FORCE MAIN-STOLIKER 1,695.84

Total For Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 1,695.84

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 128,189.53

Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND
Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS JANUARY ENVIRONMENTAL LEGAL FEES 2,327.35

Total For Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION 2,327.35

Total For Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND 2,327.35

Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND
Dept 000.00 
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER TRAILER PARK FEES/NOV & DEC 2015 4,102.50
WENDY L THIELEN REIMBURSEMENT OF FLEXIBLE SPEND 817.84

Total For Dept 000.00 4,920.34

Total For Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND 4,920.34



Fund 703 CURRENT TAX ACCOUNT
Dept 000.00 
FIVE OAKS DRIVE, LLC REFUNDS DUE TAXPAYERS 651.75
FIVE OAKS DRIVE, LLC REFUNDS DUE TAXPAYERS 2,832.09
FSI STONEGATE PROPERTY LLC REFUNDS DUE TAXPAYERS 603.85
LARRY L ALBERT TRUST REFUNDS DUE TAXPAYERS 495.00
MSU FEDERAL CREDIT UNION REFUNDS DUE TAXPAYERS 593.46

Total For Dept 000.00 5,176.15

Total For Fund 703 CURRENT TAX ACCOUNT 5,176.15

Total For All Funds: 490,972.83



U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form3-15
CC: Central File

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
March 15, 2016

Dated:  March 15, 2016
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 75,279.75$            
Fire Fund 17,255.64              
Police Fund 1,495.00                
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 6,736.75                
Water Improvement Fund 500.00                   
Downtown Development Fund 3,184.70                
Sewer Fund 80,499.52              
Local Site Remediation Fund 1,156.00                
Trust & Agency Fund 2,282.59                
Current Tax Fund 44,814.70              

Grand Total 233,204.65$          

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:

Employee Flexible Spending Acct 280.17$                 
Current Tax Fund 44,814.70$            

Dated:  March 15, 2016           
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

 
Dated:  March 15, 2016 `

John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV Board Audit and Approval:  At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on April 5, 2016 a motion was
made by _______________________and passed by ____yes votes and ____no votes (______absent) that the
list of claims dated March 15, 2016, was reviewed, audited and approved

                         
Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated March 15, 2016 numbered 90972 thru 91046  & ACH 4084 thru 4107.   Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated March 15, 2016 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  
invoices over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board.  



INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 03/02/2016 - 03/15/2016

Vendor Invoice Line Desc Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES CONST VALUE, NEW 2,117.00
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES RESIDENTIAL CLASS 3 120.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,237.00

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 80.40
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 30.11
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH MEETING/ELSINGA 68.30
BANK OF AMERICA PARKING/ELSINGA 8.00
BANK OF AMERICA HRC LUNCH/ELSINGA 19.45
WENDY L THIELEN 3/4/2016 MILEAGE 34.56
BANK OF AMERICA MPELRA PROGRAM REGISTRAT/THIELEN 90.00
BANK OF AMERICA SEMINAR/ELSINGA 30.00

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 360.82

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 40.20
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS 2 GRAPHITE 8.5" DIA MOUSEPAD 18.03

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 58.23

Dept 215.00 CLERK
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 80.40
MICHIGAN.COM PUBLISHING LEGALS FEBRUARY 1,000.02

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 1,080.42

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. EBAY/2 BLK INK CARTRIDGES 8.85
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. SUPPLYLINK/BLACK TONER 57.60
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. EMPIRE OFFICE/PICKUP ROLLER 5.95
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. AMILINE.COM/BATTERY FOR LAPTOP CD 55.98
ACD.NET, INC. ACD FIBER MONTHLY 616.00

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 744.38

Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 40.20
BANK OF AMERICA TAX TIME PIZZA & SALES TAX 19.26
BANK OF AMERICA MGFOA SEMINAR/SWEET 99.00

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 158.46

Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
WHITLOCK BUSINESS SYSTEMS ASSESSMENT NOTICE PRINTING 1,307.24
WHITLOCK BUSINESS SYSTEMS BALANCE OF ASSESSMENT NOTICES 165.44
BANK OF AMERICA BUSINESS CARDS/KONEN 56.00
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES FEBRUARY 4,260.20



BANK OF AMERICA MI ASSESSORS ASSOC/MEMBERSHIP 77.00
DELTA CHARTER TOWNSHIP ASSESSING FEES MARCH 2,000.00
ELIZABETH TOBIAS REIMBURSE FOR SPRING SEMESTER 1,000.00

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 8,865.88

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
BANK OF AMERICA VELCRO/ELECTIONS 52.98
BANK OF AMERICA AV BALLOT STORAGE BOXES & FREIGHT 85.72
ACE HARDWARE TRASH CAN/ELECTIONS 9.99
ELECTION SOURCE 2 CS THERMAL ROLLS 39.90
ELECTION SOURCE SHIPPING 12.84
MICHIGAN.COM PUBLISHING LEGALS FEBRUARY 200.70

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 402.13

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 40.20
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 2/16-29/2016 7.07
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM 11.69
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM 11.69
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM 11.69
BARNHART & SON, INC. OPEN/CLOSE GRAVES THRU 1/16/16 1,797.42
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 76.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 975.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC REPAIR KEYPAD/LABOR & TRIP CHARGE 116.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC REPLACE STRIKE LABOR & TRIP CHARGE/MA 262.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 29.41
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 1,126.73
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2074 AURELIUS 576.35
ACE HARDWARE ROOF NAILS & 8 SILICONE/CSC 54.91
ACE HARDWARE 1 MISC. 1 MDSE./PLOW #49 1.29
ACE HARDWARE 50 MISC. MDSE./CAP SCREWS 24.00
AUTOMATIC EQUIPMENT SALES CONTROL BOX & LABOR/CSC MAIN 968.00
BANK OF AMERICA 2 RELAYS/#46 PLOW 37.98
INTERSTATE BATTERIES OF BATTERY/PLOW TRUCK #46 131.17
THE PARTS PLACE 2 HAL/CAP/#49 22.08
MAYOTTE GROUP ARCHITECTS CSC REROOFING PROFESSIONAL SERV 3,982.50

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 10,263.18

Dept 281.00 STORMWATER
THE PARTS PLACE 15W40 MOTOR OIL/#8 65.99

Total For Dept 281.00 STORMWATER 65.99

Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT STREETLIGHTS 2/1-3/1/2016 7,499.24
CONSUMERS ENERGY STREETLIGHTS ACCT#6730 18,725.43
CONSUMERS ENERGY STREETLIGHTS ACCT#7043 104.25
INGHAM COUNTY ROAD DEPT 2015 LOCAL ROAD STRIPING 260.00

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 26,588.92



Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 160.80
BANK OF AMERICA 1 CT WATER RESIST SHOE COVERS 44.00
BANK OF AMERICA FREIGHT 10.27
BANK OF AMERICA BUSINESS CARDS/SIMONS 56.00
PAPER IMAGE PRINTING YELLOW INSPECTION STICKERS 136.95
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 2/16-29/2016 68.82
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES FEBRUARY 52.80
BANK OF AMERICA CEDAR STREET PLAN STAFF LUNCH 70.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 11.67
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR FEBRUARY 9.76
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 55.94
MICHIGAN.COM PUBLISHING LEGALS FEBRUARY 232.44
BANK OF AMERICA CAR WASH/#57 8.00
BANK OF AMERICA CAR WASH/#57 8.00
TRACY L. C. MILLER 2016 EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT 1,000.00
MECHANICAL INSPECTORS MIAM SPRING CONFERENCE/SIMONS 225.00
MICHIGAN ASSOC OF HOUSING 4/21/16 MAHO SEMINAR/LARNER 40.00
MICHIGAN ASSOC OF PLANNING MAP SPRING INSTITUTE/MILLER 125.00

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 2,315.45

Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 120.60
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 0.16
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR FEBRUARY 0.83
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 98.11
TDS METROCOM SENIOR CENTER PHONES 302.26
BANK OF AMERICA MRPA LODGING/JENKS & TILMA 248.80

Total For Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION 770.76

Dept 771.00 PARKS
BANK OF AMERICA 4 KEY HOLDERS 59.96
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 2/16-29/2016 384.12
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM PANTS 14.48
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM PANTS 14.48
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM PANTS 14.48
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES MEASURING WHEEL/#41 30.37
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH PROJEX MED DUTY GLOVE/WALKER 12.99
AMERICAN RENTALS, INC. PORTABLE TOILET 140.00
AMERICAN RENTALS, INC. PORTABLE TOILET 140.00
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 150.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SENIOR CENTER 292.50
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC REPAIR DOOR/LABOR & TRIP CHARGE 116.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2108 CEDAR 258.94
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2287 PINE TREE 44.27
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1750 MAPLE 14.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1771 MAPLE 83.70
B & D ELECTRIC, INC. TIME CLOCK & LABOR/SENIOR CENTER 202.00
ACE HARDWARE 1 BATTERY/SENIOR CENTER COMPUTER 4.99
ACE HARDWARE 3 MOP HEADS 28.97
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTRLY MONITORING/SENIOR CENTER 90.00
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC RAB WPLED20 J BOX MOUNT 230.00



ACE HARDWARE 2 WOOD HANDLES/SQUEEGEES 25.98
ACE HARDWARE 8 MISC. MDSE,/4 KEYS 15.48
ACE HARDWARE (3) 8# BAGS OIL ABSORBENT 11.97
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY RUBBER PIECE/PLOW #45 20.00
BANK OF AMERICA RADIUS ARMS & LABOR/#45 65.00
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. SPRING STUD BOLT/FORD TRUCK 14.95
FASTENAL COMPANY BOLTS/RADIUS ARM #45 23.17
THE PARTS PLACE SHEEL BATTERY CHARGER/BOOSTER 358.00
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 52.73
SPARROW OCC HEALTH SERV PHYSICALS 103.50

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 3,017.43

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
DANIEL A. DUMENEY OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 275.00
GERARD T. HOWLEY OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 200.00
ANDREW MURRAY OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 75.00
TIMOTHY O TILMA OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 150.00
ZACH VANLIEW OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 150.00
NATHANIEL WEBBER OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 50.00

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 900.00

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
BANK OF AMERICA DOCUMENT STORAGE BOXES & FREIGHT 51.97
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 414.22
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 57.66
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES FEBRUARY 1,776.60
ENCOMPASS/EAP 2ND QUARTER EAP 248.00
GRANGER CHRISTMAS TREE RECYCLING 348.00
MEDICAL MANAGEMENT SYS AMBULANCE BILLING FEES FEBRUARY 2,990.50
MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL RISK 2016 PROPERTY/LIABILITY INSURANCE 10,705.50
RICOH USA, INC. RICHO MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 86.68
BANK OF AMERICA CREDIT PITNEY BOWES (26.08)
BANK OF AMERICA ACA COMPLIANCE FILING 669.00
BANK OF AMERICA GIS WEB HOSTING 2/10-3/9/16 1.00
BANK OF AMERICA AT&T LED SIGN 2/16-3/15/16 93.70
BANK OF AMERICA WUFOO SUBSCRIPTION 2/16-3/26/16 9.00
BANK OF AMERICA MUSIC SERVICE-CSC 24.95

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 17,450.70

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 75,279.75

Fund 206 FIRE FUND
Dept 000.00 
BANK OF AMERICA FIRE AWARDS/BENNETT & DICKERSON 233.95

Total For Dept 000.00 233.95

Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 321.60
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 2/16-29/2016 526.02
LEGEND DATA SYSTEMS, INC. NAME TAGS 149.10
BANK OF AMERICA MEDICAL SUPPLIES 532.60
BANK OF AMERICA 3 FOLDING BACK BOARDS & FREIGHT 1,014.35



BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 1,119.04
LIFEGAS LLC OXYGEN 345.59
LIFEGAS LLC OXYGEN 20.25
BANK OF AMERICA IAFC 2016 MEMBERSHIP 309.00
CALLBACK STAFFING SOLUTIONS CALLBACK STAFFING MARCH 99.99
THE HUNDRED CLUB 2016 THE HUNDRED CLUB DUES 100.00
SPARROW OCC HEALTH SERV PHYSICALS 206.00
ENCOMPASS/EAP 2ND QUARTER EAP 294.50
ACD.NET, INC. ACD FIBER MONTHLY 182.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 3.74
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR FEBRUARY 175.09
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 41.93
MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL RISK 2016 PROPERTY/LIABILITY INSURANCE 11,074.65
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 6139 BISHOP 37.48
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 6139 BISHOP 65.92
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 6139 BISHOP 268.11
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 60.23
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/BALL,TALIAFERRO,TYLER 41.08
BANK OF AMERICA FOOD/TRI COUNTY ACENCY DIRECTORS 20.83
BANK OF AMERICA METRO CHIEFS LUNCH/DRURY 12.59

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 17,021.69

Total For Fund 206 FIRE FUND 17,255.64

Fund 207 POLICE FUND
Dept 301.00 POLICE
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES FEBRUARY 1,495.00

Total For Dept 301.00 POLICE 1,495.00

Total For Fund 207 POLICE FUND 1,495.00

Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
BANK OF AMERICA SHIPPING 60.82
BANK OF AMERICA SHIPPING 43.68
BANK OF AMERICA SHIPPING 18.17
BANK OF AMERICA LUMBER/HEX WASHERS/TRAILER 94.33
BATTERIES PLUS 2 - 12 VOLT BATTERIES 35.98
BANK OF AMERICA BATTERIES/AED'S 133.20
WEST SHORE FIRE INC SCBA REPAIR 214.08
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK CHECK FRONT END/#009 40.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK REPLACE BATTERY/#656 175.00
LAFONTAINE FORD, INC BRAKES & ROTORS UNIT #211 774.86
SPARTAN MOTORS USA, INC. DOT & MISCELLANEOUS REPAIR/#037 4,946.63
CITY OF LANSING FIRE DEPT WATER RESCUE CLASSES 200.00

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 6,736.75

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 6,736.75



Fund 225 WATER IMPROVEMENT FUND
Dept 000.00 
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES WATER IMPROVEMENT REVENUE 500.00

Total For Dept 000.00 500.00

Total For Fund 225 WATER IMPROVEMENT FUND 500.00

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS ENVELOPES/LABELS 40.96
FAHEY SCHULTZ BURZYCH HOLT COMMUNITY CONNECT LEGAL FEE 629.50
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. JAN/FEB 2016 LEGAL FEES 316.80
ENCOMPASS/EAP 2ND QUARTER EAP 15.50
ACD.NET, INC. ACD FIBER MONTHLY 42.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 5.44
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 127.12
MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL RISK 2016 PROPERTY/LIABILITY INSURANCE 738.31

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 1,915.63

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
BANK OF AMERICA SURVEY MONKEY 2016 SUBSCRIPTION 204.00
BANK OF AMERICA 100 YDS GRAND OPENING RIBBON 186.87
BANK OF AMERICA WALMART/CHENILLE CAR WASH MITTS 9.94
ACD.NET, INC. WIFI MARCH 69.95
ACE HARDWARE DRILL BIT/FARMERS MARKET 8.99
BANK OF AMERICA US FLAG/INDOOR FLAG KIT 89.10

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 568.85

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 131.30
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SHERIFF & DDA 420.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2045 CEDAR 125.37
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2150 CEDAR 23.55

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 700.22

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 3,184.70

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
SS&S LLC Sewer Usage 120.30
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES CAPACITY CHARGE 2,750.00
ALLEN EDWIN HOMES INSPECTION FEE 100.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,970.30

Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES FEBRUARY 1,186.96
PROGRESSIVE IMPRESSIONS ADVANCE SEWER BILL POSTAGE 7,800.00
ENCOMPASS/EAP 2ND QUARTER EAP 162.75
PROGRESSIVE IMPRESSIONS SEWER BILLS FEBRUARY 531.95
MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL RISK 2016 PROPERTY/LIABILITY INSURANCE 14,397.04

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 24,078.70



Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
BASIC HSA ADMINISTRATION FEES 361.80
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 2/16-29/2016 755.17
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 87.54
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MAINTENANCE 45.11
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 67.54
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MAINTENANCE 45.11
BANK OF AMERICA TONER CARTRIDGE SET 221.95
HASSELBRING-CLARK COPIER EXCESS RATE/MAINTENANCE 89.30
ACE HARDWARE 3 WATCH/CALC BATTERIES 14.97
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP CREDIT (270.00)
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP SODIUM BISULFITE 884.50
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP HYPOCHLORITE 3,803.44
SPICER GROUP, INC. FIS NETWORK & ASSET MANAGEMENT 5,951.25
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING CHARGES 53.87
GRANGER YARD WASTE DUMPSTER 390.00
GRANGER SCREENING DEBRIS 387.50
GRANGER MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 202.91
GRANGER GREASE HAUL 87.50
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE FEBRUARY 1.98
SPOK, INC PAGER SERVICE 29.42
ACD.NET, INC. ACD FIBER MONTHLY 560.00
COMCAST HIGH SPEED INTERNET -POTW 154.35
COMCAST HIGH SPEED INTERNET/MAINTENAN 154.35
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE/FEBRUARY 399.56
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 3505 HOLT 83.57
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 4280 DELL 20.15
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 5961 MC CUE 402.75
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1492 AURELIUS 180.94
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT ELECTRIC 2481 DELHI COMMERCE 118.93
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT ELECTRIC 1870 NIGHTINGALE 332.16
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4000 N MICHIGAN#B 217.91
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2723 43.39
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1988 WAVERLY 657.64
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1988 WAVERLY 70.17
STATE OF MICHIGAN 2016 BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION FEE 2,152.03
GRAINGER 3 BUTTON CONTROL/GARAGE DOOR BAY 6 52.70
ACE HARDWARE 2 KEYS 3.98
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES SINK TRAP/TERTIARY BLDG. 18.03
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS/ WIRE CONNECTORS 1,018.98
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 100 WIRE CONNECTORS 13.39
WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS BLOCK HEATER/ EIFERT RD LS 346.68
THE PARTS PLACE 2 MAGNETIC HEATERS/L.S. 87.98
USA BLUE BOOK 4 CASES GREEN MARKING PAINT 211.80
USA BLUE BOOK SHIPPING 33.45
BLACKBURN MANUFACTURING MISS DIG FLAGS/1000 PER BOX 276.80
BLACKBURN MANUFACTURING ESTIMATED SHIPPING 69.80
BANK OF AMERICA PUMP & FREIGHT/CHLORINATING 156.23
ACE HARDWARE (2) 9V BATTERIES/GATE REMOTES 17.98
ACE HARDWARE 2 MISC. MDSE./DRILL BIT/TAP PLUG 26.88
CATHEY COMPANY BOX 25EA 4IN BAND CLAMPS 24.75
CATHEY COMPANY 3IN HEAVY DUTY PUMP HOSE 324.00



HESCO, INC. DISK, INTEGRAL PVD755N 2,109.12
HESCO, INC. TRUNNION PVB113N 715.20
HESCO, INC. GASKET, DISCHARGE PVB756 106.08
HESCO, INC. GASKET, SUCTION PVB119 106.08
HESCO, INC. GASKET, CLACK VALVA PVB695 16.64
HESCO, INC. GASKET, SWAN NECK PVD752 15.60
HESCO, INC. BEARING, PEDESTAL PVA245 428.48
HESCO, INC. BEARING, CONNECTING ROD, PVA243 280.80
HESCO, INC. SHIPPING 39.00
KENNEDY INDUSTRIES, INC FLYGT 4620 MIXER 7,111.00
THE PARTS PLACE EMERGENCY REPAIR TO SKYTRACK 107.98
THE PARTS PLACE EMERGENCY REPAIR TO SKYSTRACK 57.06
THE PARTS PLACE 1 PER-LUX SNOWPLOW LAMP 126.42
THE PARTS PLACE (1) 10W 5 GAL HYDFLUID 69.99
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 10 BUSS MIDGET FUSES 100.00
FLIER'S QUALITY WATER SYS LAB WATER 6 MO. MAINTENANCE 323.81
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/POTW 260.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/MAINTENANCE 260.00
B & D ELECTRIC, INC. INSTALL NEW SURGE SUPPRESSOR 184.00
H & H WELDING & REPAIR LLC STREET SWEEPER WATER TANK REPAIR 650.00
JACK DOHENY SUPPLIES, INC CAMERA TRUCK CABLE REEPAIR/#11A 2,037.75
RS TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. YSI AMMONIA/DO PROBES 7,756.87
RS TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. LABOR TO INSTALL 380.00
WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS PORTABLEGENSET REPAIR- G-1 1,573.25
WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS BLOCK HEATER/POTW POND GENSET 1,617.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY SURGE PROTECTOR 1,160.00
HARPER INDUSTRIAL CONST TEMP HEAT MONTHLY RENTAL 1,100.00
HARPER INDUSTRIAL CONST LABOR TO REPAIR 4" PIPE 255.00
HARPER INDUSTRIAL CONST MATERIALS 50.00
HOLT & MASON TOWING TOW SKYTRAC 200.00
STATE OF MICHIGAN BOILER INSPECTION/POTW 130.00
SPARROW OCC HEALTH SERV PHYSICAL 25.00
BANK OF AMERICA ARC GIS REGISTRATION/WALACAVAGE 600.00
BANK OF AMERICA WEF AIRFARE/LENON 169.20
BANK OF AMERICA WEF REGISTRATION/LENON 885.00
BANK OF AMERICA WEF SHUTTLE/LENON 62.00
BANK OF AMERICA WEF SHUTTLE/LENON 25.00
MWEA CONFERENCE REGISTRATION/DIORKA/ 915.00

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 53,450.52

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 80,499.52

Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND
Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS ENVIRONMENTAL LEGAL FEES FEB 1,156.00

Total For Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION 1,156.00

Total For Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND 1,156.00



Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND
Dept 000.00 
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC DISABILITY 642.04
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC LIFE INSUR 7.62
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC ACCIDENT 547.18
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC SICKNESS 324.38
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC CANCER 450.84
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-DISABILITY RIDER 18.48
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC ACCIIDENT RIDER 11.88
WENDY L THIELEN AFLAC_URM (FSA) 280.17

Total For Dept 000.00 2,282.59

Total For Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND 2,282.59

Fund 703 CURRENT TAX ACCOUNT
Dept 000.00 
STATE OF MICHIGAN DELHI TWP 2015 IFT WINTER 43,085.15
GWENDOLYN COTTON LATE ACH TAX PYMT/TO COUNTY 1,729.55

Total For Dept 000.00 44,814.70

Total For Fund 703 CURRENT TAX ACCOUNT 44,814.70

Total For All Funds: 233,204.65



U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form3-29
CC: Central File

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
March 29, 2016

Dated:  March 29, 2016
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 110,326.29$          
Fire Fund 24,143.57              
Police Fund 213,942.75            
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 4,283.41                
Downtown Development Fund 3,759.38                
Sewer Fund 77,842.46              
Local Site Remediation Fund 7,300.00                

Grand Total 441,597.86$          

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:

None

Dated:  March 29, 2016           
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

 
Dated:  March 29, 2016 `

John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV Board Audit and Approval:  At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on April 5, 2016 a motion was
made by _______________________and passed by ____yes votes and ____no votes (______absent) that the
list of claims dated March 29, 2016, was reviewed, audited and approved

                         
Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated March 29, 2016 numbered 91047 thru 91122  & ACH 4108 thru 4129.   Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated March 29, 2016 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  
invoices over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board. ($11,884.86, Hubbell Roth & 
Clark for SAW Grant)



INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 03/29/2016 - 03/29/2016

Vendor Invoice Line Desc Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 127.66
CITY OF MASON STANDBY FEE FEBRUARY 600.00
CITY OF MASON JAN. ADJUSTMANT 86.15
CITY OF MASON FIRE FUN - OKEMOS ROAD 600.00
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE DEP ALAIEDON STANDBY FEE FEBRUARY 1,000.00
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE DEP WIRES DOWN 700.00
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE DEP FIRE 2,500.00
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE DEP GAS SPILL 600.00
MARY LOU R HOFFMAN REIMBURSMENT/MEDICAL INSURANCE 15.00
TOM LENARD REIMBURSEMENT FOR T-BALL 25.00

Total For Dept 000.00 6,253.81

Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO TRUSTEES LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 25.50

Total For Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE 25.50

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 2,262.38
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 295.46
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 96.90
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 144.53
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 115.09

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 2,914.36

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 418.97
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 43.07
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 23.80
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 35.33
ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C. ACCOUNTING SERVICES FEBRUARY 3,495.00

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 4,016.17

Dept 215.00 CLERK
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 3,938.22
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 391.81
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 85.85
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 101.87
MUNICODE CODE ON INTERNET 3/1/2016 TO 2/2017 500.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 50.00

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 5,067.75

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO TOTAL CARE BACKUP & HARDWARE  3,377.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 49.98

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 3,426.98



Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 1,256.88
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 214.73
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 45.89
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 68.16
55TH DISTRICT COURT DISCOVERY SUBPOENA 15.00
55TH DISTRICT COURT DISCOVERY SUBPOENA 15.00
55TH DISTRICT COURT DISCOVERY SUBPOENA 15.00
55TH DISTRICT COURT DISCOVERY SUBPOENA 15.00
55TH DISTRICT COURT DISCOVERY SUBPOENA 15.00
BRINK'S INCORPORATED BRINKS SERVICE/FEBRUARY 597.81

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 2,258.47

Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 348.73
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 65.02
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 96.94
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS STAMP 18.49

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 529.18

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH 8' CLOSET POLE/FLAG FOR ELECTIONS 24.98
PRINTING SYSTEMS, INC. ID CARDS NEW PCT & POLLING LOCAT 612.00
PRINTING SYSTEMS, INC. 500 AV INSIDE ENVELOPES & FREIGHT 62.48
EXTEND YOUR REACH 945-0000158200 MAIL SERVICES FEES 349.14
U-HAUL U-HAUL FOR 3/8/16 ELECTION 57.02
U-HAUL U-HAUL FOR 3/8/16 ELE4CTION 46.99

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 1,152.61

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 2,681.40
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 166.87
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 60.34
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 65.50
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 3/1-15/2016 24.29
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM/POWERS 11.69
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 2 CENTER PULLDOWN DISPENSERS 18.92
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. WORK AT ICSD 1,344.00
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. NOISY HEATING UNIT/ICSD 605.00
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. LIBRARY ERU - NEW BEARING 2,082.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 975.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 49.98
CCI SOUTH, LLC PROGRAM NEW EXTENSION 145.50
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2074 AURELIUS 348.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2004 AURELIUS 104.50
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2074 AURELIUS 5,807.06
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 4149 WILLOUGHBY 77.62
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2074 AURELIUS 1,515.74
ACE HARDWARE COUPLING/HEX NIPPLE/HOSE 24.97
ACE HARDWARE 12 MISC. MDSE./3 KEYS 17.85
ACE HARDWARE CONTACT CEMENT/GORILLA GLUE 19.93
ACE HARDWARE 3 LIQUID DRAIN CLEANERS 26.97
ACE HARDWARE 12 PK AAA BATTERIES/CSC CLOCKS 9.99
ACE HARDWARE 12 PK AAA BATTERIES/STREETLIGHT 9.99



ACE HARDWARE 2 SPADE SHOVELS/4 RAKES/CEMETERY 121.94
MICHIGAN PLUMBING REPAIR DRAIN/FIRE DEPT 450.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT BATTERIES FOR CLOCKS & DOORS 107.84
THE PARTS PLACE STARTER/#46 122.08
SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY 3 MOLE BAIT/CEMETERY 156.12

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 17,151.49

Dept 281.00 STORMWATER
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 1,328.40
INGHAM COUNTY HEALTH DEP 2016 SURFACE WATER SAMPLING 2,442.00
FREDRICKSON SUPPLY, LLC CYLINDER SEAL KIT 151.00
FREDRICKSON SUPPLY, LLC DUMP BOX SEAL 305.00
FREDRICKSON SUPPLY, LLC RUBBER ADHESIVE 52.00
FREDRICKSON SUPPLY, LLC FREIGHT 33.34

Total For Dept 281.00 STORMWATER 4,311.74

Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT STREETLIGHTS 8,012.75
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 2116 CEDAR 344.63
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 2228 AURELIUS 148.23
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 3970 HOLT 131.62
CONSUMERS ENERGY LIGHTING 4115 HOLT 233.25
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RAM TRAIL PHASE II PLANS & SPEC 2,552.13
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RAM TRAIL CONST ENGIN SERVICES 2,822.85

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 14,245.46

Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 5,614.06
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 606.54
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 147.03
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 218.71
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS STAMP 27.06
ACE HARDWARE MAGLITE 25.99
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 3/1-15/2016 76.11
MICHIGAN ECONOMIC DEV 2016 MEDA MEMBERSHIPS DUES 270.00
MC KENNA ASSOCIATES, INC CEDAR ST CORRIDOR PLAN/FEBRUARY 6,320.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 278.51
DENNIS L LARNER 3/10-11/2016 MILEAGE/LARNER 165.24
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4556 GROVE AVE 15.15
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/#58 31.00
CANON FINANCIAL SERVICES CANON COPIER LEASE 798.35

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 14,593.75

Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 2,932.74
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 343.95
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 112.20
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 167.53
HOLT PUBLIC SCHOOLS VOLLEYBALL SIGNUP FLYERS 48.50
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 100.52

Total For Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION 3,705.44



Dept 771.00 PARKS
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 3/1-15/2016 397.79
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM PANTS 14.48
AMERICAN RENTALS, INC. PORTABLE TOILETS 145.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SENIOR CENTER 260.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 4030 KELLER 10.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1750 MAPLE 15.15
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2108 CEDAR 174.20
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2287 PINE TREE 48.48
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4030 KELLER 37.88
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1750 MAPLE 22.71
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2177 WEST BLVD 22.71
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 4080 KELLER 66.57
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 2939 34.67
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 3200 197.48
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2074 AURELIUS #PARK 909.78
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2108 CEDAR 956.71
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2108 CEDAR 27.78
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2287 PINE TREE 2939 203.46
ACE HARDWARE 2 NAILS/CSC ROOF 3.98
ACE HARDWARE TAP PLUG/5 NUMBER KITS/MOWER 24.94
ACE HARDWARE DRAIN PLUG SNAP LOCK/GARDEN HOSE 14.98
DEWITT FENCE COMPANY REPAIR CHAIN LINK FENCE AT KIWANIS 1,000.00
HAMMOND FARMS SOUTH 3 YDS TOP SOIL/CEMETERY 60.00
POLETECH CO, INC REPLACE TRAIL BANNER POLES 1,755.00
D & G EQUIPMENT INC PARTS FOR MOWERS & GATORS 1,128.07
D & G EQUIPMENT INC V-BELT/JOHN DEERE GATOR 55.98
SUPERIOR SAW PARTS/EDGER BLADES/SPOOL 372.88
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR 16' LANDSCAPE TRAILER 230.90
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR TO 20' TRAILER 35.00
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR DUMP TRAILER 180.80
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY WIRING LABOR & SAFETY HITCH PIN/ 41.25
THE PARTS PLACE 2 HYD FLUID FOR 4100 MOWER 83.98
THE PARTS PLACE OIL FILTER FOR 4100 MOWER 3.27
H & H WELDING & REPAIR LLC REPAIR AXLE/#45 75.00
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR WIRING HARNESS/#50 96.95
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR TO TRUCK #42 35.00
COMPLETE HITCH COMPANY REPAIR LIGHTS & LIGHTS & WIRING #42 40.00
ALTA DECORATIVE CONCRETE REFURBISH OF CONCRETE/VETERANS 4,000.00

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 12,782.83

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
DANIEL A. DUMENEY OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 125.00
GERARD T. HOWLEY OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 50.00
TIMOTHY O TILMA OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 50.00
ZACH VANLIEW OFFICIAL BASKETBALL 75.00

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 300.00

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 32.40
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 6,669.90
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 146.11
EXTEND YOUR REACH 947-0000158199 MAIL SERVICE FEES 25.16
EXTEND YOUR REACH 947-0000158202 MAIL SERVICE FEES 463.35



EXTEND YOUR REACH 3920-0000157941 MAIL SERVICE FEES 1.63
EXTEND YOUR REACH 3924-0000157945 MAIL SERVICE FEES 38.51
EXTEND YOUR REACH 943-0000158198 MAIL SERVICE FEES 8.07
ALL TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS SPEED RADAR SIGNS 9,898.00
ALL TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS SHIPPING 100.00
RICOH USA, INC PRINCIPAL COPY MACHINE LEASE 150.89
RICOH USA, INC INTEREST COPY MACHINE LEASE 56.73

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 17,590.75

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 110,326.29

Fund 206 FIRE FUND
Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 4.05
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 945.94
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 7,499.38
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 1,615.08
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 251.76
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE APRIL 555.68
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM CLEANING FOR FIREFIGHTERS 165.20
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 3/1-15/2016 443.96
LANSING UNIFORM CO 2 BADGE HAT CAPTAIN HAT BADGE 160.00
LANSING UNIFORM CO ALTERATIONS CHANGE PATCHES/LOVE 7.50
LANSING UNIFORM CO SHIRTS/PANTS/BELT/PORCELLO 513.60
LANSING UNIFORM CO ALTERATIONS CHANGE PATCHES 15.00
LANSING UNIFORM CO BOOTS & JACKET/PORCELLO 264.00
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 799.08
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 13.51
LIFEGAS LLC OXYGEN AND OXYGEN TANK RENTAL 137.50
MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY MISC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 380.46
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE 1,475.00
RAFT 2016 MEMBERSHIP DUES 1,400.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 1,391.63
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 6139 BISHOP 37.88
ACE HARDWARE PUSH BROOM/THREADED HANDLE/21 29.48
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT CLOREX BLEACH 37.88
RAFT CERTIFICATION BLUE CARD CLASSES 6,000.00

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 24,143.57

Total For Fund 206 FIRE FUND 24,143.57

Fund 207 POLICE FUND
Dept 301.00 POLICE
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER POLICE CONTRACT MARCH 213,942.75

Total For Dept 301.00 POLICE 213,942.75

Total For Fund 207 POLICE FUND 213,942.75

Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
FIRST DUE FIRE SUPPLY CO. 1 PR FIREFIGHTING BOOTS 383.00
HARRIS CORPORATION 2 CABLE ASSEMBLY/FREIGHT 374.84
BOYNTON FIRE SAFETY SERVICES, RECHARGE & REPAIR FIRE EXTINGUISH 57.00



ACE HARDWARE 4 MISC. MDSE./SIREN 5.80
ACE HARDWARE 4 FLUR BULBS/#212 17.96
SAFETY SERVICES, INC SENSOR & LABOR/GAS MONITOR 269.12
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF & CHECK COMPLETE VEHICLE/#409 183.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/SERPENTINE BELT/VALVE COVER 415.00
LAFONTAINE FORD, INC PARTS & LABOR TRANSMISSION REPAIR 1,464.35
R & R FIRE TRUCK REPAIR INC 2 BATTERIES/TRAVEL/LABOR/#383 828.34
LANSING AREA SAFETY COUNCIL YANZ/FA CERTIFICATION 95.00
LANSING AREA SAFETY COUNCIL BALDWIN/FA CERTIFICATION 95.00
LANSING AREA SAFETY COUNCIL BUTCHER/FA CERTIFICATION 95.00

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 4,283.41

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 4,283.41

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ASK TOTAL CARE 118.00

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 118.00

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS FEBRUARY OUR TOWN ACCOUNT MANAGE 1,000.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT WATER/COFFEE/TRASH LINERS 33.33
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS FEBRUARY WEB MAINT & HOSTING 427.50

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 1,460.83

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE, LLCCLEANING SERVICES/SHERIFF & DDA 420.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2045 CEDAR 57.55
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2150 CEDAR 27.33
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2150 CEDAR 227.36
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #A 982.68
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #B 116.59
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2045 CEDAR 196.09
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2150 CEDAR 152.95

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 2,180.55

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 3,759.38

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
ANDERSON, MERLE Basic Service Charge 10.21
BALDWIN, DOROTHY Basic Service Charge 58.70
BRENNER, TIM Basic Service Charge 24.95
FARNER, JAMIE Basic Service Charge 19.25
GIBSON, TARSHA Basic Service Charge 14.05
JONES, CHRIS & ERIN Basic Service Charge 23.42
MASON, VICKI Basic Service Charge 14.05
MCCONNON, JARED Basic Service Charge 43.85
SONNENBERG, EDWARD Basic Service Charge 14.60
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 102.13

Total For Dept 000.00 325.21



Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 16.20
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 2,439.70
EXTEND YOUR REACH 949-0000158204 MAIL SERVICES FEES 73.95
MWEA 2016 MWEA MEMBERSHIP/ELSINGA 70.00

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 2,599.85

Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD HEALTH INSURANCE APRIL 10,641.59
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE APRIL 1,513.95
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE APRIL 361.66
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO DISABILITY INSURANCE AORIL 539.55
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE 3/1-15/2016 370.44
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 47.54
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MAINTENANCE 45.11
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/POTW 67.54
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS/MAINTENANCE 45.11
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM DRY CLEANING 57.05
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO ADOBE ACROBAT 2015/BRYANT 299.00
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KO COMPUTER EXPENSES 2,613.00
AIRGAS USA, LLC CYLINDER RENTAL & HAZMAT 137.02
MICHIGAN SURVEYORS SUPPLY MEASURING ROD 121.95
KEMIRA WATER SOLUTIONS, INC FERRIC CHLORIDE 5,062.97
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SAW GRANT ADMINISTRATION 11,884.86
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC LANSING GAS STATION/CONVENIENCE 57.75
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC PINE TREE LIFT STATION SS CAPACITY 5,350.35
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC GENERAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 1,345.80
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SEWER LEAD INSPECTIONS 646.20
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR MARCH 607.93
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1492 AURELIUS 78.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1988 WAVERLY 180.94
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1490 AURELIUS 174.20
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2358 EIFERT 503.43
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2870 PINE TREE 647.48
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3505 HOLT 116.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5999 HOLT 105.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-6055 MC CUE 534.30
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4280 DELL 538.68
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4828 HOLT 177.02
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2509 16,642.91
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1494 AURELIUS 84.95
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1390 WAVERLY 369.70
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1490 AURELIUS 1,860.44
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1490 AURELIUS 420.90
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUS 308.66
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2 19.55
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #3 127.09
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2319 2,136.33
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-4280 DELL 86.53
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 5961 MC CUE #4 1,082.96
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 1494 AURELIUS 261.64
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-3505 HOLT 34.25
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2481 DELHI COMM 28.37
HAMMOND FARMS SOUTH 4 YDS BLACK MULCH 107.00



HAMMOND FARMS SOUTH 4 YDS BLACK MULCH 107.00
HAMMOND FARMS SOUTH 30 YDS BLACK  MULCH 802.50
HAMMOND FARMS SOUTH DELIVERY CHARGE 45.00
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES 4 BEDDING MULCH 132.92
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN AND TREE SERVICE-LIFT STATION 79.00
ACE HARDWARE EYE BOLT/4 HOSE CLAMPS/CLAMP/ 52.55
YELLOW SPRINGS INSTRUMENT ORP ELECTRODE 109 125Y 422.00
YELLOW SPRINGS INSTRUMENT SHIPPING 8.43
BOBCAT OF LANSING CREDIT (179.00)
BOBCAT OF LANSING 2 CABLES & DUST CAP KIT/PLOW 104.53
BOBCAT OF LANSING HEADLIGHT/BOSS PLOW #6 200.92
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES WIRE CONNECTORS 9.75
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 12 GE MCC PANEL LIGHT COVERS 108.00
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. EVEREX BOILER INSPECTION 968.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/MAINTENANCE 260.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/POTW 260.00
WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS INSPECT BLOCK HEATER/POTW PONDS 137.50
WOLVERINE POWER SYSTEMS CREDIT (80.00)
OVERHEAD DOOR CO INSTALL GATE RECEIVER/POTW PONDS 480.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/LABOR TO TIGHTEN REAR LEAF 75.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/#4 35.00
THE PARTS PLACE HALOGEN LIGHT.#25 10.56
INGHAM COUNTY HEALTH DEP TFE PERMIT/POTW OPENHOUSE 195.00

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 72,678.08

Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC EIFERT RD FORCE MAIN RELOCATION 782.40
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC CARTAGO DR LOW PRESSURE SEWER 1,456.92

Total For Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 2,239.32

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 77,842.46

Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND
Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION
DLZ 1600/1654 CEDAR/PARK DESIGN 5,400.00
TRITERRA 2230 CEDAR PHASE 1 ENVIRONMENTAL 1,900.00

Total For Dept 735.00 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION 7,300.00

Total For Fund 643 LOCAL SITE REMEDIATION REVOLVING FUND 7,300.00

Total For All Funds: 441,597.86



C:\Users\tricia.DELHITOWNSHIP\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\9G3XPE7C\PAYROLL APPROVAL

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FUND TRANSFERS AND PAYROLL APPROVAL

                                                             For Payroll Dated March 10, 2016

I.   Certification of Preparation and Distribution

The Treasurer's & Clerk's signatures were printed on the payroll checks using an electronic image signature

___________________________________
Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

Dated: March 10, 2016 Director of Accounting

II.  Payroll Report
The March 10, 2016 payroll encompasses the following funds and  expenditures:

Gross Payroll Net
Payroll Deductions Pay

General Fund $72,471.15 $22,083.93 $50,387.22
Fire Dept. Fund 53,364.69 17,577.71 $35,786.98
DDA 2,608.72 650.49 $1,958.23
Sewer Fund/Receiving 38,623.17 12,548.11 $26,075.06
Total Payroll $167,067.73 $52,860.24 $114,207.49

Township Township RHS & Total Deductions
FICA Pension Plan & TWP Liabilities

General Fund $5,256.59 $6,101.96 $33,442.48
Fire Dept. Fund 3,953.01 4,182.64 25,713.36
DDA 140.83 28.42 819.74
Sewer Fund/Receiving 2,847.76 4,324.48 19,720.35
     Total Payroll $12,198.19 $14,637.50 $79,695.93

Director of Accounting

III.  FUND TRANSFERS
Transfers covering the foregoing payroll were made on March 10, 2016 and identified as follows: 

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV.  Board Audit and Approval:

 
Attachment to Payroll Register

cc: Sweet(1)Vander Ploeg(1) Evan Hope, Clerk

At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on April 5, 2016, a motion was made by _________________and passed 
by_________________yes votes and ________no votes(__________absent) that the payroll dated March 10, 2016 was 
reviewed, audited, and approved.

The attached check and payroll registers encompass check numbers: 108730  through 108751 & direct deposits numbers: 
DD22027 through DD22101.  The payroll was prepared in accordance with established payroll rates and procedures.

3/10 Net Pay Disbursement in Common Savings ($114,207.49)                                  

The attached Check and Payroll Registers were reviewed.  The payroll checks were distributed in accordance with established 
procedures.



U:\Tricia\Board Agendas\2016 Agenda Packets\4-5\PAYROLL APPROVAL

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FUND TRANSFERS AND PAYROLL APPROVAL

                                                             For Payroll Dated March 24, 2016

I.   Certification of Preparation and Distribution

The Treasurer's & Clerk's signatures were printed on the payroll checks using an electronic image signature

___________________________________
Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

Dated: March 24, 2016 Director of Accounting

II.  Payroll Report
The March 24, 2016 payroll encompasses the following funds and  expenditures:

Gross Payroll Net
Payroll Deductions Pay

General Fund $86,684.42 $22,483.38 $64,201.04
Fire Dept. Fund 50,399.46 16,216.78 $34,182.68
DDA 2,745.35 665.28 $2,080.07
Sewer Fund/Receiving 35,406.48 11,909.93 $23,496.55
Total Payroll $175,235.71 $51,275.37 $123,960.34

Township Township RHS & Total Deductions
FICA Pension Plan & TWP Liabilities

General Fund $5,098.97 $6,308.58 $33,890.93
Fire Dept. Fund 3,731.15 4,147.57 24,095.50
DDA 152.17 27.99 845.44
Sewer Fund/Receiving 2,601.71 4,160.35 18,671.99
     Total Payroll $11,584.00 $14,644.49 $77,503.86

Director of Accounting

III.  FUND TRANSFERS
Transfers covering the foregoing payroll were made on March 24, 2016 and identified as follows: 

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV.  Board Audit and Approval:

 
Attachment to Payroll Register

cc: Sweet(1)Vander Ploeg(1) Evan Hope, Clerk

At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on April 5, 2016, a motion was made by _________________and passed 
by_________________yes votes and ________no votes(__________absent) that the payroll dated March 24, 2016 was 
reviewed, audited, and approved.

The attached check and payroll registers encompass check numbers: 108754  through 108853 & direct deposits numbers: 
DD22102 through DD22179.  The payroll was prepared in accordance with established payroll rates and procedures.

3/24 Net Pay Disbursement in Common Savings ($123,960.34)                                  

The attached Check and Payroll Registers were reviewed.  The payroll checks were distributed in accordance with established 
procedures.



 
Evan Hope ,  CMC 

Delhi Charter Township Clerk 
Michigan’s Township Clerk of the Year, 2007 
Past President, MI Association of Municipal Clerks 

 
2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, Michigan 48842 - Phone:  (517) 694-2135 Fax: (517) 699-3881 

 

www.delhitownship.com - evan.hope@delhitownship.com 

 

 

 

 

 
 
TO:  TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES, 
  JOHN ELSINGA, TOWNSHIP MANAGER 
 
FROM:  EVAN HOPE, CMC 
  TOWNSHIP CLERK 
 
DATE:  MARCH 3, 2016 
 
RE:  CHANGE MAY 3, 2016 TWP. BOARD MEETINGS 
 

Due to the Special Election on Tuesday, May 3, 2016, it is recommended that the May 3, 2016 
Committee of the Whole and Township Board meetings be changed to Wednesday, May 4, 
2016 at 6:30 p.m. and 7:30 p.m. 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
To reschedule the May 3, 2016 Township Board meetings to Wednesday, May 4, 2016 due to 
the Special Election on May 3, 2016. 
 



Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 25, 2016 
 
RE:  Holt Road Improvement Project – Request for Support 
 
As you are aware, the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) is in the process of finalizing the 
design and bidding process for improvements to Holt Road between Heatherton and 
Grovenburg Roads.  This project will occur this summer and will result in a more efficient and 
safer roadway.  Improvements will also include upgrading the intersections so that they 
function better for both drivers and pedestrians.   
 
The improvement will include the conversion of road sections that are currently 4-lanes wide to 
a 3-lane profile.  The 3-lane profile will include a center lane that is available exclusively for 
traffic that is turning left from either the east bound or west bound directions.  This also 
provides separation between the travel lanes and the shoulder of the road, sidewalks or 
pathways, which further increases safety.  There are existing examples in Delhi Township of the 
3-lane profile.  The most notable is probably Aurelius Road between Holt and Willoughby 
Roads. 
 
The use of the 3-lane profiles on roads like Holt Road is very common throughout the nation 
and State of Michigan.  Where these conversations have occurred there has been a 
documented increase in safety and very little adverse impact to traffic flow.  In fact, reported 
crash reductions between 10% and 50% per corridor are the norm.  The injury rate for older 
drivers and pedestrians is also reduced by 37%, with drivers in other age groups realizing a 
reduction in the injury rate of 26% (source: MDOT, Operations Manual, 7-30-09).   This is 
important when one considers the land uses along Holt Road which include the schools, a large 
senior population and many walkers. 
 
The 3-lane profile also provides an opportunity for the construction of bike lanes and/or the 
offset of pedestrian facilities from travel lanes.  This separation results in greater safety for 
drivers and pedestrians.  This is particularly important on Holt Road since it is used to access the 
school campus at Holt and Kahres Roads.  Also, the Holt Road improvement project will include 
the construction of sidewalk on the north side of the road between Eifert and Heatherton 
Roads, an improvement that has been a community priority for some time. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

The Holt Road improvement project has been discussed several times at past Board meetings. 
The community appears to be looking forward to the improvements and the school district’s 
superintendant is eager for the intersection upgrade at Holt and Kahres Roads.  However, the 
ICRD requires that the Township Board pass a resolution supporting the project and the 
conversion to 3-lanes before the project can begin.  I have attached a draft resolution that can 
be used for this purpose.   
 
Please forward the attached, along with your concurrence, to the Township Board for their 
action at the April 5th meeting.  If you have any questions, or need additional information, 
please do not hesitate to ask.  Thank you! 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To adopt Resolution No. 2016-002 which supports the Ingham County Road 
Department’s plan for road improvements on Holt Road. 
 
 
 



Resolution No. 2016-002 
April 5, 2016 

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-002 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CONVERSION OF SECTIONS OF HOLT ROAD TO 3-LANES BY 
THE INGHAM COUNTY ROAD DEPARTMENT AS PART OF PLANNED IMPROVEMENTS TO HOLT 

ROAD IN 2016 
 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of Trustees of the Charter township of Delhi, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
Michigan 48842 on Tuesday, the 5th day of April, 2016, at 7:30 p.m. 
  
 PRESENT: 
 
 ABSENT: 
 
 The following resolution was offered by ___________: 
 
WHEREAS, the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) plans to undertake improvements to 
Holt Road; and 
 
WHEREAS, the improvement plan includes the conversation of sections of Holt Road which 
currently have 4-lanes to a 3-lane profile; and 
 
WHEREAS, the improvements will also include enhancements to intersections, signals, 
pedestrian and other road facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the conversation to 3-lanes is anticipated to result in significantly safer driving 
conditions and better traffic circulation; and 
 
WHEREAS, Delhi Township has adopted a Complete Streets Ordinance that requires the 
incorporation of non-motorized improvements when they are feasible as a part of all road 
improvement projects, and 
 
WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the 3-lane profile will also result in better facilities for 
pedestrians and cyclists; and 
 



Resolution No. 2016-002 
April 5, 2016 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has been asked to provide its support for the planned 3-lane 
profile along Holt Road within the limits of the ICRD’s project area. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Delhi Charter Township Board hereby supports the 
conversation of sections of Holt Road from a 4-lane to a 3-lane profile for the reasons stated 
herein and urges the Ingham County Road Department to move forward with the same during 
their upcoming road improvement project. 
 
Ayes: 
Nays: 
Absent: 
 
This Resolution declared adopted this 5th day of April, 2016. 
 
 

___________________________ 
Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
Charter Township of Delhi 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN  } 
   } ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM } 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified Clerk for the Charter Township of Delhi, Ingham 
County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the 
proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on the 5th day of April, 
2016.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signatures this ____ day of 
April, 2016. 
 

___________________________ 
Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
Charter Township of Delhi 



Tracy
Text Box
Note: Holt Rd. has less than 15,000 ADT, some info included in this memo is relevant only to projects on roads more traffic.













Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 26, 2016 
 
RE: SUP #16-279, 1018 Hogsback Road  
  Contractor’s Office - Laux Construction 
 
At their meeting on March 28th, the Planning Commission (PC) voted to recommend approval 
of a Special Use Permit (SUP) for a Contractor’s Office on property located at 1018 Hogsback 
Road.  The requested SUP is pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19) of the Zoning Ordinance (ZO), which 
provides for Contractor’s offices in the A-1: Agricultural zoning district with an approved SUP.  
The ZO stipulates that this land use can only be permitted when there is no retail activity 
associated with use and when equipment (not licensed on-road vehicles) is stored inside a fully 
enclosed building.    
 
Laux has a purchase agreement for the approximately 8 acre property that is located in the 
northeast corner of Cedar (Hogsback) and Harper Roads.  The property is currently vacant and 
wooded.  There are a large number of pine trees that were previously planted on it.  
 
The applicant proposes to implement his project in two phases. The first phase would include 
the construction of a storage building and fenced area for vehicles and utility trailers. This 
building would be located near the center of the property and not be very visible from adjacent 
properties or roadways.  The second phase would include construction of an office building for 
use by Laux. This building would be located closer to Harper Road.  As you know, the SUP only 
authorizes the land use, which in this case is a Contractor’s Office.  Prior to construction a site 
plan will also have to be submitted for review and approval by the PC.  During this phase, 
development details such as parking layouts, driveway locations and landscape requirements 
will be addressed. 
 
The PC held a public hearing on this request at the March 28th meeting.  There were several 
individuals that spoke about the proposal.  An excerpt from the draft meeting minutes is 
attached for your review and consideration.   
 
The SUP, as recommended by the PC, includes six conditions that will help to ensure that the 
intent of the ZO is achieved and that the use is an asset to the area.  The PC passed the 
following motion: 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Leaf moved, Goodall seconded, to recommend to the Township Board approval of SUP #16-279 for a 
Contractor’s Office in the A-1: Agricultural Zoning District pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19) of the Zoning 
Ordinance for property located at 1018 Hogsback Road (Parcel #33-25-05-25-453-004).  The following 
conditions to apply: 
1. Any future construction activities must comply with the requirements of Section 3.3 “Site Plan Review” 

of the ZO. 
 

2. No retail sales activity is permitted, pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

3. All construction materials must be kept inside a fully enclosed building, pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

4. Only passenger vehicles and standard utility trailers/vehicles licensed for over the road use are 
permitted to be parked outside of a fully enclosed building.  The parking of semi-trailers is not 
permitted.  All parking shall only occur on hard-surfaced areas and comply with the requirements of 
Section 7.1.13 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
  

5. The equipment storage area fence shall either be opaque or pine trees shall be planted around the 
exterior of the storage area in a manner that provides visual screening. 
   

6. The existing tree line, as shown in Figure 6 of the staff report for SUP#16-279 with a date of March 21, 
2016, shall be maintained and preserved to provide a buffer and visual screen between this use and 
adjacent properties. 
 

The Planning Commission has received the “Basis for Determination for Granting a Special Use Permit” and 
has found that the general and specific standards outlined in Section 8.1.3 have been satisfied and that 
those findings are accurately reflected in the document entitled “Basis for Determination for SUP#16-279” 
dated March 21, 2016 and it is fully incorporated into this motion and the official meeting minutes. 

 
Discussion: None. 
 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:     Craig, Leaf, O'Hara, Olson, Goodall, Zietlow 
Nays:     Harmon, 
Absent:   Berry-Smokoski, Lincoln 
Abstain: None 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
A copy of the staff report has been attached for your information.  As always, if you have any 
additional questions or need more information please do not hesitate to ask.  Otherwise, please 
forward this information, along with your concurrence, to the Township Board for their 
consideration and action at the upcoming April 5th meeting.  Thank you in advance for your 
time and attention to this matter.  
 
 
 
Recommended Motion on Next Page. 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Recommended Motion to APPROVE: 
 
To adopt Special Use Permit No. 16-279 for Laux Construction LLC, 1018 
Hogsback Road, Tax Parcel# 33-25-05-25-453-004, to permit a Contractor’s 
Office, as recommended by the Planning Commission at their March 28, 2016 
meeting. 
 
 

-OR- 
 
 
Recommended Motion to DENY: 
 
To deny Special Use Permit No. 16-279 for Laux Construction LLC, 1018 
Hogsback Road, Tax Parcel# 33-25-05-25-453-004 



1 
 

DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT NO. 16-279 

 
APPLICANT:   
 

DAVID LAUX, LAUX CONSTRUCTION LLC 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT ADDRESS:   1018 HOGSBACK ROAD 
33-25-05-25-453-004 
 

DATE ADOPTED:   
 

APRIL 5, 2016 

PURPOSE: PERMIT A CONTRACTOR’S OFFICE PURSUANT TO SECTION 
5.21.4(19) OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE IN THE A-1: 
AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 
 

CONDITIONS:  
   

1. Any future construction activities must comply with the requirements of Section 3.3 “Site 
Plan Review” of the ZO. 
 

2. No retail sales activity is permitted, pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

3. All construction materials must be kept inside a fully enclosed building, pursuant to 
Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

4. Only passenger vehicles and standard utility trailers/vehicles licensed for over the road 
use are permitted to be parked outside of a fully enclosed building.  The parking of semi-
trailers is not permitted.  All parking shall only occur only on hard-surfaced areas and 
comply with the requirements of Section 7.1.13 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
  

5. The equipment storage area fence shall either be opaque or pine trees shall be planted 
around the exterior of the storage area in a manner that provides visual screening. 
   

6. The existing tree line, as shown in Figure 6 of the staff report for SUP#16-279 with a date 
of March 21, 2016, shall be maintained and preserved to provide a buffer and visual 
screen between this use and adjacent properties. 

 
BASIS OF DETERMINATION:  Pursuant to the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, Act 110 of 2006, as 
amended, Section 125.3504 (4), conditions imposed by this Special Use Permit are: 
 
(1) Reasonable conditions may be required with the approval of a special land use, planned unit 
development, or other land uses or activities permitted by discretionary decision. The conditions 
may include conditions necessary to insure that public services and facilities affected by a 
proposed land use or activity will be capable of accommodating increased service and facility loads 



2 
 

caused by the land use or activity, to protect the natural environment and conserve natural 
resources and energy, to insure compatibility with adjacent uses of land, and to promote the use 
of land in a socially and economically desirable manner. Conditions imposed meet all of the 
following requirements: 
 

(a) Are designed to protect natural resources, the health, safety, and welfare, as well as 
the social and economic well-being, of those who will use the land use or activity under 
consideration, residents and landowners immediately adjacent to the proposed land use 
or activity, and the community as a whole, and 
 
(b) Are related to the valid exercise of the police power and purposes which are affected 
by the proposed use or activity, and 
 
(c) Are necessary to meet the intent and purpose of the zoning requirements, are related 
to the standards established in the Zoning Ordinance for the land use or activity under 
consideration, and are necessary to insure compliance with those standards, and 

 
(2) The conditions imposed with respect to the approval of a land use or activity is recorded in the 
record of the approval action and remain unchanged except upon the mutual consent of the 
approving authority and the landowner. 
 
The foregoing Special Use Permit declared adopted on date written above. 
 

__________________________ 
  Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
STATE OF MICHIGAN) 
       )ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified Clerk of the Charter Township of Delhi, Ingham 
County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the 
proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on the 5TH day of April, 2016. 

 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature this _____ day of 

April, 2016.        
 

     __________________________ 
 Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
In most cases, Special Use Permits shall be assignable from one party to another, provided, however, that the site, 
location, and any other restrictions placed on the original Special Use Permit do not change.  Assignability of said permit 
shall be subject to the following requirements and conditions: 
 

1. Prior to reassignment of the Special Use Permit to any owner, lessee occupant, or operator, the current permit 
holder shall notify the Delhi Township Zoning Administrator of his/her intention to assign the permit to a third 
party. 
 



3 
 

2. The assignee of the permit shall complete the appropriate application for continued use of the permitted 
operation. 
 

3. The assignee of the permit shall meet with the Zoning Administrator in an effort to become familiar with all 
existing requirements of the Special Use Permit.  Unless provided elsewhere in Zoning Ordinance No. 39, the 
new assignee must comply with all Special Use Permit requirements of the current permit holder. 

 
Approved uses, except seasonal uses, which cease for a period of 180 days are hereby considered abandoned and any 
such abandonment shall render the Special Use Permit null and void.  Seasonal uses which cease for a period of one (1) 
year must meet the requirements of Zoning Ordinance No. 39 and will require a new Special Use Permit as required in 
Section 8.1 of the Ordinance.  Seasonal uses shall be defined as uses that require or are affected or caused by certain 
weather availability. 



EXCERPT FROM DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION MARCH 28, 2016 

 
Public Hearing for SUP No.16-279, 1018 Hogsback, Laux Construction, 33-25-05-25-453-
004 
 
Ms. Miller reviewed the staff report for the Laux Construction Special Use Permit. The applicant 
is requesting the SUP for a Contractor’s Office. Mr. Laux’s application states that he proposing 
to consolidate all of the company’s operations at the proposed site. The applicant anticipates 
that his development of the site would occur in two phases, starting with the construction of a 
storage building and later the construction of an office building. 
 
Mr. David Laux, representing Laux Construction, was present.   
 
 
 
Don Leaf asked if there is any concern about the neighboring properties being residential. Ms. 
Miller explained that the Zoning Ordinance does not require any buffer between A-1 and the 
other residential zoning districts. However, a SUP provides the Township with the opportunity to 
place conditions on the land use that will address this, and other, potential concerns. .  Staff has 
recommended that a condition be placed on the SUP, if approved that would protect the 
vegetative buffer along the property’s edges and screen the fenced storage area. 
 
Tonia Olson requested that the applicant list the type of vehicles that would be accessing the 
site. Mr. Laux stated that vehicles would typically include pickup trucks and trailers. None of 
these vehicles have back up alarms. These vehicles would come and go from the business an 
average of 2 to 3 times per week. Mr. Laux explained that there would also be the occasional 
delivery from lumber yards, UPS, etc.   
 
Public Hearing opened @ 6:45pm 
Shirley Grieve, 1028 Hogsback Road, Mason, owns the property next door to subject site. She 
stated that she believes that other businesses were turned down for using this site. She stated 
that she did not understand why the applicant wanted to use this property when there are plenty 
of other properties on Cedar Street that are available. She stated that the pines that were 
planted there are just now growing, there was a daycare nearby, and that she felt the proposed 
building would be very close to a neighbor’s patio on Harper Road. Ms. Grieve stated that she 
does not want this to contribute to Hogsback Road being closed. She stated that it is her belief 
that the Township already pays Mason to plow the Street and that she does not want a 
construction company next door.  
 
Ben Miller, 3614 Harper Road, Mason, stated that he lives approximately 100 feet away from 
the subject site. He stated that he feels having a business there would increase traffic. His wife 
runs a daycare from their residence and the traffic is a concern for her business. He stated that 
he was opposed to a business on this parcel because it is zoned agricultural. He is concerned 
about deliveries to the business, clearing the land, and he believes that there are other sites for 
this business.  
 
Christine Lonski, 3633 Harper Road, Mason, owns a duplex at Harper and Hogsback. She 
stated that she is concerned about the possibility of two driveways because of traffic. She stated 
that this concern is selfish in nature because she relies upon the rental income she derives from 
the duplex.  She stated that her current tenants like the rural atmosphere. 
 



EXCERPT FROM DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION MARCH 28, 2016 

 
Michael VanHuysse, 3679 Fernwood Lane, Mason, stated that he is the head The Gardens 
Homeowners Association. He wanted to know if they planned on the tree line and the brush 
remaining on the site. Mr. Laux responded that it would remain.  
 
Brian Stevey of Laux Construction spoke and addressed several of the questions that were 
raised. He stated that there would be no driveway access on Harper Road and that the tree 
removals would be minimal. Most of the trees would be relocated. There would be no semi-
trucks routinely on this site and no excavators used on this site after construction was 
completed. Vehicles would be pickup trucks and trailers, and most commonly personal vehicles 
belonging to employees. This would not be lumber yard and there would be no retail activities. 
 
Francisco Garcia, 3669 Fernwood Lane, Mason, stated that his backyard would face the 
proposed site. He wanted to know if additional expansion would be permitted. Tracy Miller 
stated that they could expand in the future. However, expansions would be regulated by Section 
3.3 of the Zoning Ordinance which pertains to site plan review.  The conditions placed on the 
SUP would continue to govern any future development. 
  
Public Hearing closed @ 7:07pm 
 
Leaf moved, seconded by Goodall to recommend to the Township Board approval of SUP 
#16-279 for a Contractor’s Office in the A-1: Agricultural Zoning District pursuant to Section 
5.21.4(19) of the Zoning Ordinance for property located at 1018 Hogsback Road (Parcel #33-
25-05-25-453-004).  The following conditions to apply: 

1. Any future construction activities must comply with the requirements of Section 3.3 
“Site Plan Review” of the ZO. 
 

2. No retail sales activity is permitted, pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

3. All construction materials must be kept inside a fully enclosed building, pursuant to 
Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

4. Only passenger vehicles and standard utility trailers/vehicles licensed for over the 
road use are permitted to be parked outside of a fully enclosed building.  The parking 
of semi-trailers is not permitted.  All parking shall only occur on hard-surfaced areas 
and comply with the requirements of Section 7.1.13 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
  

5. The equipment storage area fence shall either be opaque or pine trees shall be 
planted around the exterior of the storage area in a manner that provides visual 
screening. 
   

6. The existing tree line, as shown in Figure 6 of the staff report for SUP#16-279 with a 
date of March 21, 2016, shall be maintained and preserved to provide a buffer and 
visual screen between this use and adjacent properties. 

 
The Planning Commission has received the “Basis for Determination for Granting a Special 
Use Permit” and has found that the general and specific standards outlined in Section 8.1.3 



EXCERPT FROM DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION MARCH 28, 2016 

 
have been satisfied and that those findings are accurately reflected in the document entitled 
“Basis for Determination for SUP#16-279” dated March 21, 2016 and it is fully incorporated 
into this motion and the official meeting minutes. 
 
 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Craig, Goodall, O'Hara, Olson, Zietlow, Leaf 
Nays:  Harmon 
Absent: Berry, Lincoln 
Abstain: None 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT   
SPECIAL USE PERMIT #16-279, 1018 Hogsback Road 
March 21, 2016    

               Tracy LC Miller, Director 
                         Community Development Department 

 
PROPOSED USE:   
The applicant has requested a Special Use 
Permit (SUP) to allow the operation of a 
Contractor’s Office within the A-1: 
Agricultural zoning district pursuant to 
Section 5.21.4(19) of the Zoning Ordinance 
(ZO).  This section reads as follows:  
Contractor’s Offices: Provided there is no 
retail business on the site and equipment is 
kept within a building. 
 
DESCRIPTION: 
The applicant for this case is Mr. David 
Laux who is the owner of Laux 
Construction.  Mr. Laux has a purchase 
agreement for the subject property which 
is located at 1018 Hogsback Road.  The 
company is currently located in Delhi 
Township at 4218 Charlar Drive.  More 
information about Laux can be found on their website at: www.lauxconstruction.com. 
 
The applicant has requested the SUP at this time in order to obtain authorization to develop the 
subject site for use as a Contractor’s Office.  The applicant would like to obtain the SUP prior to final 
closing on the purchase of the property.  The applicant will request site plan approval for 
construction of proposed buildings separately in the near future.   
 
In the materials submitted with the SUP application, Mr. Laux states that he is proposing to 
consolidate all of the company’s operations to the proposed location.  The application also includes 
a draft/preliminary site sketch of the anticipated development. The details of the site plan will be 
addressed during site plan review. However, for purposes of the SUP, the site sketch provides an 
idea of the proposed land use.  One will note that the applicant proposes a two phased 
development approach.  The first phase would be the construction of an approximately 5,400 SF 
storage building and associated equipment yard.  The second phase includes the construction of an 
approximately 8,000 SF contractors office.  The applicant is aware that no materials or equipment, 
other than that which is licensed for “over the road use” such as pick-up trucks or vans, may be 
stored outside in the fenced yard.  All construction materials, tools, etc. will be stored inside the 
building.  The applicant also understands that the ZO prohibits any retail sales from the site. 
 

http://www.lauxconstruction.com/�


SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 2  Contractor’s Office 
CONSIDERATIONS 
There are a number of issues that arise while evaluating 
this type of a land use.  Below is an evaluation of the basic 
ordinance compliance issues and other possible 
considerations: 
 
1. The subject property is approximately 8 acres in size.  

It is nearly covered in planted pine trees. Figure 1 
shows a Google map from the fall of 2015 which 
illustrates this growth.  Further, the site is nearly 
surrounded by trees and woods.  Figures 2 through 5 
show the view of the subject property from the north, 
south and west.  
 

2. There is no buffer requirement within the ZO between 
A-1 property and adjacent residential properties.  
However, in this case, it may be worthwhile to include 
a condition on the SUP that requires the preservation 
of the existing vegetative tree line along the south, north, east and west property lines as shown 
in Figure 6.   Further, the applicant states in their application that they will relocate existing 
pines from the property around the storage building as to provide additional screening.  This is 
also shown on the plan in Figure 6. 
   

3. The applicant proposes an 8’ chain link fence around the equipment storage area.  Frequently, 
the Planning Commission has required this type of fencing to be opaque.  Staff would 
recommend that the fencing in this case either be made opaque or that pine trees are placed 
around the perimeter of the storage yard in order to screen the area.  The storage area is far 
enough away from adjacent properties that the existing tree line will also provide screening. 
  

4. The applicant states that the normal business hours 
are 6:30 AM to 5:30 PM Monday through Friday and 
occasionally on Saturdays.  Noise is not expected to be 
a problem, but Section 10-72 of the Township’s Code 
of Ordinances does provide regulation and 
enforcement.   
   

5. All normal site plan review issues will be addressed 
during review pursuant to Section 3.3 of the ZO. 

 
    
The use of the site as a contractor’s office is not expected 
to cause any problems for adjacent properties or users. 



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 3  Contractor’s Office 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval of the requested SUP 16-
279 to permit the operation of a Contractor’s Office in 
the A-1: Agricultural zoning district with the following 
conditions: 

1. Any future construction activities must comply 
with the requirements of Section 3.3 “Site Plan 
Review” of the ZO. 
 

2. No retail sales activity is permitted, pursuant 
to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

3. All construction materials must be kept inside 
a fully enclosed building, pursuant to Section 
5.21.4(19). 
 

4. Only passenger vehicles and standard utility 
trailers/vehicles licensed for over the road use 
are permitted to be parked outside of a fully 
enclosed building.  The parking of semi-trailers 
is not permitted.  All parking shall only occur 
only on hard-surfaced areas and comply with 
the requirements of Section 7.1.13 of the 
Zoning Ordinance. 
  

5. The equipment storage area fence shall either 
be opaque or pine trees shall be planted 
around the exterior of the storage area in a 
manner that provides visual screening. 
   

6. The existing tree line, as shown in Figure 6 of 
the staff report for SUP#16-279 with a date of 
March 21, 2016, shall be maintained and 
preserved to provide a buffer and visual 
screen between this use and adjacent 
properties. 
   

 
 



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 4  Contractor’s Office 

 
 
 
 
 
 



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 5  Contractor’s Office 
RECOMMENDED MOTION TO APPROVE 
Move to recommend to the Township Board approval of SUP #16-279 for a Contractor’s Office in 
the A-1: Agricultural Zoning District pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19) of the Zoning Ordinance for 
property located at 1018 Hogsback Road (Parcel #33-25-05-25-453-004).  The following conditions 
to apply: 

1. Any future construction activities must comply with the requirements of Section 3.3 “Site 
Plan Review” of the ZO. 
 

2. No retail sales activity is permitted, pursuant to Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

3. All construction materials must be kept inside a fully enclosed building, pursuant to 
Section 5.21.4(19). 
 

4. Only passenger vehicles and standard utility trailers/vehicles licensed for over the road use 
are permitted to be parked outside of a fully enclosed building.  The parking of semi-
trailers is not permitted.  All parking shall only occur on hard-surfaced areas and comply 
with the requirements of Section 7.1.13 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
  

5. The equipment storage area fence shall either be opaque or pine trees shall be planted 
around the exterior of the storage area in a manner that provides visual screening. 
   

6. The existing tree line, as shown in Figure 6 of the staff report for SUP#16-279 with a date 
of March 21, 2016, shall be maintained and preserved to provide a buffer and visual screen 
between this use and adjacent properties. 

 
The Planning Commission has received the “Basis for Determination for Granting a Special Use 
Permit” and has found that the general and specific standards outlined in Section 8.1.3 have been 
satisfied and that those findings are accurately reflected in the document entitled “Basis for 
Determination for SUP#16-279” dated March 21, 2016 and it is fully incorporated into this motion 
and the official meeting minutes. 
 
MOTION TO DENY 
Move to recommend to the Township Board denial of SUP #16-279 for a Contractor’s Office in the A-
1: Agricultural district because the proposal does not comply with the required Basis for 
Determination Subsection ___________ (MUST FILL IN SPECIFIC CITATION). 
  
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
APPLICANT:  David Laux, Laux Construction LLC 
 
OWNER OF RECORD: Schafer Lawn & Snow Inc. (Laux has purchase agreement) 
 
LOCATION:  1018 Hogsback Road 



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 6  Contractor’s Office 
     
PARCEL I.D. NO.: 33-25-05-25-453-004 
 
ZONING:  A-1: Agricultural 
 
REQUESTED ACTIVITY: Contractor’s Office 
 
PROPERTY SIZE: 8.176 acres 
 
EXISTING LAND USE: Vacant 
 
ADJACENT LAND USE:  North:  The Gardens Subdivision/ Existing Homes 

South:  Existing Homes 
East:  Existing Homes/Vacant Agricultural Land 
West:  FOE & Daycare (Commercial Land uses) 

 
ADJACENT ZONING:  North:  R-1C & R-1B: One-Family Med. & Low Density  
      Residential 
    South:  R-1D: One & Two-Family High-Density Residential 
    East:  R-1B: One-Family Low-Density Residential 
    West:  A-1: Agricultural & C-1: Low-Impact Commercial 
 
MASTER PLAN OF DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP: 
The 2002-2020 Master Plan of Delhi Charter Township (MP) shows the subject property as planned 
for Office land uses on the Future Land Use Map. The contractor’s office land use is consistent with 
this anticipated development pattern. 
 
CONFORMANCE WITH SECTION 8.1.3: 
Prior to action on any SUP application, the Planning Commission shall establish that the general and 
specific standards and requirements contained in section 8.1.3 have been satisfied.  The Planning 
Commission must review “Basis for Determination for SUP#16-279” dated March 21, 2016 
(attached) and make a determination regarding compliance with each finding.  



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 7  Contractor’s Office 

Section 8.1.3 Basis for Determination  
SUP #16-279 

1018 Hogsback Road 
 

Section 8.1.3(1)(a) Be harmonious and in accordance with the general principals and proposals 
of the Master Plan. 
 
The Future Land Use Map calls for this property to develop with office land uses in the future.  
The contactor’s office is consistent with this planned pattern of development. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(b) Be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be harmonious 
in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that such a 
use will not change the essential character of the area in which it is proposed. 
 
The proposed development and land use is expected to be consistent with the intended character 
of the area.  Laux Construction is a reputable company that builds high quality buildings.  It is 
expected that they will do the same here and maintain the property in a manner that is 
consistent with the area. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(c) Not be hazardous or disturbing to existing or future uses in the same 
general vicinity and will be a substantial improvement to the property in the immediate 
vicinity and to the community as a whole. 
 
The inclusion of conditions on the approved SUP is expected to mitigate any potential negative 
impacts that could occur. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(d) Be served adequately by essential public services, such as highways, 
streets, police, fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water and sewage 
facilities, or schools. 
 
All infrastructure/public utilities are currently in place. There is no concern regarding the 
provision of police/fire protection. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(e) Not involve uses, activities, processes, materials and equipment or 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any person, property or general welfare by 
reason of excess production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 
 
See 8.1.3(1)(c) above. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(f) be consistent with the intent and purposes of the zoning district in which it 
is proposed to locate such use. 
 



SUP #16-279 1018 Hogsback Road 
Page 8  Contractor’s Office 
The A-1: Agricultural Zoning District provides that Contractor’s Offices can be permitted with the 
issuance of a SUP.  The conditions proposed on the SUP are expected to ensure that the land use 
is consistent with the intent and purpose of the A-1 district. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(g) Be designed to protect natural resources, the health, safety, welfare, and 
social and economic well-being of those who will use the land use or activity, and the 
community as a whole. 
 
Provided the SUP conditions are complied with no negative impacts to the health, safety, welfare, 
etc. as outlined in 8.1.3(1)(g) above are anticipated to occur.  
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(h) Be related to the valid exercise of the police power and purposes which are 
affected by imposed use of activity. 
 
The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act provides the Township with the ability to require Special Use 
Permits for those uses that have the possibility of creating unacceptable or difficult circumstances 
for the community.  As such the requirement that the proposed contractor’s office receive an 
approved SUP is a valid exercise of police power. 
 
Section 8.1.3(1)(i) Be necessary to meet the intent and purpose of the zoning ordinance, be 
related to the standards established in the ordinance for the land use or activity under 
consideration, and be necessary to insure compliance with those standards. 
 
See 8.1.3(1)(h) above. 
 
Section 8.1.3(2) Conditions and Safeguards: The Planning Commission may impose such 
additional conditions and safeguards deemed necessary for the general welfare, for the 
protection of individual property rights and for insuring that the intent and objectives of this 
Ordinance will be observed.  The breach of any condition, safeguard, or requirement shall 
automatically invalidate the permit granted. 
 
See 8.1.3(1)(g) above.  
 
Section 8.1.3(3) Specific Requirements: The general standards and requirements of the Section 
are basic to all uses authorized by Special Use Permit.  The specific and detailed requirements 
set forth in the following Sections relate to particular uses and are requirements which must 
be met by those uses in addition to the foregoing general standards and requirements where 
applicable. 
 
See 8.1.3(2) above. 
 
Date:  March 21, 2016 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: March 31, 2016 
 
RE: Contract for Delhi Township Reroofing and Exterior Improvements 

– Laux Construction LLC 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is the Contract document for the Delhi 
Township Reroofing and Exterior Improvements project in the amount of 
$253,050 from Laux Construction LLC primarily for the reroofing of the 
Community Services Center (CSC).   
 
In 2012 the Township began a multi-year “savings account” for the eventual 
replacement of the aging CSC roof and to date has accumulated $600,000 for 
that purpose.  As the building approaches twenty years old the time has come to 
replace the roof.  Staff has diligently worked at prolonging the life of the roof 
through preventative maintenance, however, this is no longer a viable option.   
 
To that end, the Township had solicited MAYOTTEgroup Architects to aid in the 
process of reroofing the CSC.  MAYOTTE prepared the specifications and bid 
documents and on March 10th received three (3) qualified bids for this project.  
After meeting with the low bidder, Laux Construction, staff is pleased to present 
the Board with a contract for the reroofing of townhall with Laux Construction in 
the amount of $253,050.  This bid includes not only reroofing townhall but also 
refurbishing and repainting the restroom pavilion and pergolas in Veterans 
Memorial Gardens since a painter will be on hand for the roof project anyways.  
This project, even with the alternates added in, is well under the savings account 
the Township established for this project. 
 
Therefore, I recommend the Township Board approve the contract between Delhi 
Township and Laux Construction LLC for the Delhi Township Reroofing and 
Exterior Improvements project in the amount of $253,050. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the contract between Delhi Township and Laux 
Construction LLC for the Delhi Township Reroofing and Exterior 
Improvements Project in the amount of $253,050. 





























Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 25, 2016 
 
RE:  USGS Proposal for Well Re-Sampling Project 
 
Many homes in Delhi Township get drinking and household water from a private well.  Private 
wells in this area of the State are commonly driven into the Saginaw Aquifer, which provides 
nearly all of the drinking water for the area, including the public water supply. Due to the 
regions dependence on this resource it is very important that this water supply be monitored 
and protected from contamination or degradation.   
 
In the mid-1980’s a well sampling study was completed by the Ingham County Health 
Department (ICHD).  The purpose of this study was to establish a baseline for well water 
quality.  The study sampled the water from private wells all over Ingham County.  Twenty of 
those wells were located in Delhi Township. 
 
It was the original intent of the 80’s study that wells would be re-sampled every 10 to 20 years.  
This would permit changes in water quality to be detected and monitored over time.  However, 
the re-sampling plan was not implemented.   
 
There has recently been renewed interest in this project and focus has been directed towards 
restarting the long-term sampling plan. It is extremely important to monitor changes to the 
groundwater supply since infrastructure planning, growth/future development decisions and 
health impacts are all dependant on the viability of water supplies.   
 
Staff has been meeting with Gary Rowe, who is retired from the ICHD and working on this 
project as a volunteer, and a representative from the United States Geological Services (USGS) 
to discuss the current project.  The county-wide plan is to resample the original 1983 wells 
within the County and identify any changes to water quality which may have occurred.  The first 
phase of this project was implemented last summer/fall in Aurelius Township.  I’m told that the 
Aurelius project was very successful and residents were excited to participate.  Mr. Gary Rowe 
will be present at our upcoming April 5th meeting and can provide additional details about this 
pilot and the proposed Delhi phase of the project. 
 
Delhi Township has been asked to be the next community to receive follow-up well sampling.  If 
approved, data collection (well sampling) would occur this spring/summer.  Results of the water 



Page 2 of 2 
 

quality analysis would be provided to well owners, residents and the Township Board this 
coming fall.  Should any negative results be identified the ICHD will provide follow up support. 
 
Attached is a proposal from USGS for this project.  The total cost is $33,500.  However, the 
USGS will provide $10,500 towards the project.  The remaining $23,000 would be divided 
between the Township and the Ingham County Drain Commissioner’s office (ICDC).  As you 
know, the ICDC is very interested in how surface water interacts with ground water.  They are 
interested in partnering with Delhi on this project because the results of the study may be 
useful to them in this regard.  The ICDC is willing to provide $10,000. The cost to Delhi Township 
for this project would be $13,000.   
 
If the Board is interested in participating in this project, it will need to take action to authorize 
the expenditure at the upcoming April 5th meeting.  Assuming this occurs, the next step will be 
to begin contacting property owners and setting up testing.  If you have any questions, or need 
additional information, please don’t hesitate to ask.  Thank you! 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the proposal for Analysis of Groundwater Quality in Delhi Township 
from United States Geological Services (USGS) in the amount of $33,500 to be 
split between Delhi Township, USGS and the Ingham County Drain 
Commissioner with Delhi Township’s portion being $13,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Analysis of Groundwater Quality in Delhi Township, 

Ingham County, Michigan 

Problem Statement 

The majority of people in Ingham County, Michigan obtain their water from wells which 

are completed in the Pennsylvanian-age Saginaw Aquifer. The Ingham County Health 

Department (ICHD) has maintained a database (Ingham County Health Department, 2015) of 

water quality information since 1981 in order to better understand the processes affecting this 

natural resource and to inform water management decisions. Water quality information is 

routinely collected by ICHD through Type 2 water quality inspections, site investigations of 

known and potential groundwater contamination, mortgage evaluations for property sales, and a 

survey of potential recharge areas. In 1983, Ingham County initiated a study to collect additional 

groundwater quality information as a part of the Southwest Michigan Groundwater Survey and 

Monitoring Program (Brown, Donald J., 2015). Selected wells in the county were sampled by 

ICHD personnel to better understand the county’s groundwater system by monitoring this water 

resource, investigating water quality in recharge areas, and establishing a baseline to determine 

potential changes over time (Rowe, 1986). As part of the 1983 project, a total of 20 wells were 

sampled in Delhi Township. 



The Southwest Michigan Groundwater Survey and Monitoring Program sample results 

indicated some local problems associated with activities such as road salting, some constituents 

above current drinking water standards, and objectionable levels of hardness, iron, and 

manganese. The identification of these issues has been useful for the county water-resource 

managers to initiate programs to help protect the area groundwater resources. In addition, the 

ICHD groundwater database has proven useful in the county for review of proposed industrial 

and public-supply wells. At the time the Michigan Groundwater Survey was conducted, the plan 

was to survey groundwater quality every 10 to 20 years to monitor any general changes; 

however, wells have not been sampled as part of the Michigan Groundwater Survey program 

since the 1986 study. Recently, there has been interest in resampling these wells to compare 

current results with past analyses, to investigate groundwater quality with respect to arsenic, 

boron, nitrate, fluoride, chloride, and sulfate values, and to continue monitoring water quality in 

the county.  

Objective 

The objective of this study is to sample wells in Delhi Township, Ingham County, Michigan 

originally sampled in the 1986 study to investigate current water quality.  

Scope 

The study will be conducted in Delhi Township with township assistance to contact homeowners 

of the original project wells to request permission for sampling. Analyses will include sample collection 

from 20 wells for custom NWQL schedule 2635 (which includes major ions, trace metals, and nutrients) 

for comparison of results with the 1986 study. 



Relevance and Benefits 

The proposed work fits into USGS goals at several levels. At the Bureau level, the 

proposed study fits into the Water Census science direction.  It will assess the status of 

groundwater quality and whether that status has changed in response to new land use practices 

since 1986. It also will address whether water of adequate quality is available for human and 

environmental uses. At the Water Science Center level, this study directly addresses our mission 

to collect, analyze, and disseminate impartial hydrologic data to help guide water management 

decisions and to help ensure a water supply of adequate quality and quantity for the people of the 

State of Michigan. 

   

Approach  

The approach will consist of the following tasks. 

• Task 1 – In cooperation with Delhi Township, locate homeowners of wells that 

were sampled in 1986 and contact them to obtain permission to collect samples 

for this study. Additionally, alternate wells will be located near the previously 

sampled wells in cooperation with the township in the case that homeowners with 

wells sampled during the 1986 study do not wish to participate in the current 

study or that have since connected to a public water-supply system. 

• Task 2 – Collect samples before any household treatment systems from outdoor 

taps from 20 wells in the township following USGS procedures (USGS, 2006). 

Samples from these wells, along with an additional 4 quality control samples, 

including blanks and replicates, will be analyzed for custom schedule 2635 by the 

USGS National Water Quality Laboratory (NWQL). This schedule includes the 



following analytes: alkalinity, arsenic, barium, boron, bromide, calcium, chloride, 

chromium, copper, fluoride, iron, magnesium, manganese, mercury, nitrate, 

potassium, silica, sodium, sulfate, and zinc.  

• Task 3 – Prepare summary tables showing test results. Provide each homeowner 

with a copy of their individual test results and hold a public meeting in the 

township to share the results with the community. 

  

Budget  

Approximate cost for the study including, collection of samples for analysis by the 

National Water Quality Laboratory, review of results, and preparation of a presentation for the 

township and homeowners is $33,500. To help support the project, USGS will contribute 

$10,500 for FY16 using USGS Cooperative Matching funds, so project cost for Delhi Township 

and the Ingham County Drain Commission would be $23,000. A report describing current 

sampling results and comparisons with the 1986 results would require an additional cost of 

$9,500 (of which USGS could contribute $2,500 in Cooperative Matching funds). 

Products  

Data results will be summarized in a presentation to the township and ICHD personnel 

and other interested community members. All data collected as part of this study will be 

available through the USGS on-line database at http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis. A report of the 

water quality results would be developed contingent on township funding. 

 

 



References 

Brown, Donald J., 1987, Computerized data bases for ground water management: the southwest 
Michigan ground water program, in Proceedings of the NWWA FOCUS Conference on 
Midwestern Ground Water Issues: Accessed August 6, 2015 at 
http://info.ngwa.org/GWOL/pdf/870143383.pdf 

Ingham County Health Department, 2015, Ingham County Health Department (ICHD) 
Environmental Health Viewer website, Accessed August 6, 2015 at 
http://hdgis.ingham.org/ICHD/Map.aspx 

Rowe, Garry, 1986, Report on the Aquifers of Ingham County, Ingham County Health 
Department, variously paged. 

USGS, 2006, National field manual for the collection of water-quality data, Chapter A4. 
Collection of water samples, 231 p. 

 

 

 

Job Hazard Analysis “CHECKLIST” For Monitoring Sites 
  Potential Unsafe Conditions 

1.  Office ergonomics and carpal tunnel syndrome 
2.  Skin protection in sunlight 
3.   Eye protection in sunlight 
4.  Gasoline transport, storage, and use 
5.  Contacting water or samples with sanitary, biological, or chemical concerns 
6.  Confronted by a hostile individual 
7.  Tick and mosquito borne diseases 
8.  Rodent borne diseases 
9.  Confined spaces 
10 Working in remote locations and office call in procedures 
11 Lifting of heavy equipment 
12 Fall or trip hazards 
13 Site access and traffic control 
14 Field vehicles appropriate for the tasks - Safety screens, equipment restraints. 
15 Boating safety 
16 Warm-weather conditions, heat exhaustion, and heat stroke 
17 Working near thunder (electrical) storms 
18 Cold-weather conditions, cold-water immersion, and hypothermia 
19 Working on ice-covered streams or lakes 
20 Wading, bridge, or boat measurements or sampling 
21 Measuring or sampling during floods 



22 Preserving samples 
23 Well drilling 
24 Electrofishing 
25 Safety training 
26 Fall Protection 

27 Poisonous plants 
28 Insect bites / stings and snakes 
29 Lockout/Tagout 

 

  



 

 

 

 

Box 

no. 

For each numbered box checked on the previous page, briefly: 
 
A. Describe the safety concern as it relates to this project.  
B. Describe how this safety concern will be addressed. Include training, 
safety equipment, and other actions that will be required.  
C. Estimate costs. 

1. Attention will be given to office ergonomics. Keyboard, mouse, monitor, and chair 
settings are adjustable and should fit the user. Office lighting should be made 
adequate for computer operations as well as desk and map work. When working in 
the office, all personnel should identify and correct any slip, trip, or fall hazards. 
Ergonomic exercises have been presented to staff.  Personnel are encouraged to 
use those exercises and take periodic breaks from their work stations during 
intensive office sessions. 

2. Skin can be protected from over exposure to the sun by wearing light-colored loose 
cotton clothing that may include long pants, a long-sleeved shirt, and a broad-
brimmed hat. Sun screen is recommended and will be supplied for skin that is 
exposed to the sun. 

3. Safety sun glasses that wrap to the sides or with side shields will be supplied and 
should be worn to protect eyes from damaging ultraviolet radiation. 

4. Gas cans must be removed from a field vehicle before they are filled. Do not fill gas 
cans in a pickup truck with a plastic bed liner. Static electricity may cause a fire or 
explosion. Avoid breathing gas fumes and allowing gas to contact with skin. 
Transport gasoline in an approved container (DOT approved metal gas can) with a 
flash arrestor vent. Do not store gasoline overnight in field vehicles. Let engines 
cool before refueling. 

5. Alcohol-based waterless hand-sanitizer will be provided to workers so they can 
clean their hands after contact with environmental samples or stream water. In the 
event of accidental full-body immersion, a thorough shower and clean clothes are 
recommended as soon as possible. 

6. In the event that you are approached by a hostile individual, stay calm and listen 
attentively. Be courteous, patient, and respectful. Do not become angry and argue 
with or threaten the person. Maintain eye contact. Try to calm the individual by 
using a soothing voice and non-threatening body language. Keep the situation in 
your control. If they ask you to leave, do so. Contact your supervisor and/or the 
local authorities and report the incident. 



7. Deer ticks, brown ticks, and mosquitoes may be present. Deer ticks may transmit 
Lyme’s disease to humans by attachment to the human body. Much of Indiana is 
considered to hold at least a medium risk for the contraction of Lyme’s disease. 
Brown ticks can transmit a variety of diseases to humans by attachment to the 
human body. Mosquitoes are known to spread West Nile virus in Indiana. Personal 
insect repellant that contains DEET is an effective deterrent/repellant for ticks and 
mosquitoes and will be supplied to field personnel. Long pants may be tucked into 
boot-tops for a more efficient barrier to ticks. 

12. When working in the office, identify and remove any potential slip, trip, or fall 
hazards. When conducting field activities, it is expected that some traversing of 
steep and slippery slopes will be required. Footwear with lugged soles and ankle 
support is recommended for crossing uneven ground.  If handling heavy 
equipment/materials steel/composite toed work boots are required. 

13. Site access should be gained at public locations if possible. Every effort will be 
made to identify owners of private land and gain written permission for access to 
that private land if access is beneficial to meeting the goals of the project. Proper 
site access will include consideration of safe and secure parking of vehicles left 
unattended during field work. 

If traffic control required (working along the road/shoulder:  approved traffic control 
vests or high visibility clothing will be worn.  A traffic control plan will be developed 
and implemented.  Vehicles and equipment will use warning lights and equipment 
(advance warning signage and cones) as required by the traffic control plan. 

14. All vehicles will be properly equipped with safety equipment and if used to pull 
trailers, equipped with towing gear. Trailers will be maintained with all required 
lights and safety chains. 

16. When conducting field work in warm-weather conditions, precautions against heat-
related injuries must be taken. An ample supply of water for each worker will be 
carried each day in the field. Breaks in the shade will be taken when daytime air 
temperatures warrant. 

17. If conducting field work when there is a potential for thunder storms, employees 
should monitor the weather conditions and local media sources for weather 
updates. When thunderstorms are approaching or nearby, field activities should be 
suspended and employees should seek shelter until the threat passes.  

22. Wear appropriate PPE (wear eye and, hand protection, and cover skin (this 
includes feet and legs) 

25. All employees conducting field work must be up to date with first-aid, CPR, 
defensive driving, and over-the-water training. 



27. The sap of poisonous plants can be transferred to you by direct or indirect contact. 
Learn how to identify poisonous plants such as poison ivy, poison oak, poison 
sumac, and other poisonous plants. Avoid all contact if possible. Wear appropriate 
clothing when working around poisonous plants. If contact is made, remove clothing 
as soon as possible and wash clothes. Wash affected skin with abundant soap and 
water as soon as possible. Also, when clearing weeds or brush from an area, avoid 
smoke or spray that may contain the oil or sap of poisonous plants. 

28. Insect bites or stings can be dangerous depending on the type of insect and your 
reaction to their bite or sting. Be observant of wasp nests, hornet and bee hives, ant 
hills, spider webs, and other insect homes. Avoid if at all possible. Wear appropriate 
clothing that makes access to the skin difficult. Use appropriate repellants on skin 
and clothing. Avoid walking in heavy vegetation. If bitten or stung, some of the 
signs of an allergic reaction can be severe pain at the site of the bite or sting, 
muscle cramps, headache, fever, vomiting, breathing problems, and the swelling of 
the face and tongue. Seek immediate medical attention, and call your supervisor. If 
allergic to insect stings or bites, carry the appropriate medications and inform your 
coworkers of your condition. 

Be familiar with the description and habit of all snakes in the work area, especially 
poisonous snakes (IN has four poisonous snakes). Try to avoid all snakes. Do not 
reach under rocks, logs, or into crevices. Do not step over logs (step on, then past). 
Use a walking stick to clear the path ahead of you while walking. If bitten, and you 
experience progressive pain at the bite area, swelling of the bite area, nausea, 
vomiting, sweating, or weakness, call for help, seek immediate medical attention, 
and call your supervisor. 

 

 



Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM: Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 3, 2016 
 
RE:  Non-Motorized Plan Update 
 
In April of 2007 Delhi Township adopted the community’s first Non-Motorized 
Transportation Plan (NMTP), a copy of which is attached here for your reference.  The 
purpose of the NMTP was to establish a comprehensive plan for the development of 
non-motorized transportation routes within the Township.  These planned routes were 
anticipated to connect to the larger regional framework of trails, bikeways and 
pedestrian systems.  The plan also included a prioritization for these routes and created 
the foundation upon which the Township has successfully obtained funding for specific 
trail and sidewalk projects.  The adoption of the 2007 NMTP was fully embraced by the 
community at that time. 
 
Over the course of the past seven years a lot of progress has been made, including 
completion of the Sycamore Trail and phase one of the Ram Trail. Several sidewalk 
projects have also been completed including the Washington Road “Safe Routes 2 
School” sidewalk and the sidewalks associated with the Green Drain #4 project.  
Further, the region as a whole has moved forward with non-motorized planning.  Local 
projects such as the South Lansing Pathway project, the Clinton-Ionia-Shiawassee Trail 
project and many others have been implemented.  Ingham County voters even 
approved a trails millage and the Michigan Department of Transportation is working on 
finalizing its’ regional non-motorized planning project.  All of these efforts, and many 
more not listed here, have changed the non-motorized landscape within the Township.  
For this reason, it is time to update the Township’s NMTP. It is important that the NMTP 
remain current and relevant for the future.   
 
During the budget preparation process last year, the Board discussed this need.  
Funding for the update was included in the 2016 budget. To that end, attached you will 
find a proposal from Landscape Architects & Planners, Inc. (LAP) for the NMTP update.  
LAP completed the original 2007 NMTP.  Because of this prior work LAP has specific 
knowledge and insight that makes them uniquely well suited to completing the required 
update. LAP proposes that their cost for preparing the update will be $25,750.   
 
Mr. Bob Ford, President of LAP, will attend our meeting on April 5th to discuss his 
proposal.  Therefore, please forward the attached information to the Board for their 



Page 2 of 2 
 

consideration at that meeting.  If you have any questions, or need additional 
information, please do not hesitate to ask.  
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the Proposal for Delhi Charter Township Non-Motorized 
Transportation Plan Update from Landscape Architects and Planners, 
Inc. in the amount of $25,750. 



































Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 30, 2016 
 
RE: Sycamore Trail DNR Trust Fund Grant 
 
We are working to closing out the Sycamore Trail project.  While there remain outstanding 
issues with the contractor, we are working through the MDOT process to attain agreement.  
This may take several more months.  However, we also have a grant from the Michigan Natural 
Resources Trust Fund for this project.  We have received most of the funding from this source.  
However, we also need to take steps to close out this portion of the project while we 
are finalizing issues with the contactor via MDOT.  
 
To that end, attached is a “declaration and notice” that is a standard part of the MDNR close 
out process. The document will be recorded, per our agreement with the MDNR, and basically 
states that we will maintain the trail for public use.   
 
If you have any questions, please let me know.  Otherwise, please request that the Board take 
action to confirm the declaration and notice at the April 5th meeting.  Thank you! 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To adopt the Declaration and Notice regarding the continued public use and 
dedication of the Sycamore Trail and have the same recorded at the Ingham 
County Register of Deeds. 
 
 
 



  

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECLARATION and NOTICE 
 

This Declaration made this 5th day of April, 2016 , by the Delhi Charter Township Board of 
Trustees, Delhi Charter Township, Ingham County, Michigan, a Michigan municipal corporation, located 
at 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, Michigan 48842, (hereafter called Delhi), being the owner of all the 
property described as the attached project location description herein after referred to as the Property, 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, located in the Charter Township of Delhi, Ingham County, Michigan, hereby 
makes the following declaration to which the Property may be put.  

WITNESSETH:  

The declaration contained herein is based on the following factual recitals:  

A. Delhi developed the Property, in part, through the grant of money from the Michigan 
Natural Resources Trust Fund.  

B. As a condition of the grant by the DNR, Delhi has agreed to impose certain restrictions 
on the developed portion of the Property.  

NOW, THEREFORE, Delhi Charter Township hereby declares that the portion of the property identified 
as the project area is and shall be held, transferred, sold, conveyed, leased, occupied and used subject 
to the obligation hereinafter set forth, all of which shall run with the land. 

The lands included in this deed were developed by Delhi with funding assistance from the Michigan 
Natural Resources Trust Fund pursuant to project agreement TF 11-064 between the Michigan 
Department of Natural Resources and Delhi, executed on September 8, 2013. The project agreement 
describes certain requirements to ensure the long-term conservation of the property and its use for 
public outdoor recreation. Delhi is placing this notice on record as confirmation of its obligations as set 
forth in the project agreement, including the requirement that the consent of the Michigan Department 
of Natural Resources and the Michigan Natural Resources Trust Fund Board of Trustees is required prior 
to the conveyance of any rights or interest in the property to another entity, or for the use of the 
property for purposes other than conservation or public outdoor recreation. 

      



  

 
 

 

 

Delhi Charter Township 

____________________________________  

Evan Hope, Clerk 

STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) ss 

COUNTY OF  INGHAM ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this_____ day of April, 2016, by Evan Hope. 
 

________________________________________ 

Amy Finch 

Notary Public, Ingham County, Michigan 

My Commission Expires: 

 

Prepared by:     When recorded, return to: 

Tracy LC Miller     Delhi Charter Township 

Delhi Charter Township    2074 Aurelius Road 

2074 Aurelius Road    Holt, MI 48842 

Holt, MI 48842      

 

  



  

 
 

 

 

Exhibit A: 

A part of Township 3 North, Range 2 West, Delhi Township, Ingham County, Michigan; Having 
a Grid North basis of bearing with respect to the Michigan Coordinate System (MCS), South 
Zone (2113); also referred to as: MCS 2113; Also, being the North American Datum of 1983, 
as realized in 2011 on the North American Plate, referenced from published coordinates of 
the control stations on January 1, 2010; also referred to as: NAD83 (2011), Epoch: 2010.00; 
Static, Rapid Static, or Real-Time Kinematic (RTK) Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) 
observations were performed to establish the relationship of the reference survey points to 
MCS 2113, NAD83 (2011), Epoch: 2010.00; The units for horizontal distances referenced in 
this description are: International Feet (1 foot = 0.3048 meters); The horizontal distances 
referenced in this description are: Grid Distances; The Average Combined Factor (ACF) for this 
description is: 0.999877971429412; Ground Distances = Grid Distances divided by the 
Average Combined Factor; 

 
More particularly described as: 
COMMENCING at the Southeast Corner of Section 11 of said Delhi Township; thence 
S89°40'40"W 673.76 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING of Centerline “A”; thence over a strip of 
land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on each side of the following described centerline: 
continuing from the POINT OF BEGINNING of Centerline “A” and proceeding N0°19'20"W 
15.20 feet; thence N0°14’29”W 0.45 feet; thence northwesterly 15.71 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 10.00 feet, through a central angle of 90°00’47", and whose 
long chord bears N45°14’52”W 14.14 feet; thence S89°44’44”W 336.62 feet; thence 
northwesterly 40.07 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 22°57’32", and whose long chord bears N78°46’30”W 39.80 feet; 
thence northwesterly 40.14 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 
feet, through a central angle of 22°59’53", and whose long chord bears N78°47’40”W 39.87 
feet; thence S89°42’23”W 299.84 feet; thence southwesterly 35.96 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 200.00 feet, through a central angle of 10°18’07", and 
whose long chord bears S84°33’20”W 35.91 feet; thence S79°24’17”W 21.07 feet; thence 
southwesterly 34.36 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 200.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 9°50’36", and whose long chord bears S84°19’35”W 34.32 feet; 
thence S89°14’52”W 91.65 feet; thence northwesterly 52.20 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the right, having a radius of 200.00 feet, through a central angle of 14°57’18", and whose long 
chord bears N83°16’29”W 52.05 feet; thence northwesterly 50.71 feet along the arc of a curve 
to the left, having a radius of 200.00 feet, through a central angle of 14°31’40", and whose long 
chord bears N83°03’40”W 50.58 feet; thence S89°40’30”W 602.89 feet; thence southwesterly 
57.89 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 200.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 16°35’04", and whose long chord bears S81°22’58”W 57.69 feet; thence 
southwesterly 58.21 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 200.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 16°40’39", and whose long chord bears S81°25’45”W 58.01 feet; 
thence S89°46’04”W 100.60 feet; thence northwesterly 134.29 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 76°56’40", and whose long 
chord bears N51°45’36”W 124.43 feet; thence N13°17’16”W 172.19 feet; thence 



  

 
 

 

 

northwesterly 78.10 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 500.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 8°56’59", and whose long chord bears N17°45’45”W 78.02 feet; 
thence N22°14’15”W 121.81 feet; thence northwesterly 19.95 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 11°25’41", and whose long 
chord bears N27°57’05”W 19.91 feet to a point on the North-South Quarter Line of said 
Section 11, said point being N0°08’01”E 478.02 feet from the South Quarter Corner of said 
Section 11, said point also being S0°08’01”W 2,175.41 feet from the Center Corner of said 
Section 11; thence northwesterly 42.65 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius 
of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 24°26’06", and whose long chord bears N45°52’59”W 
42.32 feet; thence northwesterly 78.56 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 45°00’50", and whose long chord bears 
N35°35’37”W 76.56 feet; thence N13°05’11”W 110.41 feet; thence northwesterly 29.21 feet 
along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
16°44’16", and whose long chord bears N21°27’19”W 29.11 feet; thence N29°49’27”W 112.58 
feet; thence northwesterly 29.42 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 
100.00 feet, through a central angle of 16°51’32", and whose long chord bears N21°23’42”W 
29.32 feet; thence N12°57’56”W 98.42 feet; thence northwesterly 54.91 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 31°27’46", and 
whose long chord bears N28°41’49”W 54.23 feet; thence N44°25’42”W 27.78 feet; thence 
northwesterly 27.80 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 15°55’45", and whose long chord bears N36°27’50”W 27.71 feet; 
thence N28°29’58”W 48.18 feet; thence northwesterly 19.19 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 10°59’35", and whose long 
chord bears N23°00’10”W 19.16 feet; thence N17°30’22”W 78.08 feet; thence northwesterly 
6.47 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 3°42’16", and whose long chord bears N15°39’14”W 6.46 feet; thence N13°48’06”W 
49.36 feet; thence northwesterly 17.42 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius 
of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 9°58’53", and whose long chord bears N18°47’33”W 
17.40 feet; thence N23°46’59”W 111.05 feet; thence northwesterly 64.50 feet along the arc of 
a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 36°57’15", and 
whose long chord bears N42°15’37”W 63.38 feet; thence N60°44’14”W 13.20 feet; thence 
northwesterly 95.92 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 54°57’38", and whose long chord bears N33°15’25”W 92.29 feet; 
thence N5°46’36”W 105.97 feet; thence northwesterly 78.64 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 45°03’30", and whose long 
chord bears N28°18’21”W 76.63 feet; thence northwesterly 87.29 feet along the arc of a curve 
to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 50°00’43", and whose 
long chord bears N25°49’44”W 84.54 feet; thence northwesterly 43.77 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 25°04’34", and 
whose long chord bears N13°21’40”W 43.42 feet; thence N25°53’57”W 72.13 feet; thence 
northwesterly 18.20 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 10°25’50", and whose long chord bears N20°41’02”W 18.18 feet; 
thence N15°28’07”W 65.59 feet; thence northwesterly 10.96 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 6°16’45", and whose long 



  

 
 

 

 

chord bears N18°36’30”W 10.95 feet; thence N21°44’52”W 25.40 feet; thence northwesterly 
36.63 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 20°59’12", and whose long chord bears N32°14’28”W 36.42 feet; thence 
N42°44’04”W 5.41 feet; thence northwesterly 38.12 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, 
having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 21°50’37", and whose long chord 
bears N31°48’46”W 37.89 feet; thence N20°53’27”W 55.88 feet; thence northwesterly 23.31 
feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle 
of 13°21’16", and whose long chord bears N27°34’05”W 23.26 feet; thence N34°14’43”W 
31.26 feet; thence northwesterly 23.17 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 13°16’40", and whose long chord bears 
N27°36’23”W 23.12 feet; thence N20°58’03”W 66.46 feet; thence northwesterly 1.44 feet 
along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
0°49’31", and whose long chord bears N21°22’48”W 1.44 feet; thence N21°47’34”W 40.43 
feet; thence northwesterly 2.74 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 
100.00 feet, through a central angle of 1°34’16", and whose long chord bears N22°34’42”W 
2.74 feet; thence N23°21’50”W 78.76 feet; thence northwesterly 6.34 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 3°38’02", and whose 
long chord bears N25°10’51”W 6.34 feet; thence N26°59’52”W 28.85 feet; thence 
northwesterly 19.85 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 11°22’23", and whose long chord bears N21°18’40”W 19.82 feet; 
thence N15°37’29”W 29.55 feet; thence northwesterly 13.40 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 7°40’40", and whose long 
chord bears N19°27’49”W 13.39 feet; thence N23°18’09”W 77.11 feet; thence northwesterly 
17.73 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 10°09’38", and whose long chord bears N28°22’58”W 17.71 feet; thence N33°27’46”W 
108.68 feet; thence northwesterly 58.41 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 33°28’00", and whose long chord bears 
N16°43’46”W 57.58 feet; thence N0°00’14”E 19.60 feet; thence S89°58’49”E 456.53 feet; 
thence southeasterly 40.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 500.00 
feet, through a central angle of 4°40’36", and whose long chord bears S87°38’31”E 40.80 feet; 
thence southeasterly 40.81 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 500.00 
feet, through a central angle of 4°40’36", and whose long chord bears S87°38’31”E 40.80 feet; 
thence S89°58’49”E 300.23 feet; thence northeasterly 40.81 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 500.00 feet, through a central angle of 4°40’36", and whose long 
chord bears N87°40’53”E 40.80 feet; thence northeasterly 40.81 feet along the arc of a curve 
to the right, having a radius of 500.00 feet, through a central angle of 4°40’36", and whose long 
chord bears N87°40’53”E 40.80 feet; thence S89°58’49”E 55.84 feet to a point on the North-
South Quarter Line of said Section 11, said point being N0°08’01”E 2,626.87 feet from the 
South Quarter Corner of said Section 11, said point also being S0°08’01”W 26.57 feet from the 
Center Corner of said Section 11; thence S89°58’49”E 108.82 feet; thence southeasterly 29.14 
feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 250.00 feet, through a central angle 
of 6°40’39", and whose long chord bears S86°38’29”E 29.12 feet; thence southeasterly 29.14 
feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 250.00 feet, through a central angle 
of 6°40’39", and whose long chord bears S86°38’29”E 29.12 feet; thence S89°58’49”E 32.51 



  

 
 

 

 

feet; thence N0°03’41”E 29.95 feet to a point on the East-West Quarter Line of said Section 11, 
said point being N89°58’34”W 2,505.85 feet from the East Quarter Corner of said Section 11, 
said point also being S89°58’34”E 199.44 feet from the Center Corner of said Section 11; 
thence continuing N0°03’41”E 98.17 feet; thence northwesterly 66.27 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 37°58’18", and 
whose long chord bears N18°55’28”W 65.07 feet; thence northwesterly 51.92 feet along the 
arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 29°45’02", 
and whose long chord bears N23°02’06”W 51.34 feet; thence N8°09’35”W 136.40 feet; 
thence northeasterly 119.27 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 300.00 
feet, through a central angle of 22°46’45", and whose long chord bears N3°13’48”E 118.49 
feet; thence N14°37’10”E 166.57 feet; thence northeasterly 44.57 feet along the arc of a curve 
to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 25°32’07", and whose long 
chord bears N1°51’07”E 44.20 feet; thence N10°54’56”W 97.82 feet; thence northeasterly 
94.11 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 53°55’20", and whose long chord bears N16°02’43”E 90.68 feet; thence N43°00’23”E 
14.68 feet; thence northeasterly 50.41 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 28°53’07", and whose long chord bears 
N28°33’50”E 49.88 feet; thence N14°07’16”E 175.31 feet; thence northeasterly 56.88 feet 
along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
32°35’17", and whose long chord bears N30°24’55”E 56.11 feet; thence N46°42’33”E 3.11 
feet to a point where the strip description increases in width; thence over a strip of land 
20.00 feet wide, lying 10.00 feet on each side of the following described centerline: 
continuing from said point of increased width of the strip description, thence N46°42’33”E 
20.00 feet to a point where the strip description decreases in width; thence over a strip of 
land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on each side of the following described centerline: 
continuing from said point of decreased width of the strip description, thence N46°42’33”E 
32.63 feet; thence northeasterly 60.32 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a 
radius of 50.00 feet, through a central angle of 69°07’20", and whose long chord bears 
N12°08’53”E 56.73 feet to a point where the strip description increases in width; thence 
over a strip of land 20.00 feet wide, lying 10.00 feet on each side of the following described 
centerline: continuing from said point of increased width of the strip description, thence 
northwesterly 1.89 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 50.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 2°10’01", and whose long chord bears N23°29’47”W 1.89 feet; 
thence N24°34’48”W 56.44 feet to a point where the strip description decreases in width; 
thence over a strip of land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on each side of the following 
described centerline: continuing from said point of decreased width of the strip description, 
thence N24°34’48”W 530.53 feet; thence northeasterly 171.99 feet along the arc of a curve 
to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 98°32’31", and whose 
long chord bears N24°41’27”E 151.56 feet; thence N73°57’43”E 51.99 feet; thence 
northeasterly 20.94 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 12°00’00", and whose long chord bears N67°57’43”E 20.91 feet; 
thence N61°57’43”E 53.72 feet; thence northeasterly 36.65 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 21°00’00", and whose 
long chord bears N72°27’43”E 36.45 feet; thence N82°57’43”E 22.42 feet; thence 



  

 
 

 

 

northeasterly 47.56 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 27°14’52", and whose long chord bears N69°20’17”E 47.11 feet to 
a point where the strip description increases in width; thence over a strip of land 20.00 feet 
wide, lying 10.00 feet on each side of the following described centerline: continuing from 
said point of increased width of the strip description, thence northeasterly 23.75 feet along 
the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
13°36’21", and whose long chord bears N48°54’40”E 23.69 feet to a point where the strip 
description decreases in width; thence over a strip of land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on 
each side of the following described centerline: continuing from said point of decreased 
width of the strip description, thence northeasterly 24.46 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 14°00’50", and whose long 
chord bears N35°06’05”E 24.40 feet; thence northeasterly 72.39 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the right, having a radius of 100.01 feet, through a central angle of 41°28’21", and 
whose long chord bears N48°49’50”E 70.82 feet; thence northeasterly 89.28 feet along the 
arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 51°09’20", 
and whose long chord bears N43°59’21”E 86.35 feet; thence N18°24’41”E 30.45 feet; 
thence northwesterly 82.67 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 
feet, through a central angle of 47°21’54", and whose long chord bears N5°16’17”W 80.33 
feet; thence N28°57’14”W 102.19 feet; thence northwesterly 61.95 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 35°29’41", and 
whose long chord bears N46°42’04”W 60.96 feet; thence northwesterly 32.15 feet along the 
arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
18°25’17", and whose long chord bears N55°14’17”W 32.01 feet to a point where the strip 
description increases in width; thence over a strip of land 20.00 feet wide, lying 10.00 feet on 
each side of the following described centerline: continuing from said point of increased 
width of the strip description, thence northwesterly 18.57 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 10°38’33", and whose long 
chord bears N40°42’22”W 18.55 feet; thence N35°23’05”W 67.10 feet; thence N34°18’35”E 
107.91 feet; thence S53°59’17”E 21.37 feet; thence southeasterly 122.17 feet along the arc 
of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 70°00’00", 
and whose long chord bears S88°59’17”E 114.72 feet; thence N56°00’43”E 85.86 feet; 
thence northeasterly 74.21 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 150.00 
feet, through a central angle of 28°20’41", and whose long chord bears N41°50’23”E 73.45 
feet; thence northeasterly 33.29 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 
150.00 feet, through a central angle of 12°43’01", and whose long chord bears N34°01’33”E 
33.22 feet to a point on the North Line of said Section 11, said point being N89°56’17”E 
691.21 feet from the North Quarter Corner of said Section 11, said point also being 
S89°56’17”W 2,001.47 feet from the Northeast Corner of said Section 11; thence 
northeasterly 22.14 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 150.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 8°27’31", and whose long chord bears N44°36’49”E 22.12 feet; 
thence N48°50’35”E 44.41 feet; thence northeasterly 16.72 feet along the arc of a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 9°34’45", and whose long 
chord bears N44°03’12”E 16.70 feet to a point where the strip description decreases in 
width; thence over a strip of land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on each side of the 



  

 
 

 

 

following described centerline: continuing from said point of decreased width of the strip 
description, thence northeasterly 36.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 20°49’29", and whose long chord bears 
N28°51’05”E 36.15 feet; thence N18°26’20”E 85.48 feet; thence northeasterly 38.04 feet 
along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 
21°47’50", and whose long chord bears N7°32’25”E 37.81 feet to a point where the strip 
description increases in width; thence over a strip of land 20.00 feet wide, lying 10.00 feet on 
each side of the following described centerline: continuing from said point of increased 
width of the strip description, thence northwesterly 20.88 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 11°57’57", and whose long 
chord bears N9°20’29”W 20.85 feet to a point where the strip description decreases in 
width; thence over a strip of land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 feet on each side of the 
following described centerline: continuing from said point of decreased width of the strip 
description, thence northwesterly 24.55 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a 
radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 14°03’57", and whose long chord bears 
N22°21’26”W 24.49 feet; thence N29°23’24”W 107.33 feet; thence northwesterly 51.17 
feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central 
angle of 29°19’00", and whose long chord bears N14°43’54”W 50.61 feet; thence 
N0°04’24”W 1,487.46 feet; thence northwesterly 156.91 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 89°54’02", and whose long 
chord bears N45°01’25”W 141.30 feet; thence N89°58’26”W 624.43 feet to a point on the 
North-South Quarter Line of Section 2 of said Delhi Township, said point being N0°05’43”W 
1,981.27 feet from the South Quarter Corner of said Section 2 (also being the North Quarter 
Corner of Section 11), said point also being S0°05’43”E 653.63 feet from the Center Corner 
of said Section 2; thence continuing N89°58’26”W 60.65 feet; thence N0°05’06”W 353.53 
feet; thence northwesterly 173.68 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 
3,037.95 feet, through a central angle of 3°16’32", and whose long chord bears N1°43’22”W 
173.65 feet; thence northwesterly 126.66 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a 
radius of 3,093.00 feet, through a central angle of 2°20’47", and whose long chord bears 
N2°11’15”W 126.65 feet to a point on the East-West Quarter Line of said Section 2, said 
point being S89°57’17”E 2,607.11 feet from the West Quarter Corner of said Section 2, said 
point also being N89°57’17”W 70.15 feet from the Center Corner of said Section 2; thence 
northeasterly 225.43 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 3,093.00 
feet, through a central angle 4°10’33", and whose long chord bears N1°04’25”E 225.38 feet; 
thence northeasterly 175.43 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 
3,083.00 feet, through a central angle of 3°15’37", and whose long chord bears N1°31’53”E 
175.41 feet; thence N0°05’56”W 811.40 feet; thence northeasterly 36.65 feet along the arc 
of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a central angle of 21°00’03", 
and whose long chord bears N10°24’06”E 36.45 feet; thence N20°54’07”E 108.74 feet; 
thence northeasterly 50.46 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 412.00 
feet, through a central angle of 7°01’03", and whose long chord bears N17°23’36”E 50.43 
feet to a point on the North-South Quarter Line of said Section 2, said point being 
N0°05’22”W 1,397.70 feet from the South Quarter Corner of said Section 2 (also being the 
North Quarter Corner of Section 11), said point also being S0°05’22”E 965.82 feet from the 



  

 
 

 

 

North Quarter Corner of said Section 2; thence northeasterly 100.54 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the left, having a radius of 412.00 feet, through a central angle of 13°58’55", and 
whose long chord bears N6°53’37”E 100.29 feet; thence N0°05’51”W 206.79 feet; thence 
N5°22’08”W 56.27 feet; thence N0°15’49”W 61.33 feet; thence N0°06’51”W 44.82 feet; 
thence N0°06’00”W 176.25 feet; thence N89°41’51”W 6.75 feet to a point on the North-
South Quarter Line of said Section 2, said point being N0°05’22”W 2,042.51 feet from the 
Center Corner of said Section 2, said point also being S0°05’22”E 321.01 feet from the North 
Quarter Corner of said Section 2; thence N89°41’51”W 211.99 feet; thence southwesterly 
273.14 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 1,545.00 feet, through a 
central angle of 10°07’46", and whose long chord bears S85°14’16”W 272.79 feet; thence 
S80°10’23”W 86.00 feet; thence southwesterly 177.70 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
right, having a radius of 1,005.00 feet, through a central angle of 10°07’52", and whose long 
chord bears S85°14’19”W 177.47 feet; thence N89°41’45”W 41.50 feet; thence 
northwesterly 232.47 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 148.00 
feet, through a central angle of 89°59’54", and whose long chord bears N44°41’48”W 209.30 
feet; thence N0°18’09”E 185.21 feet; thence N89°41’31”W 380.54 feet; thence 
southwesterly 47.49 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 27°12’36", and whose long chord bears S76°42’11”W 47.05 feet; 
thence southwesterly 9.15 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 
100.00 feet, through a central angle of 5°14’34", and whose long chord bears S65°43’10”W 
9.15 feet to a point where the strip description increases in width; thence over a strip of land 
20.00 feet wide, lying 10.00 feet on each side of the following described centerline: 
continuing from said point of increased width of the strip description, thence southwesterly 
38.35 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of 100.00 feet, through a 
central angle of 21°58’25", and whose long chord bears S79°19’40”W 38.12 feet; thence N 
89°41’08”W 742.55 feet; thence northwesterly 40.59 feet along the arc of a curve to the 
right, having a radius of 500.00 feet, through a central angle of 4°39’05", and whose long 
chord bears N87°21’35”W 40.58 feet; thence N85°02’02”W 21.52 feet to a point where the 
strip description decreases in width; thence over a strip of land 15.00 feet wide, lying 7.50 
feet on each side of the following described centerline: continuing from said point of 
decreased width of the strip description, thence N85°02’02”W 190.73 feet; thence 
northwesterly 8.67 feet along the arc of a curve to the left, having a radius of 100.00 feet, 
through a central angle of 4°57’58", and whose long chord bears N87°31’01”W 8.66 feet; 
thence N90°00’00”W 207.23 to the POINT OF ENDING of Centerline “A”, said POINT OF 
ENDING being distant S0°12’10”W 46.76 feet from the Northwest Corner of Section 2 along 
the West Line of said Section 2, and also being distant S89°47’50”E 50.11 feet from said 
position along said West Line of said Section 2. 



Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 25, 2016 
 
RE:  LEAP, Inc. – Public Art for Communities Grant 
 
Delhi Township has received notice that we have been selected to receive one of the Public Art 
for Communities Grant’s from the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP).  The grant is in 
the amount of $10,000 and is being made available so that we can select, commission and 
install a new sculpture in front of the Community Services Building.  It’s a tight schedule, which 
is why we will need to request the Board take action at the April 5th meeting.  The Board should 
also appoint the ad-hoc selection committee at this same meeting pursuant to Township Policy 
#129.    
 
Assuming that the Board concurs, I would suggest that the following schedule be implemented: 
 
Date Accomplishment 

 
March 9, 2015 Received Award Notification from LEAP 

 
April 5, 2016 Township Board Meeting – approve Grant Agreement and appoint Ad-

Hoc Committee  
 

Week of April 11th Art Ad-Hoc Committee Convene/ Reviews Draft Artist RFP 
 

April 19th Township Board approves RFP 
 

April 20th  – May 11th RFP Open for Submissions 
 

May 12th  Ad-Hoc Committee meets to review & select artist – make 
recommendation to Township Board 
 

May 17th Board considers Ad-Hoc Committee Recommendation 
 

May 18th  – Mid-October, 
2016* 

Township Manager Finalizes Contract with Artist 
Fabrication  of Art Piece & installation 
 

End of October, 2016* Unveiling of Art Piece/ Press Event 
 

*The Art Piece will be finished, installed and an unveiling scheduled as quickly as possible.  This 
schedule will be adjusted accordingly. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Project Background: 
Delhi Township received a LEAP public art grant in 2014 and used it to install the beautiful 
butterfly sculpture that is currently located at the Farmer’s Market.  This project highlighted the 
importance of public art within the community, and the Board has opted to budget for public 
art for the past couple of years.  In 2016 there is $10K budgeted in Community Development for 
public art.  We propose that these funds be used, as required, to supplement the LEAP grant to 
get the biggest “bang for the buck”.  
 
The current grant application was actually submitted twice, but our project was not selected in 
the first round.  However, LEAP encouraged us to submit the project again for 2016 funding.  
We did this in early December of last year.  I’ve attached the grant application for your 
information and more detailed review.  The project basically consists of installing a sculpture in 
front of the Community Services building to create a focal point.  The sculpture can be enjoyed 
by motorists, visitors to the CSC and Veteran’s Gardens and pedestrians.   
 
Next step: 
We need to execute the attached grant agreement.  Once the Board has authorized this action, 
staff will return it to LEAP.  LEAP will disburse ½ of the project funds to the Township, with the 
remaining ½ provided after project completion.  Staff will also begin working immediately on a 
draft Request for Proposal (RFP) which will be finalized by the appointed Ad-Hoc committee 
and forwarded to the Board for final approval on April 19th.  We will hope to select the artist 
during a meeting on May 12th and bring that recommendation back to the Board at the May 
17th meeting. A ribbon cutting/unveiling event for the installed sculpture will be held in late 
October.   
 
If you need any information, please let me know.  Otherwise, please forward this information, 
along with your concurrence to the Township Board for their consideration and action at the 
upcoming April 5th meeting.   
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve the Contract Agreement for the Public Art For Communities Grant 
Program between the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) and Delhi 
Township. 
 
 



 
 

 
 

Public Art for Communities Grant Program 
2016 

Between the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) and 
DELHI TOWNSHIP 

 
This Contract Agreement, entered into this _______ day of March, 2016 by and between the Lansing 
Economic Area Partnership (LEAP), and Delhi Township hereinafter referred to as the “Grant 
Recipient”). 
 
The Grant Recipient agrees to accept the grant funds and carry out the project/event pursuant to the 
requirements of this Contract Agreement in a lawful, satisfactory and proper manner and in accordance 
with all requirements of the Contract Agreement. 
 
1. Project/Event Description:  The Grant Recipient will use the grant funds to contract with a local 

artist for the placement of permanent sculpture located near the township offices within Delhi 
Township.  

 
2. Grant Term:  The project/event is to be accomplished within the grant period of March 9, 2016 

through October 31, 2016. 
 
3. Inspection of Project/Event:  The Grant Recipient agrees to an onsite review and monitoring 

as conducted by a staff member of the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP).  
 
4.  Choice of Piece: The Grant Recipient agrees to solicit proposals through an RFP process upon 

being named a recipient of funds. A panel or designated committee will review proposals and 
make an appropriate choice for artist and piece of art. LEAP reserves the right to reject the 
chosen piece before it is commissioned.  

 
5. Promotion:  The Grant Recipient agrees to include the Lansing Economic Area Partnership 

(LEAP) logo as well as the PNC logo prominently displayed on all promotional materials along 
with the following statement:  “This project was made possible by a grant from the Lansing 
Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) with support from PNC”. Examples of these materials must 
be included in the final report. LEAP reserves the right to arrange a press event dedicating the 
completed piece in partnership with the Grant Recipient with a speaking role offered to LEAP’s 
President and CEO.  

 
6. Grant Amount:  The maximum amount of the grant hereby awarded is $10,000. One-half of the 

grant funds will be distributed upon return of the signed Contract Agreement.  The remaining one-
half of the grant funds will be distributed upon approval and installation of the piece no later than 
October 31, 2016.   

 
 A final report will be required at the end of project completion.  Failure to submit a final report will 

jeopardize the remaining one-half of grant funds as well as future LEAP funding. 
 

Initial_____________ 
 
 In the event that the grant funding provided pursuant to this Contract Agreement is not sufficient to 
 complete the project/event for which the grant was approved, the Grant Recipient shall complete 
 the project/event and assume responsibility for any additional expenses in excess of the grant 
 award  amount. 



 
7. Modifications:  The Grant Recipient must obtain written authorization from LEAP before 

implementing any change that materially alters the project/event as originally proposed, including 
but not limited to, new activities and alteration of the existing project event.  The Grant Recipient 
shall immediately notify the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) if a change in the 
project/event is required, or if the project/event cannot be implemented as projected. Any 
proposed change in the project/event is subject to written approval by the Lansing Economic Area 
Partnership (LEAP). Failure in doing so will jeopardize the remaining one-half of grant funds as 
well as future LEAP funding. 

 
Initial_______________ 

 
8. Final Report:  The Grant Recipient agrees to submit to the Lansing Economic Area Partnership 

(LEAP) a final report within 30 days after completion of the project or no later than October 31, 
2016, whichever occurs earlier. The final report must include a financial statement of revenues 
and expenditures with proof of expenditures used with LEAP funds and a narrative report of 
activities. Final reporting information forms are available by email from LEAP. 

 
Initial_____________ 

 
9. Continued Funding:  LEAP makes no implied or explicit guarantee, offer or representation of 
 future  funding from LEAP beyond termination of this Contract Agreement. 

 
10. Accounting:  The Grant Recipient agrees to maintain records in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting practices, to retain these records for a period of not less than three years 
from the date of the final report and to make this accounting available for audit by appropriate staff 
of the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP). 

 
11. Liability:  Any liability resulting from activities engaged in by the Grant Recipient shall be the sole 

responsibility of the Grant Recipient.  If the art is placed in the public right-of-way, The Grant 
recipient must acquire liability insurance naming the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) 
as additional insured. Additionally, the Grant Recipient agrees to hold the Lansing Economic Area 
Partnership (LEAP) harmless in the event of any claim arising out of the activities described 
herein. If the art is to be placed on private property, the Grant Recipient must secure a written 
statement signed by the property owner agreeing to hold the Lansing Economic Area Partnership 
(LEAP) harmless in the event of any claim arising out of the activities described herein.  

 
12. Certifications:   
  
 a. The Grant Recipient hereby certifies that there has been no known change in the 

 project/event as described in the grant application. 
 
 b. The Grant Recipient hereby agrees to implement the project/event as defined in this 

 Contract Agreement and that the funds made available will be used only as set forth in this 
 Agreement. 

 
Delhi Township and the Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) have executed this Contract 
Agreement as of the date first above written.   
        
 
Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP)   Delhi Township 
 
        
By: ________________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
    Robert L. Trezise, Jr., President & CEO   (Authorizing Grant Recipient Signature) 



Public Art for Communities 2016 
Delhi Charter Township Proposal 

Placemaking Efforts 
Delhi Township has been a quiet leader in the Lansing Region with regards to placemaking 
efforts and has fully embraced the associated concepts and practices.  Delhi works diligently to 
create a sense of place within the Township through actions, programming, investment and 
community involvement.  Below is a listing of those activities that we believe provide good 
examples of our placemaking efforts, although it is not all-inclusive: 
 
• In 2016, Delhi Township will complete its Cedar Street Revisioning Plan.  This plan will 

create an implementable and prioritized list of projects along Cedar Street.  All of the 
projects that will be undertaken will help to achieve the goal of transforming the Cedar 
Street Corridor into a place that serves the community and creates a place where people 
want to be. 
 

• Delhi Township is one of only a couple of communities in the country that has a facility-
sharing arrangement with the public school district.  Delhi Township and the Holt School 
District partner in the use, maintenance and programming for Township and school sports 
facilities and other resources.  The two entities coordinate to ensure that recreation 
programming is complementary and provides a seamless transition from recreational to 
school-based sports and activities, without duplicated effort.  The arrangement saves both 
the school and the Township money and greatly improves our mutual ability to provide 
recreation opportunities.  This agreement has been in place for many years and serves as a 
local, State and national model for cooperation and coordination of services.   
 

• Delhi has invested millions over the past 25 years in infrastructure improvements to 
accommodate the demand for residential housing and to facilitate the development of 
industrial and commercial uses.  Public infrastructure investments, in both installation and 
maintenance, ensure that the Township benefits from a safe and healthy environment, 
reliable services and encourages private economic development.  
 

• Delhi Township, in partnership with its Downtown Development Authority (DDA), has 
funded, facilitated or built the following projects, all of which have been critical to 
developing a sense of place within the community: 

 



LEED Certified Senior Citizens 
Center 
http://www.delhitownship.com/pa
rks-SeniorCenter.htm 
 
Holt Farmer’s Market 
http://holtfarmersmarket.org/ 
In 2014 the beautiful “Flight of the 
Monarch” sculpture by Craig Mitchell 
Smith was installed at the Farmer’s 
Market.  The sculpture was funded via 
the use of LEAP Public Art grant funds.  
The sculpture has been extremely well 
received by the public and patrons of the market.  In fact, the beautiful butterflies have created a 
buzz within the community and there is interest in taking the butterfly theme further by replicating 
it in various ways.  Ideas that are being considered include creating a butterfly lamppost banners, 
incorporating plants that attract butterflies in the decorative pots along our main streets and 
others! 
 
Corner Park redevelopment includes 
original public artwork piece (see 
photo right). 
 
The Delhi Recycling Center is free to 
use and open to the public.  It was 
constructed by the Township and is 
operated in partnership with 
Granger. 
http://www.delhitownship.com/Recy
cling.htm 
 

Delhi Township provides free public garden plots at two 
locations within the Township, and consistently “thinks 
outside the box” when it comes to getting things done.  
For example, at our wastewater treatment plant, a flock 
of sheep is used to maintain the grass and to recycle 
Christmas trees and Jack-o’-lanterns left over from the 
holidays.  As strange as it might seem, the community 
and its children love the sheep!  The flock even has its 

http://www.delhitownship.com/parks-SeniorCenter.htm�
http://www.delhitownship.com/parks-SeniorCenter.htm�
http://holtfarmersmarket.org/�
http://www.delhitownship.com/Recycling.htm�
http://www.delhitownship.com/Recycling.htm�


own Facebook page (https://www.facebook.com/pages/Firebird-and-
Flock/194004460620807).   
 
Delhi Township has prioritized the construction of trails and 
walkable infrastructure throughout the community.  Construction of 
the Sycamore Trail was completed in fall of 2014.  This trail 
connected Delhi’s Valhalla Trail to the Lansing River Trail system. The 
Ram Trail, which connects “downtown Holt” to the Holt Schools 
Complex was completed in fall of 2015.  Numerous sidewalk 
construction projects have also occurred and Delhi Township 
adopted a Complete Streets Ordinance in 2012.  In 2016, Delhi 
Township will complete the first update to its previously adopted 
2007 Non-Motorized Transportation Plan. 
 
Veteran’s Memorial Garden 
Park is a beautiful community 
facility. In addition to providing 
passive recreation opportunities, 
it also hosts outdoor summer 
concerts and movies, salsa 
making competitions, weddings, 
community picnics and many 
other events throughout the 
year.  In 2014 a shade sail system 
was installed over the existing 
amphitheater so that the use of 
the facility can be expanded to 
include performance art, additional concerts, etc. 
 
In 2013, Delhi Township was one of the first communities in the Lansing region to adopt a 
Non-Discrimination Ordinance.  By adopting this Ordinance, the Township declares its intent 

to be an inclusive place where all people are welcome. 
 
Community Participation in 2015 Delhi Township rolled 
out two different “low cost / high fun” events in an 
attempt to engage the community and create a sense of 
place.  The first event was Glow Green, which took place 
the weekend of the Michigan vs. Michigan State football 

https://www.facebook.com/pages/Firebird-and-Flock/194004460620807�
https://www.facebook.com/pages/Firebird-and-Flock/194004460620807�


game.  Residents and businesses were encouraged to display 
green light bulbs outside to show their Spartan Pride.  
 
The second event was tagged “Holt Halloween”.  The DDA 
purchased approximately 300 pumpkins and displayed them 
around town.  Residents and businesses were encouraged to 
decorate their homes and shops.  Lots of positive feedback 
was received and it is anticipated that this event will be 
repeated in years to come, hopefully with ever-increasing 
participation.   

 
Proposed Public Art Piece 
Delhi proposes to place a 
sculpture within the natural 
area immediately in front of 
the Community Service 
Center building, located at 
2074 Aurelius Road in Holt.  
The Community Service 
Center (CSC) houses all of 
the Delhi Township offices 
including Parks and 
Recreation, Clerk’s Office, 
Treasurer’s Office, 
Community Development 
Department, Assessing, 
Manager’s Office and the Delhi Township Fire Department.  In addition, the CSC houses the Holt 
Branch of the Capital Area District Library.  The Veteran’s Memorial Gardens, described above, 
are located directly behinds the CSC.  Parking for the gardens, and all associated events, is 

provided in the CSC parking areas.   Every person who 
comes to the CSC for any purpose will see the proposed 
sculpture. 
 
According to the Ingham County Road Department’s 
website, approximately 6,374 cars per day travel Aurelius 
Road adjacent to the CSC building.  Cars going both north 
and south on Aurelius Road will be able to see the 
proposed sculpture.  There are also many pedestrians 



that use the sidewalk which is adjacent to the sculpture location.  While it is difficult to 
accurately estimate the number of pedestrians, it is common to observe approximately 30 
individuals per day. We estimate that the annual exposure for the proposed sculpture will be as 
follows: 
 

CSC Building Annual Attendance / Visibility 
Assessing Department 1,525 
Clerk’s Office 1,500 
Community Development 2,214 
Fire Department 1,760 
Manager’s Office 750 
Parks & Recreation Department 6,750 
Treasurer’s Office 14,700 

Capital Area District Library – Holt Branch  
Library “walk-ins” 152,742 
Library “program attendees” 6,549* 

Veteran’s Gardens  
Music in the Garden concerts 3,400 

Drive-by 6,374 
Pedestrian traffic (est.) 10,950 

Total 209,214 people per year 
*Exclusive of “walk-ins” – not double counted 

 
Public art is something that Delhi Township has been interested in for a number of years.  
However, the installation of the Craig Mitchell Smith piece last fall was really the beginning of 
an era for the community.  The Township Board had significant discussion about that project, 
which served to galvanize the idea that the community would continue and grow the 
opportunities for art.   
 
The currently proposed location has been identified because it is located centrally within the 
“triangle area” and is a key community draw.  The numbers provided above clearly indicate that 
the Community Service Center is a location where a sculpture will be enjoyed by many!  
However, the location selection is more significant than just how many people it attracts.  Delhi 
Township hopes to encourage private property owners to consider installing public artwork.  
Placing a sculpture in front the main municipal building is a great demonstration and will 
hopefully serve as inspiration to others.   
 
The “triangle area” is important in its own right.  For over 20 years, Delhi Township has actively 
engaged in community building, planning and placemaking activities that are directed at 
creating a community core.  This dream is becoming a reality now.  Most people identify the 



triangle area as Holt’s downtown.  This is the result of consistent and strategic investments 
from both the private and public sector.  Delhi Township choose to build the new Senior Center 
on a redevelopment site, directly across from Veteran’s Memorial Gardens, rather than 
elsewhere.  The Farmer’s Market, which is also funded by the Township through its Downtown 
Development Authority, was established in the same area.  The Community Service Center, 
Library, Corner park, Sherriff’s Department Office, Fire Department and DDA offices are all 
located within the triangle.  This public investment was made purposefully and the locations 
were centralized around where a new downtown was visualized.   These public investments 
have paid off by encouraging redevelopment and revitalization of several key private 
properties.  For example, the former strip shopping center located at the corner of Holt Road 
and Aurelius, immediately south of the Community Service Center, has been completely 
renovated.  It is almost entirely leased at all times and several outlot buildings have been 
developed in the last few years.   
 
Several attachments are included that show where all of these investments are in relation to 
the currently proposed sculpture.   
 
Timetable 
Date Accomplishment 

 
February 29 – March 4, 2016 
 

Receive Award Notification from LEAP 
 

March 15, 2016 Township Board Meeting - call Ad-Hoc Committee & Provides Project 
Details/Specific Direction (includes Staff Leadership) 
 

Week of March 21, 2016 Art Ad-Hoc Committee Convene/Drafts Artist RFP 
 

March 28 – April 22, 2016 RFP Open for Submissions 
 

Week of April 25, 2016 Choose Artist/Enter into Contract 
 

May 3 – Mid October, 2016* Fabrication  of Art Piece & installation 
 

End of October, 2016* Unveiling of Art Piece/ Press Event 
 

*The Art Piece will be finished, installed and an unveiling scheduled as quickly as possible.  This schedule will be 
adjusted accordingly. 
 
Other Specific Submission Requirements 

• Delhi Township adopted Policy No. 129 on February 18, 2014. This is a public art policy. 
A copy is attached. 
  



• The Township does not plan to seek matching dollars from crowd sourcing or the private 
sector. Delhi Township may use budgeted funds to match this grant, if awarded. See 
below. 
 

• If Delhi Township is selected for this grant, money from the Township General Fund 
and/or DDA will be allocated for the installation and ongoing maintenance of 
landscaping, lighting, etc., as needed.  Delhi Township and/or the DDA is prepared to 
dedicate necessary resources to ensure that the new art piece is well maintained and 
secure. This will include the design and installation of any required foundation necessary 
to secure the sculpture.  It is also possible that some minor tree removals will be 
necessary to ensure that the sculpture is not blocked by foliage.  This work will also be 
completed by the Township.  There is significant potential that the Township will 
contribute financially if the preferred art piece exceeds the amount of grant funding 
awarded by LEAP.   
 

• The Township’s general liability insurance will provide coverage for the sculpture.  
Placement of the artwork on municipally owned property will afford enhanced security.  
The site is maintained, monitored and managed on a daily basis by Township and DDA 
staff and is located just a few blocks from the Delhi Division of the Ingham County 
Sherriff’s Department office.   

 
 



	   1000	  S	  Washington	  Avenue,	  Suite	  #201	  
Lansing,	  Michigan	  	  48910-‐1682	  

P:	  (517)	  702-‐3387	  |	  F:	  (517)	  702-‐3390	  
purelansing.com	  

	  

March	  9,	  2016	  

Tracy	  Miller	  
Delhi	  Township	  
2074	  Aurelius	  Road	  
Holt,	  MI	  48842	  
	  

Ms.	  Miller:	  	  

Congratulations!	  Delhi	  Township	  has	  been	  chosen	  as	  one	  of	  three	  Lansing	  region	  communities	  to	  receive	  
funds	  through	  the	  Lansing	  Economic	  Area	  Partnership	  (LEAP)	  Public	  Art	  for	  Communities	  program.	  	  

Your	  proposal	  on	  behalf	  of	  Delhi	  Township	  encompassed	  all	  of	  the	  aspects	  we	  were	  hoping	  to	  see	  come	  
out	  of	  this	  program	  in	  its	  fifth	  year,	  including	  the	  adoption	  of	  a	  public	  art	  policy.	  We	  are	  excited	  to	  see	  
Delhi	  Township	  continue	  to	  support	  placemaking	  improvements	  throughout	  future	  years.	  	  

Your	  next	  step	  is	  to	  begin	  the	  Request	  for	  Proposals	  process	  to	  identify	  an	  artist	  and	  piece	  of	  art	  that	  can	  
placed	  by	  October	  31,	  2016.	  50%	  of	  our	  funds	  will	  be	  dispersed	  upon	  completion	  of	  the	  attached	  contract	  
and	  the	  remaining	  50%	  of	  funds	  will	  be	  granted	  at	  the	  successful	  conclusion	  of	  the	  proposal	  that	  was	  
submitted.	  LEAP	  reserves	  the	  right	  to	  participate	  in	  the	  artist	  RFP	  process	  and	  has	  final	  approval	  over	  the	  
artist	  and	  piece	  that	  are	  chosen.	  	  

Please	  do	  not	  share	  this	  information	  with	  the	  media	  until	  the	  press	  announcement.	  

Thank	  you	  for	  participating	  in	  this	  program.	  We	  are	  looking	  forward	  to	  continuing	  this	  program	  into	  
coming	  years	  and	  help	  push	  this	  region’s	  vision	  for	  creating	  a	  sense	  of	  place	  forward.	  	  

Truly	  yours,	  

	  

	  

	  

Julie	  Pingston,	  CMP,	  CTA	  	  
Chief	  Operating	  Officer	  
Greater	  Lansing	  Convention	  &	  Visitors	  Bureau	  
Co-‐Chair,	  Public	  Art	  for	  Communities	  Program	  

Robert	  L.	  Trezise,	  Jr.	  
President	  and	  CEO	  
Lansing	  Economic	  Area	  Partnership	  (LEAP)	  	  

Steve	  Curran	  	  
President	  and	  Creative	  Director	  
Harvest	  Creative	  Services	  
Co-‐Chair,	  Public	  Art	  for	  Communities	  Program	  



POLICY NO. 129

Adopted February 18, 2014

DELHI TOWNSHIP POLICY MANUAL

SUBJECT

PUBLIC ART IN DELHI TOWNSHIP

II.       PURPOSE

Art has the power to transform.  In fact, the National Endowment for the Arts has

recognized the role that arts and culture plays in transforming a place,  making it
attractive to entrepreneurs, skilled workers, and new and existing residents." Arts and

culture can enliven, awaken, and stimulate a space and the people in and near that space.

Public art can be the foundation for the creation of a " sense of place." When public art is

part of placemaking,  creative industries grow,  populations and jobs stabilize,  and

residents and businesses are attracted.

Investing in public art has a beneficial impact on the economy.  A 2009 study conducted
by ArtServe Michigan found that for every $ 1 Michigan invested in arts and culture, $ 51

was returned to Michigan' s economy.

Through this policy, Delhi Charter Township seeks to provide opportunities for public
art,  which furthers the Township' s goal of placemaking and stimulates the local
economy.

III.     SCOPE

This Policy applies to all Public Art. Public art, as defined by this policy, encompasses
the broadest definition of visual art including the imaginative use and interplay of all
artistic disciplines. Public art governed by this policy shall be art that is visually or
physically accessible to the public, and that is acquired by public funds/grants, donated to
the Township, or provided by a private entity as a community benefit.

IV.     POLICY

A.  Goals

Delhi Charter Township is committed to providing public art of exceptional quality
which adds to the community' s vibrancy and identity. Delhi Township strives to:

1.  Use public art to help express the Township' s history and cultural heritage.

2.  Fosters the public' s understanding and enjoyment of public art.

3.  Use public art as a means to foster the Township' s sense of spirit, pride, and
development.

Policy No.129 1

Public Art



4.  Enrich the quality of life for Delhi Township and the region by creating exciting,
appealing, and harmonious public spaces.

5.  Integrate public art into new Community facilities.

6.  Enhance Delhi Township' s image locally, regionally and nationally.

7.  Recognize public art' s contribution in economic development.

B.  Public Art Ad-Hoc Committee

As needed, the Township Supervisor, with approval from the Township Board, shall
create an ad-hoc Public Art Committee to address a specific assigned project, goal or

need.

1.  The Committee' s responsibilities may include budget supervision, securing a site
location, releasing Request for Proposals for art work, the selection of winning
artists, making recommendations regarding the provision of contracts with artists,

supervising fabrication and placement, and the dedication of art pieces.

2.  The Committee shall be made up of five to seven appointees, which may change
for each project or assignment.  The Committee shall consist of at least one

Township staff member and one Township Board member.  Efforts will be made

to ensure remaining members represent a diverse group including citizens,
neighborhoods, businesses, associations, artists, architects, landscape architects,

engineers, urban designers or others, as appropriate according to the needs of each
individual project.

3.  All Committee members must be free of conflict of interest or potential for

financial gain for the project or assignment.

4.  As appropriate,  the Committee will be instructed to engage in an outreach

program that receives input from surrounding neighborhoods,  businesses,

associations, artists, architects, landscape architects, engineers, urban designers,

etc.

C.  Selection of Commissioned Public Art

The information below outlines the suggested program for carrying out a
commissioned public art project. These steps are intended to be guidelines, as it is

recognized that each public art commission is unique and adjustments will need to be

tailored to each individual project.

Step 1: Creation of Request for Proposals ( RFP). Prior to sending out the RFP,
the Public Art Committee will meet to assess the specific needs, requirements and

expectations of public art installation. It is recommended that the Committee

establish scoring criteria and include it in an RFP.

The RFP shall be provided to the Delhi Township Board along with a
recommendation from the Public Art Committee.   The Township Board shall
approve the recommendation,  approve it with modifications or deny the
recommendation.

Policy No.129 2

Public Art



Once approval from the Township Board has been received, the Committee shall
send out the RFP to artists.  The RFP shall at least include project specific

information regarding the location, style or nature of the placement, type and
theme of project, and a project budget. The RFP will be distributed to artists

locally, throughout Michigan and nationally,  as appropriate,  so that potential
responses to the RFP come from the best possible pool of potential artist

candidates.

The RFP may also request the following from artist candidates:

1.  Small scale model or rough draft of a three-dimensional work  ( when

appropriate) or complete drawing of a two-dimensional work

2.  Drawings or photographs that demonstrate the relationship of the artwork to
the site

3.  Material samples for the artwork and any relevant construction materials

4.  Installation details

5.  Description of routine maintenance and estimate of maintenance costs

6.  Artist' s resume

7.  Statement of interest in the project

8.  Budget

Step 2: Artist Selection and Contracts.  Proposed gifts, loans, creation, and
selection of Public Art will be reviewed by the Public Art Committee with a
recommendation to the Township Board for final action. The following criteria
will be used in any recommendation:

1.  Quality and condition of the art work

2.  Use of local artists

3.  Context in the Township' s collection. Does art work enhance the existing
collection or add diversity? How does the piece engage the public? Are the
materials appropriate? Is the piece susceptible to vandalism or graffiti?

4.  Availability of an appropriate site

5.  Durability of the art work

6.  Ability to maintain the art work

7.  Aesthetic merit

Contracts will be completed under the supervision of the Township Manager, who
will facilitate Attorney consultation when needed.

1.  Art ownership shall be transferred to Delhi Township at the time of
installation, with no rights remaining with the artists.

Policy No.129 3

Public Art



2.  The contract should protect Delhi Township from the artists duplicating
the exact work for sale to others.

During design and installation, the Public Art Committee shall work with the
artist to ensure all objectives are being met.

After installation, the Public Art Committee will hold a dedication ceremony to
formally introduce the art and the artist will be identified with an appropriate
plaque on the site.

D.  General Guidelines

1.  Donated or loaned art work will include identifying plaques.

2.  All donated art will become part of Delhi Township' s art collection and as such
may be relocated or decommissioned.

3.  Monetary donations to help fund public art acquisitions will be accepted at any
time and Delhi Township will set those funds aside in a separate account to be
used only for new art purchases or upkeep of existing art.

4.  Relocation or decommissioning of art work is at the sole discretion of the Delhi
Township Board, and may be implemented for any reason.  Examples of reasons

that may be considered include, but are not limited to, the following:

i.   The condition or security of the art work cannot be reasonably guaranteed
in its present location.

ii.  The art work presents a public safety risk.

iii.  The art work is damaged and repair is not feasible.

iv.   Significant changes in the use,  character or actual design of the site

requires a re- evaluation of the art work' s relationship to the site.

v.  The art work requires excessive maintenance or has failures of design or

workmanship.

E.  Funding

Delhi Township will financially support the installation and maintenance of public art
whenever possible within the constraints of the yearly budget.

F.  Revisions

Periodically, the Township Board may review this Public Art Policy at any time to
determine if revisions or improvements are necessary to facilitate the needs and
interests ofDelhi Township and the goals of the public art program.

Policy No.129 4

Public Art



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: C.J. Davis, Township Supervisor 
 
DATE: March 31, 2016 
 
RE: Creation of Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee 
 
 
We have been informed by LEAP that Delhi Township has been awarded one of 
the $10,000 grants for public art and that this art must be in place by October 31, 
2016.  In order to ensure the art is complete by the deadline we must form an Ad-
Hoc Public Art Committee and develop a Request for Proposals which the Board 
will then need to approve at the April 19th Board meeting prior to disbursing.     
 
The ad-hoc public arts committee needs to be formed in order to review the 
Request for Proposals prepared by staff, review the proposals that are received, 
select the art to be constructed and provide a recommendation to the Board for 
final approval.  Because this particular art piece will be located at the Delhi 
Township Community Services Center I am recommending the Board approve 
the appointments of Tracy Miller, Mark Jenks, Evan Hope, Melanie Harris (Holt 
Community Arts Council) and a member of the Township Board to be determined 
at the April 5th meeting.  
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To appoint Tracy Miller, Mark Jenks, Evan Hope, Melanie Harris 
and    (Board Member)    to an ad-hoc Public Art Committee. 



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: C.J. Davis, Township Supervisor 
 
DATE: March 29, 2016 
 
RE: FY 2016 Lansing Economic Area Partnership, Inc. (LEAP) Dues 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval are the FY 2016 dues for our membership 
with Lansing Economic Area Partnership, Inc. (LEAP) in the amount of $15,000.   
 
In 2011 the membership level for municipalities was reduced from $35,000 per 
year to $15,000 in order for municipalities to more cost effectively participate in 
the beneficial services provided by LEAP.   
 
I’ve enjoyed being a member of LEAP at the Governor level as it provides Delhi 
Township an equal standing at the Board of Directors table with the other large 
municipalities along with leaders from the private and non-profit sectors in the 
Lansing region.  The focus of LEAP is to provide a single door for the Lansing 
region to the old and new economy through regional collaboration which Delhi 
excels at.  I believe the Township would be well served in continuing our 
membership with LEAP.  These funds were budgeted for in the FY 2016 budget. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To approve Delhi Charter Township’s participation in the 
Lansing Economic Area Partnership, Inc. (LEAP) at a cost of 
$15,000 for fiscal year 2016. 
 





DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: March 29, 2016 
 
RE:  Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) Annual Laboratory  

Supply and Equipment Order 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is an annual laboratory supply order along 
with some equipment and operating supplies for the POTW. 
 
Purchasing these items through the bidding process, with three vendors, 
provides a savings to the Township in supply costs and staff time. 
 
Therefore, I recommend the Board accept the lowest responsive bid from Fisher 
Scientific in the total amount of $27,235.04. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
To approve the Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) 
expenditure for laboratory supplies from Fisher Scientific in the 
amount of $27,235.04. 









 

 

 
 
                           

 

14)  Supervisor’s Report 
   

 

15) Treasurer’s Report       
 

16) Clerk’s Report 
   
              

17)  Trustee Reports 
 
18) Manager’s Report 

 

     


	Committee Agenda
	A - Honeywell Presentation
	B - Res 2016-002
	C - Analysis of Groundwater Quality
	D - Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee

	Board Agenda
	1 - Consent Agenda
	1a - Committee Minutes
	1b - Board Minutes
	1c - Accts Payable 3-1
	1d - Accts Payable 3-15
	1e - Accts Payable 3-29
	1f - Payroll Approval 3-10
	1g - Payroll Approval 3-24
	1h - Change May 3rd Board Meetings
	1i - Res 2016-002

	2 - SUP 16-279
	3 - CSC Reroof Project
	4 - Groundwater Proposal
	5 - NMTP Update Proposal
	6 - Sycamore Trail Grant Closeout
	7 - LEAP Public Art Grant
	8 - Ad-Hoc Public Art Committee
	9 - FY 2016 LEAP Dues
	10 - POTW Lab Order
	14 - Supervisor's Report
	15 - Treasurer's Report
	16 - Clerk's Report
	17 - Trustee Reports
	18 - Manager's Report




